Studies in Agricultural Economics

Volume 119, Number 3

Editor-in-Chief Andrew F. FIELDSEND Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, Budapest, Hungary Chair of the Editorial Board JUHÁSZ Anikó Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, Budapest, Hungary **Editorial Board** Vilija ALEKNEVIČIENĖ Aleksandro Stulginskio universitetas, Kaunas, Lithuania Jerzy BAŃSKI Instytut Geografii i PZ PAN, Warszawa, Poland Sabine BAUM Halle (Salle), Germany Štefan BOJNEC Univerze na Primorskem, Koper, Slovenia Richard M. CRUSE Iowa State University, Ames, USA Sophia DAVIDOVA University of Kent, Canterbury, UK Thomas DAX Bundesanstalt für Bergbauernfragen, Wien, Austria FARKASNÉ FEKETE Mária Szent István Egyetem, Gödöllő, Hungary FEHÉR Alajos Debreceni Egyetem, Debrecen, Hungary FELFÖLDI János Debreceni Egyetem, Debrecen, Hungary FERTŐ Imre Magyar Tudományos Akadémia, Budapest, Hungary Mariantoinetta FIORE Università degli Studi di Foggia, Foggia, Italy Matthew GORTON University of Newcastle, Newcastle, UK David HARVEY University of Newcastle, Newcastle, UK Wim J.M. HEIJMAN Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands Carmen HUBBARD University of Newcastle, Newcastle, UK JÁMBOR Attila Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary KATONÁNÉ KOVÁCS Judit Debreceni Egyetem, Debrecen, Hungary KEREKES Kinga Universitatea Babes-Bolyai, Cluj-Napoca, Romania MAGDA Róbert Szent István Egyetem, Gödöllő, Hungary Jan W. OWSIŃSKI Instytut Badań Systemowych, PAN, Warszawa, Poland POPP József Magyar Tudományos Akadémia, Budapest, Hungary Vladimír SZÉKELY Geografický ústav, SAV, Bratislava, Slovakia TAKÁCSNÉ GYÖRGY Katalin Óbudai Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary TÓTH József Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary VÁSÁRY Viktória Budapesti Gazdasági Egyetem Budapest, Hungary Hillka VIHINEN LUKE Luonnonvarakeskus, Helsinki, Finland Hans VROLLIK Wageningen Economics Research, Den Haag, The Netherlands **Technical Editor**

Technical Editor BARNAFI László

Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, Budapest, Hungary

Contents

FOREWORD	
ARTICLES	
Determining the target groups of Hungarian short food supply chains based on consumer attitude and socio- demographic factors SZABÓ Dorottya	115
Farm-level viability, sustainability and resilience: a focus on co-operative action and values-based supply chains Teresa HOOKS, Áine MACKEN-WALSH, Olive McCARTHY and Carol POWER	123
Factors influencing educational choices of Romanian rural youth KEREKES Kinga, Horațiu PIRĂU, KIS Brigitta-Ágota and ÁBRAHÁM Beáta	130
Determinants of long-term business relationships in the dairy value chain in transition countries: the case of Albania Blendi GËRDOÇI, Engjell SKRELI, Edvin ZHLLIMA and Drini IMAMI	139
Price transmission on the Slovak dairy market Sergei KHARIN, Zuzana LAJDOVA and Peter BIELIK	148
International section	
Agricultural factor use and substitution in the south-eastern United States Godfrey EJIMAKOR, Obed QUAICOE and Fafanyo ASISEH	156
The impact of micro-irrigation on households' welfare in the northern part of Ethiopia: an endogenous switching regression approach Kidanemariam G. GEBREHIWOT, Makina DANIEL and Thomas WOLDU	160
TECHNICAL REPORT	
An analysis using FADN methodology of Hungarian farms in the EUR 2,000-4,000 SO size class KESZTHELYI Szilárd and MOLNÁR András	
AKI-NAK-FAO REU CONFERENCE REPORT	
ABSTRACTS OF AKI PUBLICATIONS INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS	
Manuscripts should be prepared in English and sent via e-mail t Editor-in-Chief at studies@aki.gov.hu.	to the



The cost of printing this issue is supported by the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

© Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, 2017 1463 Budapest, POB 944, Hungary https://www.aki.gov.hu/studies ISSN 1418 2106 (printed) ISSN 2063 0476 (electronic) Established 1962

Foreword

Where are all the women in economics? This was the question posed in a recent article¹ on the BBC website. In the USA, only about 13 per cent of academic economists in permanent posts are women, while in the UK the proportion is only slightly better at 15.5 per cent. The article explores some of the possible reasons for this gender imbalance. Of particular concern is that the fact that the lack of women in senior roles has meant that many young women do not view themselves in those positions.

An extensive study of the composition of the editorial boards of 57 management journals by Metz and Harzing (2009)² showed that 80 per cent of the journals had 20 per cent or fewer women on their editorial boards, a situation that has subsequently improved only modestly. They also demonstrated a strong correlation between female first authorship and the proportion of female editorial board membership. They point to the 'pipeline effect' of the former enhancing the latter, but there is also evidence that the composition of a journal's editorial board influences the willingness of prospective authors to submit their work to it.

For *Studies in Agricultural Economics*, an aspiration towards gender balance on the editorial board is an integral part of a holistic approach that also includes diversity of academic expertise and geographical location. As a consequence, the percentage of women on the board has increased from 7 in early 2011 to 39 currently. Coincidentally, 41 per cent of papers in this volume of the journal (i.e. number 119) have female first authorship.

Fittingly, the first three papers in this issue have female first authors. The results of a survey of Hungarian consumers of short food supply chain (SFSC) products reported by Szabó showed that almost 70 per cent of the respondents are potential customers of SFSC products. Support rises with increasing age, and is higher among women, the more highly educated, those that are economically active or retired, and those with an average income.

Hooks, Macken-Walsh, McCarthy and Power present a critical discussion of the concepts of farm-level viability, sustainability and resilience, which are typically discussed separately in the literature. While farm viability and sustainability are important for family farms to survive, resilience is most deterministic of long-term survival. The authors conclude that agricultureal development models should be focused on all three concepts.

A survey by Kerekes, Pirău, Kis and Abrahám identified the following main factors influencing the decisions regarding educational choices of rural youth from Cluj county, Romania: the parents' attitude towards continuing education, the age, the number of siblings, the school performance and the computer skills of the respondents. To be effective, corrective measures will require adequate resources and continuity of implementation.

In the first of two papers on the dairy value chain, Gërdoçi, Skreli, Zhllima and Imami found that that trust, uncertainty and investment in specific assets are key determinants of sustainable relationships between small ruminant farmers and milk buyers in Albania. Dairy owners/managers should improve communication and increase information exchange with farmers, while government subsidy schemes should be further refined.

Price transmission on the Slovak dairy market after the end of European Union milk quotas was studied by Kharin, Lajdova and Bielik. The estimation of the price transmission elasticity supports the assumption that price changes are not transmitted efficiently from one level to another. However, symmetric price transmission exists between farm-gate and processor prices for whole milk in the long term.

This issue concludes with two international papers. Ejimakor, Quaicoe and Asiseh investigated agricultural factor use and substitution in the south-eastern United States. A substantial reduction in the use of farm chemicals could be achievable by increasing their price. Most of the factors are substitutes with the exceptions of capital and energy, and land and chemicals, which were found to be complements.

Finally, the impact of participation in micro-irrigation development on households' welfare in northern Ethiopia was measured by Gebrehiwot, Makina and Woldu. Their model takes the possibility of selection bias into account. The impact of irrigation use on the two outcome variables was positive and significant: income by 8.8 per cent and asset formation by 186 per cent as compared to non-users.

All readers are welcome to submit their research for possible publication in *Studies in Agricultural Economics*, a journal that attaches great importance to the principle of inclusiveness.

Andrew Fieldsend Budapest, November 2017

https://www.jstor.org/stable/27759191?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents

Reviewers

Dr. BAKUCS Zoltán • Dr. Thomas DAX • Dr. Liesbeth DRIES • Dr. hab. Jan FAŁKOWSKI • Dr. Matthew GORTON Dr. MAGDA Róbert • Dr. Jan OWSIŃSKI • Prof. Dr. POPP József • Dr. SZAKÁLY Zoltán • Prof. Dr. SZÉKELY Csaba Prof. Dr. TAKÁCSNE Katalin • Dr. TÓTH József • Prof. Hilkka VIHINEN

Editorial Advisory Panel

CSÁKI Csaba, Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary • Mária KADLEČÍKOVÁ, Slovenská poľnohospodárska univerzita v Nitre, Slovakia KISS Judit, MTA Világgazdasági Kutatóintézet, Budapest, Hungary • LEHOTA József, Szent István Egyetem, Gödöllő, Hungary POTORI Norbert, Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, Budapest, Hungary • SZAKÁLY Zoltán, Debreceni Egyetem, Debrecen, Hungary SZÉKELY Csaba, Soproni Egyetem, Sopron, Hungary • TAKÁCS István, Óbudai Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary

¹ http://www.bbc.com/news/business-41571333

SZABÓ Dorottya*

Determining the target groups of Hungarian short food supply chains based on consumer attitude and socio-demographic factors

Consistent with the trend witnessed in other European countries, in recent years there has been an increasing demand among Hungarian consumers for products purchased directly from farmers. However, no research has been published on the determination of clusters of consumers of short food supply chain (SFSC) products in Hungary. This study describes which groups of consumers are more likely to purchase such products, and their reasons for doing so. In the summer of 2013, 1,015 randomly-sampled adults were asked to complete questionnaires during face-to-face, on-street meetings with trained staff. The survey explored their willingness to support direct sales and production of local foods, their perceptions of product reliability, and their attitudes toward global supply-driven systems. As it was not possible to identify a clear structure of factors determining opinions, perceptions and attitudes directly from the results of the questionnaires, principal component analysis was performed, and K-mean cluster analysis was used to partition the respondents into five clusters. These were labelled *'Favouring imports and large farms'*, *'Favouring small farms'*, *'Informed and empowered consumers group in favour of local farms'*, *'Universally positive'* and *'Unconcerned'*. This method was effective in identifying groups of potential target consumers. The level of support for local foods rises with increasing age, and is higher among women, the more highly educated, those that are economically active or retired, and those that consider themselves as having an average income. The results can be used to promote the demand for SFSC products in Hungary through more effective targeting of marketing activities by farmers involved in direct selling, and their organisations.

Keywords: consumer behaviour, consumer clusters, food consumption, local foods

* Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, 1093 Budapest, Zsil utca 3-5, Hungary. szabo.dorottya@aki.gov.hu; http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8875-846X

Introduction

Analysis of consumer behaviour is primarily a marketing instrument that can help to understand how consumers think, feel valued and choose from among a variety of alternatives on offer. The results obtained can also provide information on how consumers are influenced by their environment, and how they make decisions based on what motivations and preferences and purchase products. Analysis of consumer behaviour is a multidisciplinary field: an understanding of economics, psychology, social psychology and sociology are all necessary for interpreting the results (Solomon, 2004). The social and cultural environments, personality and psychological factors can all influence the individual consumer when making a decision, and these factors can be important in understanding the elements of marketing strategies that will satisfy consumers' needs (Rani, 2014).

Examining consumer behaviour is also an important tool in food consumption, including short food supply chains (SFSC). These can be defined as supply chains "involving a limited number of economic operators, committed to co-operation, local economic development, and close geographical and social relations between producers, processors and consumers".¹ The direct or one-intermediary marketing forms of SFSC are of four main types: via intermediary, via delivery, in open farms and in points of sales, and in which there are two sub-categories: traditional and modern. This classification by logistical aspects indicates which SFSC participant should travel to carry out the sale.

Farmers' markets belong to the group of modern points of sales. For these, Williamson (2014) showed that the analysis of consumer attitudes may assist both the market organisers and producers selling at the market. The results of his consumer survey conducted in Kentucky and Ohio, USA indicated that consumers' behaviour as well as their values and orientation are related to the frequency of purchases from farmer's markets. Visiting farmers' markets is not only determined by the food consumption habits, but also other ethical and social considerations such as supporting the local small farmers, protecting natural ecosystems for future generations and/or more appropriate distribution of agricultural products.

Other research has identified several reasons why consumers buy from farmers' markets. Surveys in the United States (Wolf *et al.*, 2005; Lyon *et al.*, 2009) have shown that consumers choose farmers' markets mainly for fresh, high-quality agricultural products. Among the motivating factors are: better taste of products (Teng *et al.*, 2004); local production (Baker *et al.*, 2009); support for the local economy (Gumirakiza, 2013); free-range and organic production (Holloway and Kneafsey, 2000; Dodds *et al.*, 2014); wide range of commodity in markets (Onianwa *et al.*, 2006); and markets as public space (Gao *et al.*, 2012).

Studies on producer markets initially focused on economic aspects; however, attention then shifted from producers to consumers. The research mainly sought to determine the typical customer profile of the markets, primarily the demographic characteristics of consumers, the factors motivating the selection of the place of purchase and the extent of preference for local products. The results of international studies (e.g. Varner and Otto, 2008 and Onianwa *et al.*, 2006 in the United States) have mostly shown the customers of producer markets to have similar features. The most loyal purchasers of producer markets typically are women, people aged between 45 and 65, and those with higher education.

Cluster analysis has been widely used to examine consumer attitudes and to analyse customer groups. This approach can be used to determine the profiles of groups of

¹ Regulation (EU) No 1305/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 December 2013 on support for rural development by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) and repealing Council Regulation (EC) No 1698/2005.

potential target consumers, particularly their demographic characteristics, the factors motivating the choice of the place of purchase and the extent of preference for local products. The information gathered can be valuable both for marketing and public policy, as different consumer behaviours require different strategies to enhance the importance of organic and local food products in food consumption for more people. For example, while an emphasis on the health impact of the foods concerned may be especially important for one group, the interest of other segments in organic and local foods might be enhanced by highlighting their ethical values.

These ideas are confirmed by Nie and Zepeda (2011) who examined the attitudes of 956 consumers to the consumption of organic and local food. They showed that the preference for the products concerned is correlated with the degree of environmental awareness and health awareness of consumers, and demographic factors such as age, gender, education and income, all of which are not equally accessible to all consumers. Four food-related lifestyle groups were identified: 'Rational consumers' (29.2 per cent), 'Adventurous consumers' (24.1 per cent), 'Careless consumers' (17.8 per cent) and 'Conservative, uninvolved consumers' (28.8 per cent). The 'Adventurous consumers' were enthusiastic about shopping, preparing and consuming food. All the following aspects were very important to them, such as the healthiness, freshness and safety of food. Both 'Adventurous' and 'Rational' consumers were active organic and local food shoppers. The demographic characteristics that predicted the lifestyle choice of 'Rational consumers' were: more children living in the household, being middle aged, being white and having a high income. They were also more likely to have a farmers' market in their neighbourhood. 'Adventurous consumers' were more likely than the average population to be female, minority and to be in a lower middle-income household. Like 'Rational consumers', they could easily access farmers' markets in their neighbourhood.

Elepua and Mazzocco (2010) distinguished five consumer groups based on the popularity of urban and suburban producer markets in the United States. '*Market enthusiasts*' were the second biggest cluster (8.2 per cent of 379 respondents), and for them the most important criteria were the market environment, its services, cleanliness and the quality of organisation of the market. They were characterised by older age, higher educational level and income, and the majority were females.

Rocchi *et al.* (2011) evaluated the importance of sustainable agriculture for 94 customers of farmers' markets and shops in Toscana, Italy. An attitude scale was used and two consumer clusters were created using hierarchical cluster analysis. Group 1 (21.3 per cent) was formed primarily by consumers aged between 34 and 56 years, with a high level of education and good economic status. Their participation in farmers' markets was mainly motivated by a positive attitude towards environmental and rural development goals, and by a willingness to participate in a particular 'social' event. In group 2 (82.2 per cent), most consumers had a lower education level and a modest economic status. Consequently, the most important motivation in participating in farmers' markets was the direct relationship with producers, considered as the main guarantee of quality offered by this marketing form. Overall, the survey confirmed the methodology as suitable for providing evidence about attitude, motivations and purchasing behaviour of consumers participating in farmers' markets.

As far as is known, cluster analysis has not been applied to SFSC consumers in Hungary, but the methodology has been used on two related topics. Among consumers of traditional food products, Szakály et al. (2010) identified five groups from among a representative national sample of 1,000 participants. Of these, the 'Young trend makers' (36.3 per cent of the total) combined care for the environment with pride in their Hungarian nationality and a willingness to support domestic industry by purchasing Hungarian products. This mostly young group was the one with the largest share of those with higher education. Most considered their income to be average, and some considered it above the average. By contrast, the small study by Szabó and Juhász (2013) looked at customers' attitudes to service levels in public markets. Again, five groups were identified. Seven per cent of respondents belonged to the group 'Market lovers': this was the only cluster that collectively rated the markets with a score above 4 on a 1-5 Likert scale. Its members were typically economically-active metropolitans with a family and a higher level of education. In general, economically-inactive participants with low educational level and living in villages did not prefer this purchase option.

The important lesson learned from the literature is that the demographic characteristics of the communities living close to the markets should be considered when mapping the potential and existing purchasers. The information collected, based on the experiences and feedback according to existing consumer needs, enables markets to decide which products to stock. In Hungary, National Regulation 51/2012. (VI. 8.) VM, introduced in 2012, simplified the criteria for starting farmers' markets and the number of such markets more than doubled from 118 in 2012 to 237 in 2016. Despite the highly topical nature of the subject, no research has been published using cluster analysis specifically on SFSCs in Hungary. The purpose of this study is to fill this gap in the literature by identifying groups of potential target consumers of SFSC in Hungary, and their purchasing habits. The results obtained may provide valuable guidance to farmers and market organisations with an interest in SFSC in Hungary.

Methodology

A wide-ranging survey of the consumer shopping habits of 1,015 adults (i.e. over the age of 18) was conducted in the summer of 2013, during which respondents were asked to complete questionnaires during face-to-face, on-street meetings with trained staff. The survey was carried out at the main railway stations and public spaces of Budapest and four other (NUTS 3) county seats (Debrecen, Győr, Kaposvár and Szeged) distributed across Hungary. Firstly, the respondents were asked to indicate their gender, age, educational level, economic status, subjective income level, household size, the type of settlement in which they live (farm, village, town, county seat, capital) and their NUTS 3 (i.e. county) region of residence. Of the respondents, 40.3 per cent were male and 59.7 per cent were female. The interviewers sought to make the sample demographically representative and, in most respects, it reflected the profile of the Hungarian adult population. However, people under 35 years of age, the higher educated and those living in cities were over-represented (Table 1).

One section of the questionnaire was designed to assess consumers' views on sustainable food production, including the purchase and consumption of local and/or traditional food products. This paper reports the results obtained and their subsequent analysis.

Based on evidence from the literature (Nie and Zepeda, 2011; Rocchi *et al.*, 2011; Williamson, 2014) and the experience of several experts, 26 statements were compiled which explored (a) respondents' willingness to support direct sales and production of local foods; (b) their perceptions of the reliability of these products; and (c) and their attitudes toward global supply-driven systems. The respondents were asked to evaluate the statements using a five-point Likert scale where a score of 1 meant that the person did not agree with the statement, and a score of 5 meant that he/she agreed with it fully. For the results of each question, a mean value and the standard deviation were calculated.

Principal component analysis was performed to study the relationships between the 26 statements. Based on the results of earlier research (Nie and Zepeda, 2011; Williamson, 2014), these statements were sorted into groups which covered four main topics: *supporting domestic small farms*, *supporting bigger farms and food imports, supporting local foods and direct sales*, and *informed and empowered consumer*. K-mean cluster analysis involving the four principal components was then used to partition the respondents into five clusters. In line with the literature (e.g. Vanhonacker *et al.*, 2007; Elepua and Mazzocco, 2010), the clusters were analysed in terms of the collected data on gender, age group, educational level, economic status subjective income level, household size, the type of settlement in which they live and their region of residence.

During the data collection, in a second set of questions the respondents were asked to indicate how often they purchased food at a particular type of retail outlet. A five-point Likert scale again was used: a score of 1 applied to those who did not buy food at all in this type of outlet, and 5 indicated that the respondents always visited this type of outlet. The outlets listed in the questionnaire covered both the 'long' and 'short' food supply chains. The types of outlet where the members of each cluster generally do their food shopping were then examined.

Data were processed using the SPSS 19 software package (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, United States). Chi-square test and F-test were used to quantify the strength of the relationships, and only those results which were significant at the 95 per cent confidence level (sig <0.05) are presented here.

Results

Consumer survey data

On average, the survey respondents attach great importance to supporting Hungarian small farms, direct sales and the production of local foods (Table 2, statements 1-12) because they recognise the social as well as the economic benefits. The most important factor for them is that Hungary and the European Union (EU) should support farmers' markets through project financing (mean: 4.4). The second and the third highest scores reflected the importance attached to the role of small farms in economic and social terms (mean: 4.3). The importance of Hungary becoming self-sufficient in food was also rated highly (mean: 4.2). Additional statements with scores exceeding 4.0 (5, 6, 8, 10, 11) further emphasise the importance attached by the respondents to local foodstuffs and to supporting small farms (7, 9, 12).

Factors that reflect the consumers' perceptions of the reliability of these products (statements 16-18) attracted a mean score of less than 4.0. Respondents believe that the food products from small farms are produced in a traditional way. They do not always trust that these foods are always safe and that the food products the farmer sells are always self-produced (mean: 3.8). While participants 'agree' with these statements on average, around 15 per cent of participants either 'tended to disagree' or 'absolutely disagreed' with them. By comparison, for the statements discussed earlier reflecting support for direct sales and local food, this figure was around just 5 per cent. The statements prioritising global supply-driven systems (21-23, 26) are ranked the lowest, with a substantial proportion of the participants either 'tending to disagree' or 'absolutely disagreeing' with them.

Four principal components were calculated from the 26 statements. Numbers 14, 22, 24 and 25 are excluded as their communalities are below 0.25, which is the limit value of the variable in the main component. The four principal components were:

PC1: *Supporting domestic small farms*: emphasising the economic, social and environmental roles of domestic small farms, preferring Hungary's aspiration to self-sufficiency;

Table 1: Profile of the survey respondents and of the Hungarian adult population by age, educational level, economic status and subjective income level, per cent (n=1,015).

Age		Educational level			Economic st	Income level				
	Survey	Census		Survey	Census		Survey	Census		Survey
Under 25 years old	35.0	26.7	Primary school	8.6	35.7	Employed, self-employed	44.2	39.7	High	1.7
25-35 years old	19.8	15.6	Vocational school	9.3	14.2	Retired	20.0	29.7	Above average	10.5
36-50 years old	18.9	21.1	Secondary school	38.9	32.1	Out of work	7.0	5.7	Average	59.8
51 years or older	26.4	36.6	College, university	43.2	18.8	Homemaker	2.0	2.0	Below average	18.9
						Student	26.8	24.9	Low	9.1

Note: Subjective income data are not collected by the Hungarian Central Statistical Office Data sources: own survey and national census, 2011

Table 2: Degree of importance attached by Hungarian consumers to factors influencing their attitudes towards food production, purchase
and consumption.

una c	onsumption.						
No.	Item	Mean	SD	No.	Item	Mean	SD
1	Hungary and the EU should support the local farmers' markets (963)	4.4	0.91	14	Hungary imports too much food from other countries (966)	3.9	1.18
2	Small farms are important for the country's economy (959)	4.3	0.87	15	I like to taste new types of food (960)	3.9	1.10
3	Small farms play an important role in the social life of rural areas (962)	4.3	0.92	16	Food products from small farms can be characterised by special home-made flavours, traditional methods and recipes (949)	3.8	1.07
4	Hungary should make more efforts to be self- sufficient in food (966)	4.2	1.08	17	Food products from small farmers are safe (941)	3.8	0.98
5	There are benefits to consumers in buying local foods (960)	4.2	1.05	18	I am confident that small farmers sell only their own products in the market (946)	3.8	1.08
6	Delicious, fresh products are available from small farmers (950)	4.2	0.92	19	I always read the label carefully before trying new products (961)	3.6	1.27
7	Small farms can be modernised and increase their competitiveness by receiving appropriate financial support (960)	4.1	0.98	20	I pay special attention to my diet (963)	3.5	1.11
8	Customers receive direct information about products from the farmers (949)	4.1	1.04	21	Hungary should make greater efforts to export more food (954)	3.5	1.36
9	SMEs should be preferred for financial support over big enterprises (953)	4.1	1.03	22	Products from small farmers are too expensive to buy regularly (949)	3.2	1.19
10	When purchasing, trust between farmers and consumers is important (953)	4.0	1.10	23	Imported food is necessary because it ensures a wide range of products is available (964)	3.0	1.17
11	Using labels to mark local products would be helpful for consumers (954)	4.0	1.08	24	Food products from small farmers are produced organically (942)	3.0	1.28
12	Small farms contribute to the beauty of the countryside (958)	4.0	1.07	25	As a consumer, I can easily define the origin of the product (960)	2.9	1.27
13	I care about what I eat (952)	4.0	1.01	26	Financial support should be given to enterprises based on scale – the larger the business the more it should get (955)	2.7	1.25

 $5{=}$ fully agree; $1{=}$ completely disagree; number of respondents shown in parentheses Source: own data

- PC2: *Supporting bigger farms and food imports*: preferring global supply systems and supporting large enterprises;
- PC3: *Supporting local foods and direct sales*: emphasising the benefits of local products and direct sales;
- PC4: *Informed and empowered consumer*: paying attention to nutrition and the nature of the food purchased.

The minimum and maximum values of the principal components are shown in Table 3. The variables to be standardised form new principal components, therefore the mean is equivalent to zero in all cases and the standard deviation should be 1. The positive values of the new variables mean that the respondents agree with the concept embodied in the principal components; the negative values indicate the contrary.

Development of the consumer clusters

Differentiating the respondents into clusters allows the groups of consumers with a positive interest in SFSC products to be identified and described. Five clusters were distinguished, based on the interpretation and using the welldefined group features (Table 4). Each cluster was given a name. To identify cluster-specific attitudes related to purchasing and products, the principal component mean values for each cluster were compared using variance analysis. The key features of the preferences of each cluster are as follows:

• Twenty-two per cent of the respondents belong to the cluster 'Favouring imports and large farms'. They

118

Table 3: The parameters of the principal components, the composition and communality of the variables that make up the principal components, and the amount of information saved by the aggregated factor.

	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4
Number of respondents	927	939	914	943
Saved amount of information (%)	54.2	43.9	43.7	54.2
Minimum	-4.443	-2.499	-4.524	-3.383
Maximum	1.117	2.325	1.434	1.493
Item		Comm	unality	
4	0.298			
9	0.466			
3	0.662			
2	0.705			
12	0.543			
7	0.578			
23		0.465		
26		0.456		
21		0.396		
1			0.405	
5			0.375	
11			0.302	
10			0.338	
8			0.424	
6			0.591	
17			0.506	
18			0.520	
16			0.473	
13				0.556
15				0.411
20				0.658
19				0.543

See Table 1 for identities of items and text for descriptions of principal components Source: own calculations

Table 4: Sample size and distribution of consumer clusters, and the mean values of principal components based on clusters.

Cluster name	Sample size (persons)	Share of total (%)	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4
Favouring imports and large farms	190	22.0	-0.852	0.338	-0.506	0.102
Favouring small farms	174	20.1	0.161	-0.386	-0.110	-1.064
Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms	212	24.5	0.618	-0.916	0.560	0.481
Universally positive	219	25.3	0.646	0.981	0.669	0.703
Unconcerned	70	8.1	-1.726	-0.385	-1.974	-1.274
Entire sample			0.021	-0.011	0.014	0.001

Source: own calculations

disagree with the ideas of supporting the Hungarian small farms and small enterprises, and prioritising local food as well as direct sales. They prefer global food supply systems, and in parallel with that they are mindful of the importance of prudent food consumption.

- The 'Favouring small farms' cluster (20.1 per cent) consider it important only to support small farms; everything else was evaluated negatively. Attention to nutrition and the nature of the food purchased is low.
- The third cluster is the '*Informed and empowered* consumers' group in favour of local farms' (24.5 per cent). They object to the idea of supporting large farms and encouraging imports, but they positively evaluated all other factors, although none of the components received an exceptionally high score.
- The 'Universally positive' group was the largest in the survey (25.3 per cent). These respondents consider both the support and development of local foods, and global food security to be important. They also attach high priority to local sales and pay attention to the nature of the food purchased. All components received the highest positive value from this group.
- The fifth group 'Unconcerned' has the fewest participants (8.1 per cent). They disagree with all the principal component statements. In this group, apart from the support for large farms and imports (PC2), all components were far below the mean values for the entire sample (Table 4).

Demographic features of the clusters

The five clusters were stratified according to the demographic factors for which statistically significant differences between the groups were identified, namely: gender, age, educational level, economic status and subjective income level.

In terms of gender, slight differences occurred between two clusters (Figure 1). A larger share of men (22.7 per cent) than women (18.1 per cent) belonged to the cluster '*Favouring small farms*', while 27.1 per cent of women belonged to the '*Informed and empowered consumers*' group in favour of local farms' cluster, compared to 21.0 per cent of men. The '*Unconcerned*' cluster accounted for 9.2 per cent of the men surveyed and just 7.4 per cent of the women, but this difference was not statistically significant.

The differences according to age groups were bigger. While 30.9 per cent of those under 25 years belonged to the cluster '*Favouring imports and large farms*', among people 25-35 years old the figure was 23.5 per cent, and among par-



Favouring imports and large farms
 Favouring small farms
 Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms
 Universally positive
 Unconcerned



Pearson Chi-Square sig.: 0.19 Source: own data



Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farm Universally positive Unconcerned

Figure 2: Distribution of the respondents between consumer clusters according to age groups. Pearson Chi-Square sig.: 0.00 Source: own data

ticipants aged 36-50 and those over 51 years old the percentages were 14.7 and 13.2 respectively (Figure 2). Similarly, the share of respondents in the 'Unconcerned' cluster ranged from 9.9 per cent of those under 25 years old to just 5.4 per cent of those aged 51 years or older. For the group 'Favouring small farms' the differences were smaller; the largest share of respondents (22.6 per cent) were under 25 years old, and the smallest shares were in the age groups 36-50 and 51 years or older, with 18.2 and 17.6 per cent respectively. By contrast, in the cluster 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms', representation of respondents was inversely correlated with age: almost 30 per cent of the members were aged 51 years or over, compared to just 17.2 per cent of those under 25 years old. A similar pattern was observed in the 'Universally positive' cluster.

Distribution of the respondents by their level of education shows a less consistent picture than for age. At 19.4 per cent, the share of '*Unconcerned*' was the highest among participants with primary school education only, three times higher than among those with college or university education (5.8 per cent, Figure 3). Among this latter educational group, the largest share (30.0 per cent) belonged to the '*Informed and empowered consumers* 'group in favour of local farms' cluster, while, with 35.8 per cent of respondents, the '*Universally positive*' cluster was dominant among those with vocational school education (skilled workers). 24.8 per cent of respondents with secondary school education belonged to the '*Favouring small farms*' cluster, and the '*Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms*' cluster claimed the largest share (30 per cent) participants having higher education.

As regards economic status, a substantial share (43.8 per cent) of full-time homemakers belonged to the '*Favouring imports and large farms*' cluster, while the equivalent figure was just 11.0 per cent among the retired respondents (Figure 4). This latter group was dominated (38.7 per cent) by the '*Universally positive*' cluster. Twenty per cent of students identified with the '*Universally positive*' cluster, but among this group '*Favouring imports and large farms*' accounted for the largest share (29.6 per cent). Around ten per cent of students and out of work respondents fit within the '*Unconcerned*' cluster. The '*Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms*' cluster accounts for substantial (ca. 29 per cent) shares of employed and self-employed, and retired respondents, but only 6.3 per cent of full-time homemakers.

There is a clear, positive relationship between subjective income level and the percentage of respondents in the 'Favouring imports and large farms' cluster (Figure 5). Fifty per cent of respondents with very high incomes, but only 13.2 per cent of those with low incomes, are included here. By contrast, the clusters 'Favouring small farms' and 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms' each accounted for only 7.1 per cent of respondents with very high incomes, the lowest percentages in these two clusters of any income group. In all other groups, the combined percentages of these two clusters ranged from 40.0 to 46.5. In each of the three groups with the lowest subjective income levels the shares of respondents in the 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms' cluster exceeded 22 per cent. A very high (35.5 per cent) proportion of respondents with low incomes formed part of the 'Universally positive' cluster, and these respondents also had the biggest share (10.5 per cent) in the 'Unconcerned' cluster, although in this case the differences between the income groups were not substantial.

The research also looked for statistically-significant differences between the attitudes of the respondents on the basis of the type of settlement and NUTS 3 region of residence, but none were identified. However, it can be noted that the group with the highest proportion (30.8 per cent) in the 'Universally positive' cluster was those living in villages, while only 21.9 per cent of those living in Budapest were part of this cluster. By contrast, 26.6 per cent of Budapest residents were part of the 'Favouring imports and large farms' cluster, compared to just one fifth of respondents living in villages.

Purchasing habits of consumer clusters

The types of retail outlet most frequently visited by the respondents were specialised shops, discount stores and supermarkets, and hypermarkets, followed by small grocery



Favouring imports and large farms
 Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms
 Universally positive
 Unconcerned

Figure 3: Distribution of the respondents between consumer clusters according to educational level. Pearson Chi-Square sig.: 0.00

Source: own data



Universally positive Unconcerned

Figure 4: Distribution of the respondents between consumer clusters according to economic status. Pearson Chi-Square sig.: 0.00

Source: own data





Figure 5: Distribution of the respondents between consumer clusters according to subjective income level. Pearson Chi-Square sig.: 0.04

Source: own data

stores and markets (Figure 6). Among the options for buying food directly from the producer, farmers' markets and farm shops were the most popular. Other options scored low average values, with purchasing options from the Internet (mail order and e-commerce) being the least popular.

Members of the various clusters used particular types of retail outlets with different average frequencies. Outlets belonging to the so-called 'long' supply chains (e.g. hypermarkets, discounters and supermarkets) were – perhaps



Figure 6: Average frequency of patronising food retail outlets by consumer cluster.

F-test sig.: 0.000 Source: own data

not surprisingly -the most popular among the 'Favouring imports and large farms' cluster (mean: 3.6), but the 'Universally positive' cluster also frequently patronised these shops (mean: 3.5-3.6). The 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms' group visited these outlets less frequently (mean: 3.1-3.2). In general, the outlets where sales take place through an intermediary among 'short' supply chains (especially speciality shops, small grocery stores and public markets) were the most popular with the 'Universally positive' and the 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms' clusters and, in the case of small grocery stores, also the 'Favouring small farms' cluster. Mobile shops seem to be an exception among this group of outlets. Among the direct supply chain outlets, farmers' markets and farm shops are the most often visited by the members of these two groups (mean: 3.0-3.3 vs. 2.1-2.7 among 'Favouring imports and large farms' cluster), however, opportunities which do not necessarily require personal contact (such as the box system and on-line sales) were the most popular among the 'Unconcerned' cluster.

Discussion

In recent years, especially since 2012, there has been an increasing demand among Hungarian consumers for SFSC products and, consequently, a growing need to characterise the profile of these consumers. Until now, no such analysis has been reported in the scientific literature. Previous research in Hungary (e.g. Szakály et al, 2010; Szabó and Juhász, 2013) has been carried out only on related topics. This study used principal component analysis involving a set of 26 variables (designed to measure consumer attitudes related to food production, purchase and consumption) to produce four aggregated variables (PC1-PC4). Cluster analysis was conducted using these aggregated variables and five distinct groups of consumers were identified in terms of their attitudes, preferences and consumer habits. The five groups, 'Favouring imports and large farms', 'Favouring small farms', 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms', 'Universally positive' and 'Unconcerned', differed not only in the way they are thinking, but also according to several demographic characteristics, namely gender, age, subjective income status, educational level and economic status. Only the type of settlement and NUTS 3 region of residence did not appear to influence consumer attitudes significantly, although even here some indicative trends were detected.

Almost 70 per cent of the respondents in the survey can be considered as potential customers of SFSC products, and these belong to three of the five clusters. Members of the 'Favouring small farms' cluster (20.1 per cent) consider it important only to support small farms, while those belonging to the 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms' (24.5 per cent) are favourably disposed to small farms, local products and food quality. This cluster may be the most accessible target group for products sold through SFSC. Members of the most populous cluster, the 'Universally positive' group, to which 25.3 per cent of the respondents belonged, also attach high priority to local sales and pay attention to the nature of the food purchased. This is undoubtedly a very encouraging result for the future further development of SFSCs in Hungary.

People under 35 years of age and the higher educated were somewhat overrepresented in the survey sample, but it should be noted that the former group includes the consumers of tomorrow while the members of the latter group tend to have higher disposable incomes. Thus, the sampling errs towards the over-inclusion of the economically more 'important' groups in Hungarian society. In any case, the analysis of the clusters involved the stratification of the sample according to, *inter alia*, age and educational level. For example, among the respondents in the cluster of most interest, namely 'Informed and empowered consumers' group in favour of local farms', there are higher shares of females, those aged above 35 years, with a high level of education, economically active or retired, and having an average income. In Hungary, the support for products of SFSCs increases according to these parameters, and this result is mostly consistent with the findings of studies in other countries. Of interest is that the results from these other studies have not been consistent regarding income. Most research suggests that consumers of SFSC products typically have high incomes (Onianwa et al., 2006; Varner and Otto, 2008; Elepua and Mazzocco, 2010; Rocchi et al., 2011). On the other hand, Nie and Zepeda (2011) described their 'Adventurous consumers' cluster as having a level of income similar to the results of the current survey. This is a point where further research is needed.

Accurate knowledge of purchasing habits is necessary to determine the potential target groups of SFSC products. Yet the study of customer attitudes is location-specific because the characteristics of consumer behaviour can differ between countries depending on their history, development and economic status. Empirical studies published to date on consumer attitudes to SFSC have mostly been conducted in economically advanced countries, and no similar research from central and eastern European countries has previously been reported. The purpose of this study was to redress the lack of information currently available for this region of Europe.

In addition to the analysis of socio-demographic factors, this study has shown that there are measurable differences between clusters regarding the choice of the place where the food is purchased. Such information allows the extent and target groups of potential demand for each SFSC product range to be defined. Taken together, the socio-demographic and retail outlet results represent a first step towards aligning the needs of producers and consumers by allowing both the food chain operators and the decision makers to develop and use a set of tools adapted for the motivation of each cluster according to the identified characteristics.

In conclusion, these results show that the method reported here is an effective way of identifying groups of potential target consumers of SFSC in Hungary, and their purchasing habits. But this research is only the first step towards identifying the characteristics of the existing and potential buyers of SFSC products. Further investigation of the consumer attitudes towards SFSC products and exploration of the causes of differences between the groups is needed. This knowledge will allow more concrete tools for SFSC products, consumers, organisers and public policy to be identified which can help increase the share of SFSC products in the food retail market both in the short and long term. The potential demand among almost 70 per cent of the Hungarian population clearly indicates the value of such studies.

Acknowledgements

I thank AKI, the Hungarian Ministry of Agriculture and Corvinus University of Budapest for their assistance with developing the questionnaire, undertaking the data collection and making the database available. I also thank my colleague Márkiné Dr. Tóth Orsolya for her kind assistance in translating this paper into English.

References

- Baker, D., Hamshaw, K. and Kolodinsky, J. (2009): Who Shops at the Market? Using Consumer Surveys to Grow Farmers' Markets: Findings from a Regional Market in Northwestern Vermont. Journal of Extension 47 (6), article number 6FEA2.
- Dodds, R., Holmes, M. and Arunsopha, V. (2014): Consumer choice and farmers' markets. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics 27 (3), 397-416. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10806-013-9469-4
- Elepua, G. and Mazzocco, M.A. (2010): Consumer clusters in urban and suburban farmers markets. International Food and Agribusiness Management Review **13** (2), 1-18.
- Gao, Z., Swisher, M. and Zhao, X. (2012): A New Look at Farmers' Markets: Consumer Knowledge and Loyalty. HortScience 47 (8), 1102-1107.
- Gumirakiza, J.D. (2013): Assessment of Consumer Motivations to Attend Farmers' Markets, Their Preferences, and Their Willingness to Pay for Differentiated Fresh Produce: Three Essays. PhD Dissertation. Logan UT: Utah State University.

- Holloway, L. and Kneafsey, M. (2000): Reading the space of the farmer's market: a case study from the United Kingdom. Sociologia Ruralis 40, 285-299. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9523.00149
- Lyon, P., Collie, V., Kvarnbrink, E.B. and Colquhoun, A. (2009): Shopping at the farmers' market: consumers and their perspectives. Journal of Foodservice 20 (1), 21-30. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-0159.2008.00119.x
- Nie, C. and Zepeda, L. (2011): Lifestyle segmentation of US food shoppers to examine organic and local food consumption. Appetite 57, 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.03.012
- Onianwa, O., Mojica, M. and Wheelock, G. (2006): Consumer Characteristics and Views Regarding Farmers Markets: An Examination of On-Site Survey Data of Alabama Consumers. Journal of Food Distribution Research 37 (1), 119-125.
- Rani, P. (2014): Factors influencing consumer behaviour. International Journal of Current Research in Academic Review 2 (9), 52-61.
- Rocchi, R., Cavicchi, A. and Baldeschi, M. (2011): Consumers' attitude towards farmers' markets: an explorative analysis in Tuscany. Working paper no. 31. Macerata: Universitá degli Studi di Macerata. Available online at http://www2.unimc.it/ sviluppoeconomico/wpaper/wpaper00031/filePaper (accessed 15 January 2017).
- Solomon, M.R. (2004): Consumer Behavior. Buying, Having, and Being. Saddle River NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Szabó, D. and Juhász, A. (2013): A piacok jellemzői fogyasztói és termelői szemmel. [The characteristics of markets from the consumers' and the producers' point of view]. Budapest: AKI.
- Szakály, Z., Pallóné Kisérdi, I. and Nábrádi, T. (2010): Marketing a hagyományos és tájjellegű élelmiszerek piacán. [Marketing in the traditional and local food market]. Kaposvár, Hungary: Kaposvári Egyetem.
- Teng, D., Wilcock, A. and Aung, M. (2004): Cheese quality at farmers markets: observation of vendor practices and survey of consumer perceptions. Food Control 15 (7), 579-587. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2003.09.005
- Vanhonacker, F., Verbeke, W., Van Poucke, E. and Tuyttens, F.A.M. (2007): Segmentation based on consumers' perceived importance and attitude toward farm animal welfare. International Journal of Sociology of Agriculture and Food 15 (3), 91-107.
- Varner, T. and Otto, D. (2008): Factors Affecting Sales at Farmers' Markets: An Iowa Study. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy **30** (1), 176-189. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9353.2007.00398.x
- Williamson, S. (2014): A multivariate analysis of consumers' beliefs, attitudes, and behaviors associated with locally produced food and farmers' market patronage. Theses and Dissertations - Agricultural Economics. Paper 21. Lexington KY: University of Kentucky. Available online at http://uknowledge.uky.edu/ agecon etds/21 (accessed 15 January 2017).
- Wolf, M.M., Spittler, A. and Ahern, J. (2005): A Profile of Farmers' Market Consumers and the Perceived Advantages of Produce Sold at Farmers' Markets, Journal of Food Distribution Research 36 (1), 192-201.

Teresa HOOKS*[‡], Aine MACKEN-WALSH*, Olive McCARTHY[‡] and Carol POWER[‡]

Farm-level viability, sustainability and resilience: a focus on cooperative action and values-based supply chains

This paper presents a critical discussion of the concepts of farm-level viability, sustainability and resilience, which are typically discussed separately in the literature. While farm-level viability frequently focuses on measurable economic factors, sustainability is comparatively more elusive because of its added social, cultural and ecological dimensions. Resilience, in turn, is unambiguous in the sense that it requires particular conditions, but is achieved in dynamic ways. A traditional resilience strategy in agriculture globally is co-operative action, involving farmers working together to enhance their viability and sustainability, often achieving resilience. We draw attention to agricultural development models that are distinctive because they leverage co-operative action in and between family farms in agricultural communities while pursuing integrated viability, sustainability and resilience strategies. We focus on the prospect of such rural development models, particularly a values-based supply chain approach, and identify crucial considerations and future research needs.

Keywords: viability, resilience, sustainability, co-operatives, family farms, values-based supply chains

* Rural Economy and Development Programme, Teagasc, Athenry, Co. Galway, Ireland. Corresponding author: teresahooks2017@gmail.com [‡] University College Cork, Cork, Ireland.

Introduction

Agricultural sustainability is positioned at the core of political debate on global challenges such as food security, energy security and climate change. Regions within the European Union (EU) and elsewhere are experiencing pressures to address these challenges. Recent reforms of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) and individual EU Member State policies, such as Ireland's Food Wise 2025, seek to increase the value of the agri-food industry by furthering process and product innovation while adhering to principles of 'Smart, Green Growth' (DAFF, 2010, p.4). Within such policy rhetoric, tensions can arise between economic goals (e.g. increasing agricultural output), social goals (e.g. preserving rural population density and diversity), and environmental goals (e.g. protecting ecological land health) (Barbieri and Mahoney, 2009; Selvi et al., 2012). It is recognised that family farms are pivotal actors in the agriculture sector and, globally, are challenged with furthering economic, social and environmental development goals in an integrated way (Piedra-Munõz et al., 2016). While there is no universal definition for family farms, defining criteria usually relate to a reliance on family members in providing labour and the intergenerational transfer and ownership of the farm business (Gasson and Errington, 1993; Bjørkhaug and Blekesaune, 2008).

Family farms are noted to be particularly tenacious, despite often experiencing low economic viability (Saraceno, 2013). Charting routes towards farm viability remains a central research and policy challenge; however, viability represents just a narrow component of broader sustainability goals. Farms that are economically viable can nonetheless face serious threats such as insufficient incorporation of social and environmental sustainability concerns to their business models that are necessary to survive in the long term (Hennessy *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, many farms that are categorised as economically unviable have high social and environmental sustainability attributes and can demonstrate remarkable resilience. Such farms are often resourced by strong social and cultural capital within the farm fam-

ily and farming community, as well as alternative economic resources such as off-farm employment (Hill, 1993; Hennessy and Rehman, 2008; Darnhofer *et al.*, 2010b; Davidova *et al.*, 2013; Cush and Macken-Walsh, 2016; Sekabira and Qaim, 2017).

The interchanges between theories of viability, sustainability and resilience are the central focus of our paper, which mainly draws on Irish and European contexts but is broadly relevant to developed countries worldwide. Firstly, we discuss the concept of farm-level viability, which is typically focused on measurable factors. We then discuss the broader concept of sustainability, which is comparatively more elusive in its social, cultural and ecological dimensions. Our discussion then turns to the concept of resilience, which, although is unambiguous in the sense that it must fulfil particular conditions, can be achieved in dynamic ways. We argue that understanding the distinctions between farm viability, sustainability and resilience and their interchanges is supportive to effective agricultural development policy design. Through the lens of the conceptual framework presented in this paper, we discuss two main agricultural development paradigms that rely on co-operative action in the promotion of integrated farm viability, sustainability and resilience.

Farm viability

Economics is the dominant discipline in discussions of farm viability, where quantitative methodologies are typically used to measure universally-applicable indicators across a wide variety of farm types and contexts (Seghezzo, 2009). Family farm income (FFI) is a central determinant of farm viability and can vary due to differences in farm size, specialisation, output and access to off-farm income, among other factors (O'Brien *et al.*, 2008). Frawley and Commins (1996) define farm viability as providing the average agricultural wage for family labour in addition to providing a 5 per cent return on non-land assets. O'Donoghue *et al.* (2016) outline several definitions of viability across a range of countries in the global north (see Table 1 on p.164), but it is recognised that in the global south different measurements are used to conduct viability analysis (Saravia-Matus and Gomez y Paloma, 2014). Even within these different viability measurements there are different types and varying degrees of market integration (Tisenkopfs *et al.*, 2017), further complicating viability measurement. For instance, while small farms can struggle with viability due to restrictions on scale and thus output, semi-subsistence farms only sell part of their output and retain significant proportions for their own needs (Davidova *et al.*, 2013; Tisenkopfs *et al.*, 2017).

The problem of poor economic viability of farms is a global issue (Weis, 2007). Focusing on farm viability in the United States (US), a phenomenon termed as 'bifurcation' refers to the expanding number of large farms producing undifferentiated commodity products on one the hand and, on the other, the expanding specialist premium foods sector. Implicated in this bifurcation is the loss of medium and small family farms that are neither sufficiently large to compete in the undifferentiated commodity markets nor adequately specialised to compete in premium food markets (Kirschenmann et al., 2008). Kirschenmann et al. (2008, p.3) state that, in today's market, mid-sized farms operating alone are particularly economically vulnerable because they are too small to compete in and provide sufficient volume of product in 'highly consolidated commodity' markets and too 'conventional' to supply direct speciality food markets. This decline in the number of farms across much of the world is a problem that is not determined solely by scale but by market structures.

Porter (1990) highlights two main routes to being competitive in a global economy and states that, while not impossible, it is difficult to pursue both routes: being the lowest cost supplier of an undifferentiated commodity or providing the market with unique and superior value in terms of product quality, special features or after-sales service. While economic viability is one helpful indicator of whether family farms are likely to survive into the future, an understanding of other indicators is also influential, explaining why so many family farms have remained in operation in the long term despite low economic viability. The broader concept of sustainability, which will now take our focus, goes some way towards understanding these wider dimensions.

Farm-level sustainability

Sustainability is frequently referred to in national and international policies that attempt to balance economic priorities with social issues, while safeguarding ecological conditions (Seghezzo, 2009). However, the concept of sustainability remains controversial as few policy regimes succeed in achieving the requisite balance between social, economic and ecological priorities. Definitions of sustainability are diverse and fluid according to different actor perspectives, creating challenges for the mainstreaming of sustainability mandates in political and civil structures. Because the sustainability concept is open to wide interpretation, it is argued that it can become bland in meaning, devoid of a coherent

124

theoretical framework and clear means of practical realisation (Giddings *et al.*, 2002).

It is accepted overall that sustainable agriculture is multifaceted, responding to pressing economic, environmental and social challenges (van der Ploeg and Marsden, 2008; Piedra-Munõz *et al.*, 2016). Numerous 'buzzwords' with sustainability connotations have become mainstreamed in agricultural discourses, relating to both agricultural processes and products, for instance: 'environmentally sensitive', 'sustainably intensive', 'extensive', 'ecological', 'community', 'organic' and 'free range' (Pretty, 2008).

Methods of measuring sustainability are evolving (Dillon et al., 2010; Dillon et al., 2016), going beyond measurement of FFI which is acknowledged as failing to provide an "accurate indicator of the long-term sustainability of farming as it does not account for the level of resource utilisation on farms, nor does it account for the farm household's reliance on farm income" (Hennessy et al., 2008, p.35). The inclusion of social and innovation indicators of sustainability coincides with increasing emphasis of EU policy on the vital role of social networks in rural areas. Family farming is crucial to the maintenance of social capital and the economic, social and cultural fabric of rural areas (Hill, 1993; McDonagh, 2013). Social indicators of sustainability such as the demographic viability of households and social isolation are salient issues in many agricultural communities, where a reliance on family farms to retain rural population and services is highlighted across the third and public sectors (Shucksmith and Rønningen, 2011; Dillon et al., 2017). Additionally, it is claimed that intergenerational family farmers' knowledge of local production conditions makes them an intrinsic part of the sustainability agenda (Calus and Huylenbroeck, 2010). Macken-Walsh (2011, p.182) cites Kirschenmann and Stevenson (2004) who, in a US context, highlight practical reasons why family farming is valuable, arguing: "this is not just about "saving" the family farm. It is about the associated social, economic, and environmental costs to society. With the loss of each family farm, a rural community loses approximately USD 720,000 in related economic activity. Ecologists now affirm that the only way we can manage farmland in an ecologically sound manner is by having the farmer living on his/her land long enough and intimately enough to have learned how to manage it properly. With the loss of ecological land health, we see the loss of soil quality, wildlife, and recreational areas. And with the loss of rural populations, the loss of public services - education, health-care, transportation - inevitably follow".

Family farms are recognised as fundamental to the functioning of rural society (Hill, 1993; Delgado *et al.*, 2003; Woods, 2011; Davidova *et al.*, 2013) with over 12 million operating across the EU, according to Eurostat data. However, the vast majority of these family farms are dependent on EU subsidies to survive economically (Shucksmith and Rønningen, 2011; Woods, 2011; Davidova *et al.*, 2013; McDonagh, 2013), yet they are proving to be tenacious. Measurements of viability and concepts of sustainability often fall short in explaining this tenacity, despite economic vulnerability, and it is in this context that we turn to the concept of resilience for its explanatory value.

Resilience

Resilience is defined as "the capacity of a system to absorb disturbance and reorganise while undergoing change so as to easily retain essentially the same function, structure, identity and feedbacks" (Walker *et al.*, 2004, p.2). Resilience incorporates three main features: persistence, adaptability and transformability (Folke *et al.*, 2010). Resilience not only implies the ability to bounce back from a disturbance but also adaptive capacity (adaptability) and transformative capacity (transformability) in maintaining system stability (Walker *et al.*, 2004; Darnhofer *et al.*, 2010b; Folke *et al.*, 2010).

Resilience is impossible to measure or quantify (Buchmann, 2010). However, measurements of viability and sustainability may be used to gauge proxies of resilience such as adaptive capacity. Membership of cultural institutions, social capital, financial capital, systems of governance and resource availability are all determinants of the ability of farmers to achieve resilience (Buchmann, 2010). Various characteristics of resilience have been identified, including (a) learning to live with change and uncertainties, (b) nurturing diversity for reorganisation and renewal, (c) combining different kinds of knowledge and (d) creating opportunity for self-organisation (Folke *et al.*, 2003).

Ungar (2008) draws attention to an ultimate characteristic of resilience, which is the ability to respond effectively to a threat or situation of adversity (Macken-Walsh and Byrne, 2014). It follows, therefore, that a precondition for recognising resilience is the presence of a threat or situation of adversity, which in turn catalyses responses in the form of new action(s) and/or the leveraging of new resources, whether material or non-material. Often these shocks and disturbances that trigger resilience may be viewed as 'windows of opportunity' (Folke et al., 2003). In understanding the resilience strategies of farm families, attention must be paid to the social domain of the farm family and, specifically, to the power-dynamics and relationships between family members and how different members can influence decision-making in relation to farm development (Darnhofer et al., 2010a; Macken-Walsh and Byrne, 2014). As noted by Vanclay (2004), farm family decision-making is not entirely informed by profit maximisation but by broader social and cultural goals and values. Farm families' reluctance to take financial risks that may jeopardise social and cultural forms of capital (such as ownership of the inter-generational farm) is attributed to their peculiar tenacity and resilience by comparison to industrial farms (Galdeano-Gómez et al., 2016; Macken-Walsh and Byrne, 2014).

Flexibility and adaptability, by adopting new organisational strategies and production methods, has aided the resilience of farms across the EU (Macken-Walsh and Roche, 2012). Parts of this literature focus on how the adaptability of farms depends not only on the farm and its components (resources, workers etc.) but also on the ability to mobilise resources outside of the farm (Almås, 2010). Darnhofer *et al.* (2010a, p.550), citing Chia (2008), assign the term 'relational reflexivity' to the process of mobilising or utilising external resources outside of the farm unit to increase resilience, focusing specifically on collective action. This resonates with a growing literature on collective action, within farm families and between them, as a strategy of resilience in family farming (Kirbak and Egil, 2005; Almås, 2010; Ingram and Kirwan, 2011; Macken-Walsh and Byrne, 2014).

Co-operative action as a model for family farm viability, sustainability and resilience

The co-operative is defined as "a self-help business, owned and democratically controlled by the people who use its services and share in its benefits" (Briscoe and Ward, 2006, p.10). Historically, the co-operative is a strong and enduring institution of the agricultural economy (Fulton and Hueth, 2009), combining economic and social goals (Briscoe et al., 1982; Bijman et al., 2016). Agricultural cooperatives have emerged to counteract the power disparities of the market place (Kirschenmann et al., 2008; McCarthy et al., 2010), and they play an important role in providing farmers with better access to markets, enabling them to improve overall efficiency, securing a higher share of the product value by creating scale, pooling market risks, and allowing for the development of product and market innovation (NCFC 2005, in Ortmann and King, 2007; Fulton and Hueth, 2009; Bernard et al., 2010; ICA, 2015). Co-operatives can build resilience to market volatility especially in times of economic crisis (Birchall and Ketilson, 2009; Wanyama et al., 2009), and are seen to perform particularly well in higher-value markets (Merel et al., 2009; McCann and Montabon, 2012).

Co-operation is, in its own right, an adaptation (Walker *et al.*, 2004), potentially facilitating people to improve their quality of life and to enhance their viability, sustainability and resilience through social organisation (Hooks *et al.*, 2017; Ortmann and King, 2007). The co-operative model must be adaptable as a resilience strategy in meeting members' viability and sustainability needs and to the design of the processes and products that meet these needs.

The 'Agriculture of the Middle' (AotM) movement (Kirschenmann et al., 2008) is a contemporary co-operative development model that emphasises the need to transition from a supply chain approach to a Values-Based Supply Chain (VBSC) chain approach. The term 'supply chain' places focus on the "costs and efficiencies of supply and the flow of materials from their various sources to their final destinations" (Feller et al., 2006, p.4). The term 'value chain' or VBSC focuses on the creation of added value within a chain, and the roles of different actors in the chain in creating value. Incidentally, VBSCs are also defined by a distinct commitment to the welfare of all partners in the supply chain, including principles of equitable profits, equitable wages, and business agreements of appropriate extended duration (Stevenson et al., 2011). An AotM VBSC involves cooperation between farmers and other actors (including processors, retailers and consumers) in bringing family farm produce to the market. A central aim of VBSCs is that farmers transition from the role of 'input suppliers' to 'part owners' of the chain (Kirschemann et al., 2008). In addition to the critical importance of forging values-based multi-actor relationships, this transition in the status of the family farmer in the food chain is identified as a necessary foundation for developing family farm viability, sustainability and, ultimately, resilience.

AotM (Figure 1) emerged in the context of a 'bifurcation' of US farm structures, resulting in the loss of 'middle' family farms. The increasingly poor economic viability and losses of 'middle' family farms annually is explained by their lack of scale in competing with large, efficient producers of undifferentiated commodity products on one hand and their lack of differentiation by comparison to 'boutique' producers of branded speciality foods on the other (Kirschenmann *et al.*, 2008; Kirschenmann, 2012). These underpinning causes of the bifurcation problem in US farm structures are evident worldwide, prompting debates about the future of family farms and wider sustainability issues (Davidova *et al.*, 2013).

The loss of family farms, according to authors of the AotM literature, has negative economic, social, cultural and ecological impacts on society and such arguments are echoed in multiple national and international studies in the EU (EC, 1988; Phelan and O'Connell, 2011; Shucksmith and Rønningen, 2011; Forney and Stock, 2014). A primary concern of the AotM model is to harness the socio-cultural and ecological branding capital of family farms as a route for enhancing the market value of farm products and services. Family farm produce is identified as having competitive advantage in the space between commodity and specialised food products as there is a "burgeoning market demand for foods - neither cheap commodity foods or luxury expensive speciality foods - that are somewhere in the middle and are produced in accordance with sustainable agriculture standards. It is precisely the farmers of the middle who are in the best position to produce those products" (Kirschenmann et al., 2008, p.4). In more developed societies, there has been a mass social movement away from the consumption of undifferentiated commodity products towards foods with provenance attributes (Ilbery and Maye, 2005; Dilley, 2009; Moore et al., 2014). From consumers' perspectives, foods imbued with the social, cultural, economic and ecological benefits that non-intensive family farms deliver to society are increasingly desirable (Bell and Shelman, 2010).



Figure 1: The AotM development model for family farms. Source: own composition

Such a rationale is consistent with international agricultural development models such as the New Paradigm of Rural Development (NPRD). NPRD arose out of the rural development era of the European Union's agricultural policy when there was a realisation that there was a need not just to support agricultural production but also to support 'consumption' of rural areas. It is similar to the AotM model in how it offers an alternative to mainstream commodity agricultural production and draws on co-operative action and sustainability as core principles (Tovey, 2006). Tovey (2006, p.173) explains that NPRD "restates rights and possibilities of rural inhabitants to generate a livelihood for themselves from a sustainable use of the natural, cultural and social resources specific to their own rural locale". Instrumental stages in the realisation of NPRD include the deepening, re-grounding and broadening of agricultural production processes (Van der Ploeg et al., 2000) as a means of adding value. Similar to AotM, the realisation of NPRD is dependent on both the cultural and sustainability attributes that food products embody and the empowerment of actors (and relationships between them), which are so critical for resilience.

Conclusion

This paper reviews the literature defining family farm viability, sustainability and resilience, identifying key indicators of farm viability and sustainability and conditions for resilience. While farm viability and sustainability are important for family farms to survive, resilience is most deterministic of long-term survival. Underpinning family resilience is a capacity to leverage resources within and outside the farm family, necessary to respond to shocks and threats to farm viability and sustainability in the short and long terms. In this context, agricultural development policies informed by motivations to achieve farm viability and/or sustainability alone appear insufficient.

The co-operative model is theorised as capable of simultaneously enhancing viability, sustainability and resilience. An agriculture development model that is fundamentally based on principles of co-operation is presented in this paper: Agriculture of the Middle. Adopting a VBSC approach, value is added to products through production processes which adhere to principles of ecological, social and cultural integrity, increasingly sought after by consumers/ 'food citizens'. Principles of fairness and commitment demonstrated by contracts between chain partners, often including consumers, form an important part of the marketing strategy. This route toward economic viability culminates in farm families 'deepening' and 're-grounding' their production processes in socio-cultural identity and ecological integrity in order to receive a higher price for their product. Such an approach represents an alternative to scaling up in size and production output and is consistent with sustainability goals.

The review of the crucial inter-relationships between farm viability, sustainability and resilience presented in this paper highlights that it is prudent for agricultural development models to be focused on all three concepts. AotM is reviewed as one such model which demonstrates a balancing and mutual reinforcing of viability, sustainability and resilience goals. However, AotM has only in recent years been transposed to the EU context and discussions of such applicability in the EU context are emerging just now in the literature (Fleury *et al.*, 2016; Hooks *et al.*, 2017). Pertinent research questions are how the triad of viability, sustainability and resilience concepts remain integrated in practice and, crucially, how they are achieved at the level of family farms.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the guidance of Professor Michael Ward (UCC) in this research. This research was funded by Teagasc's Walsh Fellowship Scheme, Teagasc, Ireland.

References

- Almås, R. (2010): I have seen the future, and it works! How Joint Farming may solve contradictions between technological level and farm structure in Norwegian dairy production. Research in Rural Sociology and Development 16, 3-16. https://doi. org/10.1108/S1057-1922(2010)0000016004
- Barbieri, C. and Mahoney, E. (2009): Why is diversification an attractive farm adjustment strategy? Insights from Texas farmers and ranchers. Journal of Rural Studies 25, (1), 58-66. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2008.06.001
- Bell, M. and Shelman, M. (2010): Pathways for growth: Building Ireland's largest indigenous industry. Dublin: Bord Bia.
- Bernard, T., Speilman, D.J., Taffesse, A.S. and Gabre-Madhin, E.Z. (2010): Co-operatives for Staple Crop Marketing: evidence from Ethiopia. Research monograph 164. Washington: IFPRI.
- Bijman, J., Muradian, R. and Schuurman, J. (2016): Transformation, inclusiveness and tensions of cooperatives: synthesis and further research, in J. Bijman, R. Muradian and J. Schuurman (eds), Cooperatives, Economic Democratization and Rural Development. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing, 276-289. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784719388.00022
- Birchall, J. and Ketilson, L.H. (2009): Resilience of the co-operative business model in times of crisis. Genève: ILO.
- Bjørkhaug, H and Blekesaune, A. (2008): Gender and work in Norwegian family farm businesses. Sociologia Ruralis 48 (2), 152-165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9523.2008.00456.x
- Briscoe, R. and Ward, M. (2006): Is Small both Beautiful and Competitive? A Case Study of Irish Dairy Cooperatives. Journal of Rural Cooperation 34 (2), 119-138.
- Briscoe, R., Grey, S., Hunt, P., Linehan, M., McBride, H., Tucker, V. and Ward, M. (1982): The Co-operative Idea. Cork: University College Cork.
- Buchmann, C. (2010): Farming system dynamics: the quest for a methodology to measure social-ecological resilience in subsistence agriculture, in Proceedings of the 9th European IFSA Symposium 'Building sustainable rural futures: the added values of systems approaches in times of change and uncertainty', Wien, Austria, 4-7 July 2010, 2247-2252.
- Calus, M. and Van Huylenbroeck, G. (2010): The persistence of family farming: a review of explanatory socio-economic and historical factors. Journal of Comparative Family Studies 41 (5), 639-660.
- Cush, P. and Macken-Walsh, Á. (2016): The Potential for Joint Farming Ventures in Irish Agriculture: A Sociological Review. European Countryside 8 (1), 33-48. https://doi.org/10.1515/ euco-2016-0003

- Darnhofer, I., Bellon, S., Dedieu, B. and Milestad, R. (2010a): Adaptiveness to enhance the sustainability of farming systems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development **30**, 545-555. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro/2009053
- Darnhofer, I., Fairweather, J. and Moller, H. (2010b): Assessing a farm's sustainability: insights from resilience thinking, International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability 8 (3), 186-198. https://doi.org/10.3763/ijas.2010.0480
- Davidova, S., Bailey, A., Dwyer, J., Erjavec, E., Gorton, M. and Thomson, K. (2013): Semi-subsistence farming – value and directions of development. IP/B/AGRI/IC/2012-65. Brussel: European Parliament, DG Internal Policies. Available online at http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/ join/2013/495861/IPOL-AGRI_ET(2013)495861_EN.pdf (accessed 20 December 2017).
- Delgado, M., Ramos, E., Gallardo, R. and Ramos, F. (2003): Multifunctionality and rural development: a necessary convergence, in G. Van Huylenbroeck and G. Durand (eds), Multifunctional Agriculture: A new paradigm for European agriculture and Rural Development. Aldershot: Ashgate Publishing, 19-53.
- DAFF (2010): Food Harvest 2020. A Vision for the Irish agri-food and fisheries. Dublin: Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Food.
- Dilley, L. (2009): Consumption, Identity and the Case of Local Food. Centre for Rural Economy Discussion Paper Series No. 23. Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Newcastle University.
- Dillon, E.J., Hennessy, T. and Hynes, S. (2010): Assessing the sustainability of Irish agriculture. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability 8 (3), 131-147. https://doi.org/10.3763/ ijas.2009.0044
- Dillon, E.J., Hennessy, T., Buckley, C., Donnellan, T., Hanrahan, K., Moran, B. and Ryan, M. (2016) Measuring progress in agricultural sustainability to support policy-making. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability 14 (1), 31-44. https://doi. org/10.1080/14735903.2015.1012413
- Dillon, E.J., Hennessy, T., Moran, B., Lennon, J., Lynch, J., Brennan, M. and Donnellan, T. (2017): Teagasc National Farm Survey: The Sustainability of Small Farming in Ireland. Athenry, Co Galway, Ireland: Teagasc. Available online at: https://www. teagasc.ie/media/website/publications/2017/Small-Farms-Survey.pdf (accessed 22 December 2017).
- EC (1988): The future of rural society. COM(88) 5012 Final. Brussel: European Commission.
- Feller, A., Shunk, D. and Callarman, T. (2006): Value chains versus supply chains. BPTrends, March: 1-7.
- Fleury, P., Lev, L., Brives, H., Chazoule, C. and Désole, M. (2016): Developing Mid-Tier Supply Chains (France) and Values-Based Food Supply Chains (USA): A Comparison of Motivations, Achievements, Barriers and Limitations. Agriculture 6 (3), 36. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture6030036
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S.R., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T. and Rockstrom, J. (2010): Resilience thinking: integrating resilience, adaptability and transformability. Ecology and Society 15 (4), 20. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03610-150420
- Folke, C., Colding, J. and Berkes, F. (2003): Synthesis: building resilience and adaptive capacity in social-ecological systems, in J. Berkes, J. Colding and C. Folke (eds), Navigating social-ecological systems: Building resilience for complexity and change. New York: Cambridge University Press, 352-387.
- Forney, J. and Stock, P.V. (2014): Conversion of Family Farms and Resilience in Southland, New Zealand. International Journal of Sociology of Agriculture and Food 21 (1), 7-29.
- Frawley, J.P. and Commins, P. (1996): The Changing Structure of Irish Farming: Trends and Prospects. Rural Economy Research Series No. 1. Dublin: Teagasc.
- Fulton, M.E. and Hueth, B. (2009): Cooperative conversions, fail-

ures and restructurings: An overview. Journal of Cooperatives 23, 1-11.

- Galdeano-Gomez, E., Perez-Mesa, J.C. and Godoy-Duran, A. (2016): The social dimension as a driver of sustainable development: the case of family farms in southeast Spain. Sustainability Sciences 11, 349-362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-015-0318-4
- Gasson, R. and Errington, A. (1993): The Farm Family Business. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Giddings, B., Hopwood, B. and O'Brien, G. (2002): Environment, economy and society: fitting them together into sustainable development. Sustainable Development 10, 187-196. https://doi. org/10.1002/sd.199
- Hennessy, T. and Rehman, T. (2008): An investigation into factors affecting the occupational choices of nominated farm heirs in Ireland. Journal of Agricultural Economics 58 (1), 61-75. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2007.00078.x
- Hennessy, T., Shrestha, S. and Farrell, M. (2008): Quantifying the viability of farming in Ireland: can decoupling address the regional imbalances? Irish Geography 41, 29-47. https://doi. org/10.1080/00750770801909342
- Hill, B. (1993): The 'myth' of the family farm: defining the family farm and assessing its importance in the European Community. Journal of Rural Studies 9 (4), 359-370. https://doi. org/10.1016/0743-0167(93)90048-O
- Hooks, T., Macken-Walsh, Á., McCarthy, O. and Power, C. (2017): The Impact of a Values-Based Supply Chain (VBSC) on Farm-Level Viability, Sustainability and Resilience: Case Study Evidence. Sustainability 9 (2), 267. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su9020267
- ICA (2015): Co-operatives and Global Supply Chains. Policy Brief. Brussel: International Co-operative Alliance.
- Ilbery, B. and Maye, D. (2005): Food supply chains and sustainability: evidence from specialist food producers in the Scottish/ English borders, Land Use Policy 22 (4), 331-344. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2004.06.002
- Ingram, J. and Kirwan, J. (2011): Matching new entrants and retiring farmers through farm joint ventures: Insights from the Fresh Start Initiative in Cornwall, UK. Journal of Land Use Policy 28, 917-927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.04.001
- Kirbak, L. and Egil, F.E. (2005): Joint Farming between Good Agronomy and Modern Masculinity. Paper presented to the XXI Congress of the European Society for Rural Sociology, Keszthely, Hungary, July 2005.
- Kirschenmann, F. (2012): Agriculture of the middle; a development model. Paper presented to the conference 'Rural Cooperation in the 21st century; unique opportunities for farm families', Macreddin, Co. Wicklow, Ireland, 31 August 2012.
- Kirschenmann, F., Stevenson, S., Buttel, F., Lyson, T. and Duffy, M. (2008): Why worry about the agriculture of the middle, in T.A. Lyson, G.W. Stevenson and R. Welsh (eds), Food and the mid-level farm: Renewing an agriculture of the middle. Cambridge MA: MIT Press, 3-22. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9780262122993.003.0001
- Macken-Walsh, Á. (2011): The potential of a "Agriculture of the Middle" model in the context of EU rural development: An American solution to an Irish problem? Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development 1 (4), 177-188. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2011.014.018
- Macken-Walsh, Á. and Byrne, A. (2014): Strategies of Resilience: co-operation in Irish Farming. T Research **9** (2), 28-29.
- Macken-Walsh, Á. and Roche, B. (2012): Facilitating farmers' establishment of farm partnerships: A participatory template. Athenry, Co Galway, Ireland: Teagasc.
- McCann, N. and Montabon, F. (2012): Strategies for accessing volume markets in the beef industry: a review of three cooperative

business models. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development **2** (2), 37-50. https://doi.org/10.5304/ jafscd.2012.022.014

- McCarthy, O., Briscoe, R. and Ward, M. (2010): People in Control: The Promise of the Co-operative Business Approach, in J. Hogan, P. Donnelly and B. O'Rourke (eds), Irish Business & Society: Governing, Participating & Transforming in the 21st Century. Dublin: Gill & Macmillan: 319-336.
- McDonagh, J. (2013): Rural Geography I: Changing expectations and contradictions in the rural. Progress in Human Geography 37 (5), 712-720. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132512474404
- Merel, P.R., Saitone, T.L. and Sexton, R.J. (2009): Cooperatives and quality-differentiated markets: strengths, weaknesses and modeling approaches. Journal of Rural Cooperation **37** (2), 201-224.
- Moore, O., McCarthy, O., Byrne, N. and Ward, M. (2014): Reflexive resilience and Community Supported Agriculture: The Case that Emerged from a place. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development 4 (3), 1-17. https://doi. org/10.5304/jafscd.2014.043.007
- O'Brien, M., Hennessy, T., Behan, J., Keeney, M. and Newman, C. (2008): An examination of the contribution of off-farm income to the viability and sustainability of farm households and the productivity of farm businesses. Teagasc End of Project Report (RMIS 5490). Athenry, Co Galway, Ireland: Teagasc.
- O'Donoghue, C., Devisme, S., Ryan, M., Conneely, R., Gillespie, P. and Vrolijk, H.C.J. (2016): Farm economic sustainability in the European Union: A pilot study. Studies in Agricultural Economics 118 (3), 163-171. https://doi.org/10.7896/j.1631
- Ortmann, G.F. and King, R.P. (2007): Agricultural cooperatives I: History, theory and problems. Agrekon 46, 18-46. https://doi.org /10.1080/03031853.2007.9523760
- Phelan, J. and O'Connell, J. (2011): The importance of Agriculture and the Food Industry to the Irish Economy. Dublin: University College Dublin. Available online at https://www.ucd.ie/t4cms/ UCD%20Project%20JP-JOC.pdf (accessed 19 December 2017).
- Piedra-Muñoz, L., Galdeano-Gómez, E. and Pérez-Mesa, J.C. (2016): Is Sustainability Compatible with Profitability? An Empirical Analysis on Family Farming Activity. Sustainability 8 (9), 893. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8090893
- Porter, M.E. (1990): The competitive advantage of nations. Harvard Business Review 68, 73-93. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-11336-1
- Pretty, J. (2008): Agricultural sustainability: concepts, principles and evidence. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363, 447-465. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2007.2163
- Saraceno, E. (2013): Disparity and diversity: their use in EU rural policies. Sociologia Ruralis 53 (3), 331-348. https://doi. org/10.1111/soru.12017
- Saravia, M. and Gomez y Paloma, S. (2014): Farm viability of (semi) subsistence smallholders in Sierra Leone. African Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics 9 (3), 165-182.
- Seghezzo, L. (2009): The five dimensions of sustainability. Environmental Politics 18, 539-556. https://doi. org/10.1080/09644010903063669
- Sekabira, H. and Qaim, M. (2017): Mobile money, agricultural marketing, and off-farm income in Uganda. Agricultural Economics 48 (5), 597-611. https://doi.org/10.1111/agec.12360
- Selvi, S., Karthikeyan, R. and Vanitha, U. (2012): Organic farming: Technology for environment-friendly agriculture. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Advances in Engineering, Science and Management (ICAESM), Nagapattinam, Tamil Nadu, India, 30-31 March 2012, 132-136.
- Shucksmith, M. and Rønningen, K. (2011): The Uplands after

neoliberalism? – The role of the small farm in rural sustainability. Journal of Rural Studies **27** (3), 275-287. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2011.03.003

- Stevenson, G., Clancy, K., King, R., Lev, L., Ostrom, M. and Smith, S. (2011): Midscale food value chains: An introduction. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development 1, 27-34. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2011.014.007
- Tisenkopfs, T., Sumane, S., Adamsome-Fiskovica, A. and Grivins, M. (2017): Small farms typology and contribution to food and nutrition security. Paper presented at the XXVII ESRS Congress 'Uneven processes of rural change: on diversity, knowledge and justice' Krakow, Poland, 24-27 July 2017. Available online at: http://www.ruralsociology.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/ Proceedings-ESRS-Krakow.pdf#page=233 (accessed 20 December 2017).
- Tovey, H. (2006): New movement in old places? The alternative food movement in rural Ireland, in L. Connolly and N. Hourigan (eds), Social Movements and Ireland. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Ungar, M. (2008): Resilience across cultures. British Journal of Social Work 38 (2), 218-235. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcl343

van der Ploeg, J.D. and Marsden, T. (2008): Unfolding webs: the

dynamics of regional rural development: Assen: Royal Van Gorcum.

- van der Ploeg, J.D., Renting, H., Brunori, G., Knickel, K., Mannion, J., Marsden, T., De Roest, K., Sevilla-Guzmán, E. and Ventura, F. (2000): Rural development: from practices and policies towards theory. Sociologia Ruralis **40** (4), 391-408. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1467-9523.00156
- Vanclay, F. (2004): Social principles for agricultural extension to assist in the promotion of natural resource management. Animal Production Science 44, 213-222. https://doi.org/10.1071/ EA02139
- Walker, B., Holling, C.S., Carpenter, S.R. and Kinzig, A. (2004): Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. Ecology and Society 9 (2), 5. https://doi. org/10.5751/ES-00650-090205
- Wanyama, F.O., Develtre, P. and Pollet, I. (2009): Reinventing the wheel? African cooperatives in a liberalized economic environment. Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics 80 (3), 361-392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8292.2009.00390.x
- Weis, T. (2007): The Global Food Economy: The Battle for the Future of Farming. London: Zed Books.
- Woods, M. (2011): Rural. Abingdon and New York: Routledge.

KEREKES Kinga*1, Horațiu PIRĂU*, KIS Brigitta-Ágota* and ÁBRAHÁM Beáta*

Factors influencing educational choices of Romanian rural youth

This paper attempts to identify the main factors influencing the decisions regarding educational choices of rural youth from Cluj county, Romania. In order to achieve this, data collected in three waves of survey, in 2007, 2011 and 2015, were combined. The three surveys used the same methodology, thus allowing us to test the stability of the outcomes over a period of eight years, to highlight the main changes occurring in this period and to test statistically the factors of influence on a larger sample. The results show that the share of those who intend to study further slightly increased in the period 2007-2015. Regression analysis lead us to five factors that have a statistically significant influence on continuing education: the parents' attitude towards continuing education, the age, the number of siblings, the school performance and the computer skills of the respondents. Some other individual, family and locality-related variables also correlated significantly with the intention to study further. Based on the conclusions, some policy implications are discussed.

Keywords: factors influencing further studying, early school leaving, Cluj county

* Universitatea Babeş-Bolyai, Str. Teodor Mihali, Nr. 58-60, 400591, Cluj-Napoca, Romania. Corresponding author: kinga.kerekes@econ.ubbcluj.ro; http://orcid. org/0000-0001-6092-4035

Introduction

Smart, sustainable and inclusive growth are the main priorities defined by the European Union (EU) in its 'Europe 2020' strategy (EC, 2010). The results of this paper are relevant for two out of the 'smart growth' targets set for Romania (EC, 2017), namely: (a) school drop-out (early school leaving) rates below 11.3 per cent, and (b) at least 26.7 per cent of the population aged 30-34 years should have completed tertiary education. These targets are lower than those for the EU-28 Member States (below 10.0 per cent and at least 40.0 per cent respectively), as Romania is lagging behind most EU Member States with respect to these indicators.

Over the past decade, Romania has recorded a high rate of early school leavers among those aged 18-24: 18.5 per cent overall and 26.6 per cent in the rural areas in 2016 (Eurostat, 2017) – and the trends are not decreasing. The share of the Romanian population aged 30-34 with tertiary education was 25.6 per cent in 2016 (Eurostat, 2017) and has increased over the last decade. Thus the overall target of 26.7 per cent seems to be realistic, but there are no separate data for the rural areas. At the last Romanian Census (INS, 2011), the share of the rural population aged 30-34 with tertiary education was only 9.7 per cent, and 61.8 per cent of the rural population over ten years old had a low level of education (at most, lower secondary school). The quality of education is lower in rural areas due to the undeveloped educational infrastructure and the inadequate number, lower qualification and high turnover of the teaching staff. By grouping schools, the primary and secondary schools in rural areas became less accessible, and several pupils have to commute every day (EC, 2006; Bertolini et al., 2008).

Poorly-educated people face more difficulties in meeting job requirements and earn less when employed; thus, the likelihood of them becoming poor is much higher than for their better educated peers (Kertesi and Varga, 2005; Berryman *et al.*, 2007; Ékes, 2007; Fazakas and Kézdi, 2007; Bertolini *et al.*, 2008; OECD, 2009). A World Bank report on Romanian labour market vulnerabilities (WB, 2008) pointed out that "returns to schooling remain low for those with less-than-tertiary education" (p.23), and those who complete tertiary education earn on average 55 per cent higher salaries than those who completed only basic education. OECD (2009) shows that the school-to-work transition is easier for youth who have obtained at least an upper secondary school qualification. Educational level was also found to play an important role in non-farm diversification (Meyer *et al.*, 2008). Tudor (2015) considers the increase of the stock of knowledge and professional abilities of the rural population a potential way to increase resilience, as it allows an increasing occupational mobility.

Ginzberg (1977) outlined three distinct stages or periods in the career-choice process: the fantasy stage (childhood before age 11), the tentative stage (from ages 11 to 17) when the individual becomes more aware of work requirements and of his/her own abilities and values and makes decisions regarding vocational likes and dislikes, and the realistic stage (ages 17 to young adult), when the person, after narrowing his/her choices to a few possibilities, selects a job or a specialised training.

Studies of educational inequalities correlate academic success and access to higher education with several factors. One is family background, the most important aspect being the parents' education (Boudon, 1974; Bourdieu and Passeron, 1990; Coleman, 1990; Jigău and Surdu, 2002; Dávid-Kacsó, 2010; Jakimovski, 2010; Voicu and Vasile, 2010). Women's education is positively associated with investments in children's education (WB, 2007). Being born in the rural area is associated with a significant lower probability to attend and graduate from university courses (Voicu and Vasile, 2010), and rural location significantly increased the risk of school failure for girls (Dávid-Kacsó, 2010). Because continuing education means extra costs for rural families (paying for travel to the city and/or accommodation), the parents' approach and the financial welfare of the family have an important influence on the decision regarding continuing education (Jigău and Surdu, 2002; Kapitány et al., 2005; Jakimovski, 2010; Vincze and Harbula, 2011).

A higher rate of school abandonment was registered in rural schools with a higher share of Roma children. The school advancement of Roma children is hindered by several factors, such as the parents' low level of and negative attitude towards education, poor housing conditions, family traditions (nomadic way of life or early-age marriage of girls), lack of identity documents, the deficit of qualified teachers and a high turnover of teaching staff (Jigău and Surdu, 2002; Vincze and Harbula, 2011).

Poor employment opportunities may reduce the returns to education in rural regions and can reinforce the tendency to underinvest in education. The migration of highly-educated towards places with high concentrations of people with similar skills (mostly urban areas) may further decrease the return to education in rural areas (Green and Hardill, 2003; Bertolini *et al.*, 2008). Romanian rural young people have a strong preference for living and working in the urban area (Kerekes and Pakucs, 2013). In the words of older farmers, "young people don't want to be the slaves of the land and of the animals" (Vincze *et al.*, 2005, p.283).

The aim of this paper is to identify the main factors influencing the decisions regarding educational choices of rural youth from Cluj county, Romania. Based on the available evidence, we hypothesise that individual factors (such as the age, the gender and the school performance of the young person), family factors (the parents' educational level and their attitude towards education, the number of siblings) and locality-related factors (remoteness, level of development, ethnic structure) influence the decision related to continuing education.

Methodology

Our analysis uses primary data collected through three waves of survey carried out among rural young people from Cluj county, Romania. Empirical data were collected in 2007, 2011 and 2015, in the eighth forms of 31 lower secondary schools from 21 communes (28 per cent of the communes in Cluj county).

The main reason to choose pupils from the eighth form (the last year of the lower secondary school, also called gymnasium in Romania) is that in most rural localities that is the highest level of schooling which can be achieved locally. Another reason behind this choice is that the school enrolment rate of young people aged 15-18 (corresponding to higher secondary education) is much lower than those aged 11-14 (corresponding to lower secondary education). In 2015 the difference was over 12 percentage points, i.e. 78.2 per cent versus 90.4 per cent (INS, 2017), showing that a substantial share of the young people quit education after completing lower secondary education. Our respondents belong the 13-17 years' age group, thus they are in the tentative stage according to Ginzberg (1977), when young people are more aware of the consequences of their decisions regarding educational choices.

The communes were selected using the following criteria: accessibility (measured by the average time to reach the county capital city Cluj-Napoca by road and the existence of a railway station on the territory of the commune)¹, the geographical location (mountain areas being characterised by a lower share of arable land), the size and age structure of the population (measured by number of inhabitants and the share of those aged 0-14 years in the total population), as well as the level of development, measured with the complex development coefficient (CDC) calculated both from six and twelve indicators, as described by Kerekes (2005). For all indicators, commune-level (LAU 2) data from 2002 were used, the year of the most recent Census at the time of the first round of the survey (2007). The 21 selected communes present a great variety, but the averages of the chosen indicators for the sample are very close to the county-level averages calculated for all communes (Table 1).

The following main issues were tackled in the questionnaire: choice for continuing education, aspiration for university studies, chosen profession and future place (locality) of work. In addition, questions referred to the age, gender, health status, domicile, school results, opinion about the school, main values, family structure, educational level of the parents and siblings, parents' occupation, and the size and structure of the family farm.

A total of 1,280 pupils (646 female and 634 male) completed the questionnaires. The 2007 survey involved 170 female and 169 male pupils from 26 schools from 19 communes. In 2011, when 256 female and 229 male pupils were surveyed, two additional communes were added in order to compensate for the decrease of the number of pupils in the originally selected communes. In 2015, the 220 female and 236 male pupils were drawn from 29 schools from 20 communes, leaving out one of the two schools added in 2011. The number of schools visited varies because the classes can be regrouped within the different village schools according to the number of children in the respective age group.

Results from 2007 and 2011 were published by Kerekes (2007, 2013) and Kerekes and Pakucs (2013), where further details can be found about the preliminary results and the research methodology. The current article analyses the factors influencing the decision regarding continuing education using a database composed of all responses collected during the three waves, completed with data related to the characteristics of the communes gathered from the Tempo Online database of the National Institute of Statistics.

From all the available data, we have selected those indicators which, based on the results of the literature review and in our own judgement, could be influential for continuing

 Table 1: The values of the indicators used for selection at sample level, compared to Cluj county averages.

Indicator	Indicator Sample County (n=21) (n=75		mu with	Distribution of the com- munes from the sample vithin all communes from Cluj county, by quintile					
			Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5		
Share of arable land, per cent	44.6	43.4	5	6	2	4	4		
Number of inhabitants	3,282	3,068	5	5	4	5	2		
Share of the population aged 0-14, per cent	16.2	15.8	6	3	3	4	4		
CDC ₆	0.2810	0.2810	4	3	6	2	6		
CDC ₁₂	0.3639	0.3543	6	1	6	4	4		

Source: own calculations

¹ For calculating accessibility, we did not consider distances expressed in kilometres, because distances to Cluj-Napoca from the different villages within the same commune differ greatly. Five communes from the sample can be reached within 30 minutes by car, nine communes between 30-60 minutes and six of them in over one hour. Four of the communes from the sample have operational railway stations (19 per cent), while the county average is 21 per cent (16 out of the 75 communes).

education. We grouped these potential factors of influence into four groups:

- Individual characteristics of the respondent, such as the gender, age, school performance, computer skills, and values (the importance of being educated, having a family and a job);
- Family characteristics, such as the educational level of parents, the attitude of parents towards the education of their children and the number of siblings;
- Data related to the localities where the respondents live: the size of the commune, its demographic and ethnic structure (the share of the Roma population), its distance from Cluj-Napoca (the county capital city), its land structure (the share of forests);
- *School-related factors*, such as the number of teachers, the number of school-age children per teaching staff, the share of lower secondary school graduates and the distance from the nearest school.

Data were processed with the SPSS program (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, USA). Descriptive statistics (frequencies, shares and crosstab analysis and linear regression) were used to identify the main factors of influence.

Results

Influence of the respondents' individual characteristics

About three quarters of the pupils (922) were living in the same locality as the school and 358 commuted to school from neighbouring villages or – as in the case of some pupils from two schools located in mountain villages – they were staying in the school college during the week, because they live too far to commute daily.

Continuing education is the choice for 95.2 per cent of the pupils and 4.8 per cent plan to quit education after completing the eighth year of study. Of the respondents, 79.6 per cent would like to study further in a high school and 15.6 per cent in a vocational school. Because of the transformation of vocational schools into technical high schools in the 2009/2010 school year, no choice for vocational school was registered in 2011 but, after some more reforms, in the school year 2014/2015 studying in a vocational school was again an option. There are statistically significant differences among the different waves: in 2007, the share of those opting to quit education was bigger, while in 2015 more pupils were opting for vocational education.

Answers related to continuing education and the type of school chosen are significantly related to the gender of the respondents (Pearson Chi-Square=0.000). Girls are more likely to continue education (87.4 per cent chose high school, 9.0 per cent vocational school) and only 3.6 per cent planned to drop out. Boys also prefer high school (71.8 per cent), but a much higher share (22.3 per cent) chose vocational school and plan to quit school (6.0 per cent). The preference for high school has increased both for girls (from 79.5 per cent in 2007 to 81.6 per cent in 2015) and boys (from 54.5 per cent in 2007 to 59.1 per cent in 2015), as well as for vocational school (from 13.7 per cent in 2007 to 16.1 per cent in 2015 for girls and from 32.7 per cent in 2007 to 37.0 per cent in 2015 for boys), both contributing to the decreasing share of those who plan to drop out of school.

Regarding their wish to enrol for university studies, 65.1 per cent of the respondents gave an affirmative and 34.9 per cent gave a negative answer. The inconsistency between the choice for university studies and the preferred profession (a different item from the questionnaire) suggests that many respondents have no information about the professions universities qualify for. Gender influence is evident in this case, too: 78.2 per cent of girls want to go to university compared to 51.9 per cent of boys (Pearson Chi-Square=0.000).

We present in Table 2 the correlation coefficients between continuing education and some individual characteristics which proved to be statistically significant.

Computer literacy increased over the period 2007-2011 from 54.3 per cent to 81.5 per cent, and then declined slightly to 78.5 per cent in 2015, but this small decrease is not statistically significant. Altogether in the three waves 72.8 per cent of the pupils (72.2 per cent of the girls and 73.5 per cent of the boys) declared that they can use a computer (for verification, we also asked them to list some programmes they are using). Computer skills and continuing education proved to be positively correlated (Pearson Correlation=0.236).

The age of respondents varied from 13 to 17 years, but 91.1 per cent of them were 14 or 15 years old. There is a negative correlation between age and the educational choice; older pupils opted to a greater degree for vocational school or for quitting education.

School performance was also relevant. From the average grades obtained by the pupils in the seventh form (as declared by the respondents in the questionnaire) we formed three categories: good results (over an average of 8.5) were achieved by 50.1 per cent of the respondents, medium results (7.0-8.5) by 40.7 per cent and poor results (below 7.0) by 9.2 per cent. A larger share of those with good results continue education in high schools and those with poor results

Table 2: Correlation between continuing education in a high school or a vocational school and the respondents' individual characteristics.

Characteristic		iing educati yes, 0=no)	on
Characteristic	Pearson correlation	Sig. (2-tailed)	N
Computer skills (1=yes, 0=no)	0.236	0.000	1,234
Age (in years)	-0.213	0.000	1,248
School performance (3=good, average over 8.50, 2=medium (7.00-8.50), 1=poor, average lower than 7.00)	0.187	0.000	1,044
Planned age of starting to work (in years)	0.128	0.000	1,164
Importance of being educated (1=very important to 3=not important)	-0.111	0.000	1,232
Importance of having a job (1=very important to 3=not important)	-0.101	0.000	1,239
School is easy ($1 = easy$ to $3 = difficult$)	-0.065	0.026	1,182
Importance of establishing a family (1=very important to 3=unimportant)	-0.057	0.045	1,232

Source: own calculations

drop out from school to a much higher degree than the average (Pearson Correlation = 0.187).

The age when the respondents plan to start working is also positively correlated with the decision to continue education, which is a realistic expectation, as those who stay longer in education will enter the labour market when they are older.

The pupils were asked to express their opinion regarding some value-related issues. Being educated is very important for 84.5 per cent of them, while 14.3 per cent consider it important and only 1.1 per cent believe that it is not important. However, the share of those who believe education is very important has declined from 87-89 per cent in 2007 and 2011 to 78.4 per cent in 2015. There is a statistically significant correlation between the importance given to being educated and the choice to study further. The importance of other values, such as having a job or establishing a family, is also correlated with continuing education.

The final individual characteristic which was statistically significantly correlated with continuing education was the ease of learning for the respondent. As expected, those who consider school difficult are more likely to drop out.

Influence of the respondents' family characteristics

The highest share (38.0 per cent) of the respondents are part of families composed of four people, typically formed by the parents and two children (29.7 per cent); 23.3 per cent of the families have five members and in 20.8 per cent at least six people live together. The largest household has 14 members.

Regarding the attitude of their parents to further education, 89.1 per cent of the pupils answered that both of their parents want them to study further and only 13 respondents, of which 11 were boys, declared that neither of their parents wants them to continue education. Naturally, these latter pupils all declared that they would quit education. We scored parents' agreement on a scale from 0 (none of the parents agree with further education) to 4 (both parents agree). Intermediary values were given as follows: 1= one

Table 3: Correlation between continuing education in a high school or a vocational school and the characteristics of the respondents' family.

Characteristic	Continuing education (1=yes, 0=no)						
Characteristic	Pearson correlation	Sig. (2-tailed)	Ν				
Parents' agreement to continue education (0=both parents no, 1=one parent no, the other undecided, 2=one parent yes, the other no, 3=one parent yes, the other undecided, 4=both parents yes)	0.406	0.000	1194				
Fathers' education (1=tertiary education to 5=utmost lower secondary education)	-0.133	0.000	967				
Number of siblings	-0.127	0.000	1253				
Mothers' education (1 = tertiary education to 5 = lower secondary or less education)	-0.098	0.002	1023				

Source: own calculations

parent does not agree and the respondent is undecided about the other parent's opinion, 2= one parent agrees, the other does not, 3= one parent agrees and the respondent is undecided about the other parent's opinion. Parents' agreement proved to have the strongest correlation (Pearson Correlation=0.406) with the decision regarding further education (Table 3).

Among the pupils, 23.3 per cent were not aware of the educational level of their parents. Of the mothers, 12.7 per cent have completed tertiary education, compared to 9.3 per cent of the fathers, while similar shares of each have completed high school with baccalaureate exam (27.8 per cent of the mothers and 29.1 per cent of the fathers) and ten years of education (23.4 per cent of the mothers and 20.4 per cent of the fathers). Vocational school was mostly attended by the fathers (25.4 per cent, compared to 11.6 per cent of the mothers). The share of the parents with at most lower secondary education (eight years of schooling or less) is also rather high (24.4 per cent of the mothers and 15.9 per cent of the fathers) and has increased over the years, from 13.5 per cent in 2007 to 30.5 per cent in 2015 for mothers and 14.0 per cent in 2007 to 20.5 per cent in 2015 for fathers. The decision to continue education correlates with the educational level of both parents. The negative sign in Table 3 is due to the decreasing scale attributed to this indicator (from 1=tertiary education to 5=at most lower secondary education). In addition, children of more educated parents opted to a higher degree for high school than those of the less educated parents.

Another important family characteristic is the number of siblings. Among the respondents, 48.0 per cent have one brother or sister, 18.2 per cent have two and 16.6 per cent have three or more, while 17.3 per cent have no siblings at all. There was a statistically significant correlation between the number of siblings and the decision to study further: those who have more siblings are less willing to continue education.

Combined effect of the individual and family factors

To calculate the combined effect of the individual and family factors influencing the educational choices of rural youth, regression analysis was performed with the SPSS program. The model summary is presented in Table 4 and the coefficients in Table 5. Only five variables out of the individual and family characteristics discussed above were statistically significant. The R² of the best fitting model explained was 0.236, and the best explanatory variable proved to be the parents' agreement to continue education (R²=0.187), followed by age (R²=0.026), the number of siblings (R²=0.014), school performance (R²=0.009) and computer skills (R²=0.004).

Influence of the locality and school characteristics

Of the 21 communes in the survey, 19 were included in all three waves, Gilău in 2011 and 2015, and Țaga only in 2011. All these communes are composed of more than one

Madal	R	R ²	Adjusted R ²	SE of the estimate		Cha	nge statis	tics	
2 (3 (4 (K	ĸ	Aujusteu K	SE of the estimate	R ² change	F change	df1	df2	Sig. F change
1	0.432ª	0.187	0.186	0.127	0.187	228.442	1	993	0.000
2	0.461 ^b	0.213	0.211	0.125	0.026	32.636	1	992	0.000
3	0.476°	0.226	0.224	0.124	0.014	17.367	1	991	0.000
4	0.486 ^d	0.236	0.233	0.123	0.009	12.154	1	990	0.001
5	0.490 ^e	0.240	0.236	0.123	0.004	5.057	1	989	0.025

Table 4: Summary of the linear regression model for the dependent variable: continuing education (high school or vocational school).

Predictors: ^a (constant), parents' agreement to continue education; ^b (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age; ^c (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age, number of siblings; ^d (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age, number of siblings, school performance; ^c (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age, number of siblings, school performance; ^c (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age, number of siblings, school performance; ^c (constant), parents' agreement to continue education, age, number of siblings, school performance, computer skills Source: own calculations

Table 5: Coefficients of the linear regression model	l for the dependent variable: continuing	g education (high school or vocational school).

Model no.		lardised cients	Standardised coefficients	t	Sig.	Correlations		Colline statis		
	В	SE	Beta			Zero-order	Partial	Part	Tolerance	VIF
1 (Constant)	0.464	0.034		13.500	0.000					
Parents' agreement	0.133	0.009	0.432	15.114	0.000	0.432	0.432	0.432	1.000	1.000
2 (Constant)	0.996	0.099		10.050	0.000					
Parents' agreement	0.128	0.009	0.417	14.743	0.000	0.432	0.424	0.415	0.991	1.009
Age	-0.036	0.006	-0.162	-5.713	0.000	-0.201	-0.178	-0.161	0.991	1.009
3 (Constant)	0.976	0.098		9.912	0.000					
Parents' agreement	0.125	0.009	0.407	14.451	0.000	0.432	0.417	0.404	0.984	1.017
Age	-0.033	0.006	-0.150	-5.322	0.000	-0.201	-0.167	-0.149	0.981	1.019
Number of siblings	-0.002	0.000	-0.118	-4.167	0.000	-0.172	-0.131	-0.116	0.981	1.019
4 (Constant)	0.892	0.101		8.854	0.000					
Parents' agreement	0.122	0.009	0.398	14.137	0.000	0.432	0.410	0.393	0.975	1.026
Age	-0.030	0.006	-0.137	-4.825	0.000	-0.201	-0.152	-0.134	0.963	1.038
Number of siblings	-0.002	0.000	-0.114	-4.044	0.000	-0.172	-0.127	-0.112	0.980	1.021
School performance	0.021	0.006	0.099	3.486	0.001	0.170	0.110	0.097	0.966	1.035
5 (Constant)	0.870	0.101		8.604	0.000					
Parents' agreement	0.122	0.009	0.395	14.072	0.000	0.432	0.408	0.390	0.974	1.027
Age	-0.029	0.006	-0.132	-4.654	0.000	-0.201	-0.146	-0.129	0.958	1.044
Number of siblings	-0.002	0.000	-0.113	-4.023	0.000	-0.172	-0.127	-0.112	0.980	1.021
School performance	0.019	0.006	0.087	3.057	0.002	0.170	0.097	0.085	0.938	1.066
Computer skills	0.021	0.009	0.064	2.249	0.025	0.124	0.071	0.062	0.957	1.045

Source: own calculations

village. Primary schools operate in more localities, while lower secondary schools (fifth to eighth forms) operate usually in the commune centre and in the villages with a higher number of children from the respective age groups. In all three waves, we visited all schools where eighth form children were studying, thus the total number of villages reached was 33 (26 in 2007 and 2011, 29 in 2015). As most statistical data are only available at the commune (LAU 2) level, we characterise the communes, and not the villages, as localities of origin.

The first commune-specific indicator we tested is the number of inhabitants, which in the Census from 2011 ranged from 1,218 (Palatca) to 10,317 (Baciu). Our hypothesis was that settlement size would have a positive effect on children's decision to continue education but, according to our data (Figure 1), the number of inhabitants does not correlate with the share of school drop-outs ($R^2=0.001$), calculated as an average of the pupils from the respective commune who do not want to continue education, nor with the overall educational choice ($R^2=0.012$), calculated as a weighted average of the chosen school type (2=high school, 1=vocational school and 0=no school).

The vitality index of the commune (calculated as the ratio of births to deaths) correlated neither with the share of

the school drop-outs ($R^2=0.001$) nor with the educational choice ($R^2=0.002$). The only population-related characteristic which proved to be relevant regarding the educational outcomes is the share of Roma population within the total population of the commune. There was a negative relation-



Figure 1: The percentage of school drop-outs according to the total number of inhabitants in the commune. Data sources: INS (2017) and own research

ship (Figure 2) between the share of Roma population and the share of gymnasium (lower secondary school) graduates among the 10-14 years old ($R^2=0.268$). Successful graduation is a precondition for further studying.

The share of the Roma population is significantly correlated (Figure 3) with the share of those who plan to drop out after graduating lower secondary school ($R^2=0.178$), as well as with the educational choice (high school, vocational school or no school) ($R^2=0.107$).

Other indicators tested were intended to measure the geographical remoteness of the communes: the distance to the county capital city, Cluj-Napoca, the distance to the nearest high school and the share of woodland in total land cover (as a proxy for mountain areas). Correlation coefficients among the distance to the nearest high school and the distance to Cluj-Napoca were calculated both with the individual answers and with the commune-level aggregated values related to continuing education and the chosen school



Figure 2: The share of gymnasium graduates among 10-14 years old according to the share of the Roma population in the commune. Data source: INS (2017)



Figure 3: The percentage of school drop-outs according to the share of the Roma population in the commune. Data sources: INS (2017) and own research

type. Among these, only between the distance to the nearest high school and the individual-level educational choice (high school, vocational school and no school) was a very weak negative correlation found (Pearson Correlation=-0.067, statistically significant at the 0.05 level), showing that the long distance can be an obstacle for continuing education in a high school. The same conclusion can be drawn from Figure 4, which shows the share of children who continue to study (calculated at commune level), according to the distance to the nearest high school, where the negative influence can be observed, especially for longer distances (over 21 km).

The share of woodland in total land cover correlates (Figure 5) with the commune-level educational choice ($R^2=0.138$). As the high share of woodland is characteristic of mountain areas, we arrive to the somehow contra-intuitive result that young people from mountain areas prefer high schools more than the average.

One further commune-level characteristic which was statistically significant is related to the local school system. The share of gymnasium graduates among 10-14 years old is decreasing as the number of children per gymnasium teacher



Figure 4: The percentage of pupils continuing education according to the distance from home to the nearest high school. Error bars indicate 95 per cent confidence index. Data sources: INS (2017) and own research



Figure 5: Educational choices of pupils according to the share of woodland in the commune by land cover. Data sources: INS (2017) and own research

increases ($R^2=0.258$), showing the importance of teachers' attention for the performance of the pupils (Figure 6). A high number of children per teacher can also signal that some of the teachers have their main job in a school located in a different commune, which also means a lower level of teachers' involvement.

Discussion and conclusions

The low level of education of the rural population in Romania and the alarmingly high rate of early school leavers among those aged 18-24 in the rural area requires both researchers and policy makers to try to understand the causes behind these unwanted phenomena. Our paper offers some hints, based on empirical research carried out in three waves over a period of eight years, reaching 1,280 young people in 21 communes of Cluj county.

Our first result is that quite a substantial share (9.8 per cent of the pupils in 2007, and 3.1 per cent in 2011 and 2015) do not want to continue their education after completing the eighth form (lower secondary education), which means that they will have no professional qualification and their chances of gaining employment outside agriculture are very low.

The educational choices of rural youth from Cluj county have changed during the period 2007-2015. The share of those who declared they want to continue education increased by six percentage points from 2007 (when the Romanian economy was growing) to 2011 (just after the global economic crisis), which supports the view that in an economic slowdown young people are more likely to stay in education than look for work (OECD, 2009). In the period 2011-2015, characterised by economic recovery, the share of planned school drop-outs stabilised at around 3 per cent. Those who do not want to continue education explained their choice with the low school achievements, the negative feelings towards school, the lack of money, the parent's negative attitude towards continuing education or their own wish to work on the family farm.

Background information collected through the questionnaire and official statistical data allows us to identify the factors which influence the choice of a young person from a rural area to study further or not (Figure 7).

Regression analysis lead us to five factors having a significant influence on continuing education: the parents' attitude towards continuing education, the age, the number of siblings, the school performance and the computer skills of the respondents. Other variables, such as the parent's education, the age when the respondents plan to start working, the importance given to some values (being educated, having a job and establishing a family) also correlate (one-by-one) with the decision to continue education. Gender significantly influences the choice of a specific school type (high school for girls and vocational school for boys to a greater degree), and the share of girls who would like to enter tertiary education is also significantly higher than for boys. Even though these variables were not statistically significant in our regression model, we believe that they should be taken into account as factors of influence by projects addressing the improvement of rural education.



Figure 6: The share of gymnasium graduates among 10-14 years old according to the number of 10-14 years old children per gymnasium teacher. Data source: INS (2017)



Figure 7: Factors influencing pupils' decision to continue education. Source: own composition

Our results related to the importance of family characteristics are strongly supported by the literature cited above. The negative attitude of the parents and the number of siblings are closely associated with the financial welfare of the family. Larger families are more likely to face poverty, which can be an obstacle for continuing education. Poverty can also be a reason behind the negative attitude of the parents towards further education, because of the costs implied.

The negative influence of age was expected, as older pupils are usually those who had to repeat a year, or who interrupted education for a while and who are therefore less likely to continue education after graduating lower secondary school.

School performance indicates the interest of the young person towards education, thus the positive influence of this factor is self-explanatory. Still, it is important to point out this relationship, as poor performance at school can signal already at an early age the risk of school drop-out and the need for intervention by teachers and parents. The positive influence of computer skills could be considered as a side effect of school performance, but the correlation between the two is quite weak (Pearson Correlation=0.198), thus we can assume that the development of computer skills can be a way to prevent the school drop-out of pupils with lower general school performance.

Concerning the influence of commune-level characteristics, our results are consistent with those of Jigău and Surdu (2002), who concluded that general locality-related indicators, such as the number of inhabitants, the distance to the closest city, the development level and the occupational structure of the locality do not have a significant influence on school abandonment.

Being a sensitive issue, we did not ask questions regarding the ethnic background of our respondents, thus we cannot differentiate between the options of Roma and non-Roma pupils. Still, we can state that in the communes with a high percentage of Roma population the share of school dropout is also higher, confirming the results of earlier studies regarding the educational disadvantages faced by the Roma community.

The availability and the quality of education in the locality of domicile have a positive influence on the decision to study further. Qualified and committed teachers who spend enough time with each child could contribute in the prevention of school drop-out. The distance to the closest high school influences in a negative way the decision to continue education in a high school, meaning that pupils from more remote villages need extra support to overcome the negative impact of commuting.

To ensure a well-trained workforce for a knowledgebased, innovative economy, all children, including those from remote rural areas, must have access to quality education. Pre-school, primary and lower secondary school education must be organised as close as possible to where the children live, because transportation time and cost are limiting factors of school attendance.

Recognising the importance of parents' support in the decision regarding continuing education, educational policies must address the families in need, ensuring that no children are left out of education because of financial hardship or lack of information.

Recent strategies elaborated by the Romanian Ministry of Education (MEN, 2015, 2017) show that the authorities are aware of the problems faced by rural young people (higher rate of school failure and early school leaving, lower rate of successful baccalaureate exams, and lower rate of participation at all levels of education than for urban young people). Several measures have been proposed, starting from the modernisation of the educational infrastructure (e.g. 60 per cent of rural schools have no libraries and 72 per cent have no laboratories), to improve school transportation and accommodation facilities for those who have to travel to school, but also to recruit teachers willing to serve in more remote areas, to organise afterschool activities and to involve parents of children at risk of school abandonment. The long-term impact of these measures will depend on the resources allocated to and the continuity of the programmes implemented.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the financial support of the Transylvanian Museum Society, received for the data collection and analysis carried out in 2015 and 2016. We are also grateful to Pakucs Bernadett (2011 survey), and Balázs Angella and Tódor Beáta (2015 survey) for their involvement in data collection.

References

- Berryman, S.E, Gove, A., Sapatoru, D. and Tirca, A. (2007): Evaluation of the World Bank's Assistance to Basic Education in Romania. A Country Case Study. Washington DC: World Bank.
- Bertolini, P., Montanari, M. and Peragine, V. (2008): Poverty and social exclusion in rural areas: Final study report. Brussel: European Commission.
- Boudon, R. (1974): Education, Opportunity and Social Inequality: Changing Prospects in Western Society. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bourdieu, P. and Passeron, J.C. (1990): Reproduction in education, society and culture. London: Sage.
- Coleman, J.S. (1990): Equality and achievement in education. Boulder CO: Westview.
- Dávid-Kacsó, Á. (2010): The role of family factors in school outcomes at different school levels. Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia 55 (1), 57-70.
- EC (2006): Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament: Employment in rural areas: closing the jobs gap. COM(2006) 857 final. Brussel: European Commission.
- EC (2010): Europe 2020. A European strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. Brussel: European Commission.
- EC (2017): Europe 2020 Targets. Brussel: European Commission. Available online at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/4411192/4411431/Europe_2020_Targets.pdf (accessed 15 September 2017).
- Ékes, I. (2007): Munkaerő-piaci kilátások [Labour market outlook]. Statisztikai Szemle **85** (4), 304-308.
- Eurostat (2017): Headline indicators: scorecard [www document]. Available online at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/europe-2020-indicators/europe-2020-strategy/headline-indicatorsscoreboard (accessed 12 September 2017).
- Fazakas, K. and Kézdi, K. (eds) (2007): The Hungarian Labour Market. Review and Analysis 2007. Budapest: Magyar Tudományos Akadémia.
- Ginzberg, E. (1977): Toward a theory of occupational choice: a restatement, in A.J. Palmo (ed.), Career Development: Contemporary Readings. New York NY: MSS Information Corporation, 9-16.
- Green, A.E. and Hardill, I. (2003): Rural labour markets, skills and training. Final report. Coventry: Warwick Institute for Employment Research, University of Warwick.
- INS (2011): Rezultate [www document]. Available online at http:// www.recensamantromania.ro/rezultate-2/ (accessed 12 September 2017).
- INS (2017): National Institute of Statistics Tempo Online database. Available online at http://statistici.insse.ro/shop/?lang=en (accessed 19 August 2017).
- Jakimovski, J. (2010): The Socio-Demographic Context of Rural Poverty. Eastern European Countryside 16, 131-155. https:// doi.org/10.2478/v10130-010-0007-3
- Jigău, M. and Surdu, M. (2002): Participarea la educație a copiilor romi. Probleme, soluții, actori [Participation in education of

Roma children. Problems, solutions, actors]. București: Ministerul Educației și Cercetării.

- Kapitány, Zs., Molnár, Gy. and Virág, I. (2005): Háztartások a tudás- és munkapiacon [Households in the knowledge and labour market]. Budapest: Magyar Tudományos Akadémia.
- Kerekes, K. and Pakues, B. (2013): Occupational Choices of Romanian Rural Youth. Eastern European Countryside 19, 57-76. https://doi.org/10.2478/eec-2013-0004
- Kerekes, K. (2005): Ranking of the Rural Settlements form Cluj County According their Stage of Development, in M. Vincze (ed.), International Conference 'The Impact of European Integration on the National Economy'. Regional and Rural Economics Section. Cluj-Napoca: Risoprint, 189-196.
- Kerekes, K. (2007): Occupational choices of rural youth, in K. Kerekes (ed.), Competitiveness and European Integration International Conference. Regional and Rural Economics Section. Cluj-Napoca: Alma-Mater, 140-147.
- Kerekes, K. (2013): How realistic is to achieve the smart growth goal in Romanian rural areas? in M. Gather, A. Lüttmerding, J. Berding and G.P. Villarroel (eds), Proceedings of the 2nd EU-RUFU Scientific Conference 'Education, Local Economy and Job Opportunities in Rural Areas', Asti, Italy, 8 October 2013. Berichte des Instituts Verkehr und Raum 16, 44-54.
- Kerekes, K., Pakucs, B., Szőcs, E., Veres, E. and Vincze, M. (2010): Dezvoltare rurală. Ocuparea forței de muncă în mediul rural [Rural development. Employment in rural areas]. Cluj-Napoca: Accent.
- Kertesi, G. and Varga, J. (2005): Foglalkoztatás és iskolázottság Magyarországon [Employment and education in Hungary]. Közgazdasági Szemle 52 (7-8), 633-662.
- MEN (2015): Strategia privind reducerea părăsirii timpurii a şcolii în România [Strategy to reduce early school leaving in Romania]. Bucureşti: Ministerul Educației Naționale. Available online at https://www.edu.ro/sites/default/files/_fişiere/Invatamant-Preuniversitar/2015/Strategie-PTS/Strategia-PTS-2015. pdf (accessed 19 November 2017).

- MEN (2017): Strategia privind modernizarea infrastructurii educaționale 2017-2023 [Strategy on Modernising Educational Infrastructure 2017-2023]. Bucureşti: Ministerul Educației Naționale. Available online at https://www.edu.ro/sites/default/ files/Strategie%20SMIE_2017docx_0.pdf (accessed 19 November 2017).
- Meyer, W., Möllers, J. and Buchenrieder, G. (2008): Does non-farm income diversification in Northern Albania offer an escape from rural poverty? IAMO Discussion Paper No. 119. Halle (Saale): IAMO.
- OECD (2009): OECD Labour and Employment Ministerial Meeting 'Tackling the Jobs Crisis. The Labour Market and Social Policy Response'. Theme 3: Helping Youth to Get a Firm Foothold in the Labour Market. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Tudor, M.M. (2015): Small scale agriculture as a resilient system in rural Romania. Studies in Agricultural Economics 117 (1), 27-34. https://doi.org/10.7896/j.1503
- Vincze, E. and Harbula, H. (2011): Strategii identitare și educație școlară: raport de cercetare despre accesul copiilor romi la școală [Identity and school education strategies: research report on access of Roma children to school]. Cluj-Napoca: Editura Fundației pentru Studii Europene.
- Vincze, M., Kerekes, K. and Albert, E. (2005): Impact of CAP on Rural Employment. Case Study: Cluj County, in M. Vincze (ed.), International Conference 'The Impact of European Integration on the National Economy'. Regional and Rural Economics Section. Cluj-Napoca: Risoprint, 278-285.
- Voicu, B. and Vasile, M. (2010): Rural-Urban Inequalities and Expansion of Tertiary Education in Romania. Journal of Social Research & Policy 1, 5-24.
- WB (2007): Confronting the challenges of gender equality and fragile states. Global Monitoring Report. Washington DC: World Bank.
- WB (2008): Romania Poverty Monitoring Analytical and Advisory Assistance Program. Labor Market Vulnerabilities. Report No. 47487-RO. Washington DC: World Bank.

Blendi GËRDOÇI*, Engjell SKRELI**, Edvin ZHLLIMA** and Drini IMAMI**

Determinants of long-term business relationships in the dairy value chain in transition countries: the case of Albania

Building on transaction cost economics theoretical framework, we examined the determinants of long-term business relationships between farmers and buyers in the Albanian dairy chain in a context characterised by weak institutions and lack of formal contract. Logistic regression analysis was employed to test the model on primary data collected from a sample of 315 Albanian farmers engaged in the production of sheep and goat milk. The study results support our hypotheses that trust, uncertainty and investment in specific assets are key determinants of long-term relationships. Implications at managerial and policy-making levels are discussed. At a managerial level, dairy owners and managers need to build trust with farmers and mitigate uncertainties as a precondition for long-term relationships. At the policy level, the government subsidy schemes need to be further refined in order to motivate farmers to increase flock size and strengthen vertical relationships in the dairy value chain, the latter being a precondition also to achieve traceability and improve standards.

Keywords: trust, uncertainty, asset specificity

* Universiteti e Tiranës, Tiranë, Albania.

** Universiteti Bujqësor i Tiranës, Kodër-Kamëz, 1029, Tiranë, Albania. Corresponding author: ezhllima@ubt.edu.al

Introduction

Effective vertical coordination among value chain actors, from raw material producers to distributers, is considered to be a key source of competitiveness for firms operating in the agriculture sector (Hendrikse, 2007; Reynolds *et al.*, 2009). Much of the research focused on exchange relationships (e.g. Ménard and Valceschini, 2005; Reynolds *et al.*, 2009; Jang and Olson, 2010) emphasises the benefits of vertically-coordinated business relationships. Improved coordination can lead to higher business productivity (Dyer and Singh, 1998), reduce the uncertainty in food safety demand (Ménard and Valceschini, 2005) and improve farm profitability (Jang and Olson, 2010).

While the benefits of effective vertical coordination appear to be clear, building and maintaining such relationships poses considerable challenges. In the agriculture sector, coordination requires the development of sustainable business relationships (Perez *et al.*, 2010; Fischer, 2013), defined by Fischer and Reynolds (2010) as high-quality and stable inter-firm relationships. In addition, understanding the mechanisms and key driving forces that shape such relationships is of crucial importance. As argued by Williamson (1979), the type of variation in governance choices can be explained by the characteristics of transactions, thus mainly (a) the level of uncertainty, (b) the likelihood of recurrence and (c) the degree of asset specificity.

In addition to Transaction Cost Theory (TCT) original arguments (Williamson, 1979), the network in which a firm operates (suppliers, customers and competitors) affects its environment and behaviour, and thereby the type of governance (Powell and Smith-Doerr, 1994). As Ring and Van de Ven (1992) point out, exchange partners establish behavioural rules for processes such as conflict resolution, monitoring and renegotiation. Relational norms between exchange partners can develop with the intent of minimising bargaining costs stemming from asset specificity and uncertainty (Dow, 1987). Trust, as the main social component of relational exchange (Macneil, 1980), reduces both ex ante and ex post opportunism (Zaheer and Venkatraman, 1995). In addition, trust is a key factor influencing the level of satisfaction, commitment and long-term orientation of exchange relationships (Geyskens *et al.*, 2006).

Our paper focuses on one of the two dimensions of sustainable relationships: its durability (Fischer and Reynolds, 2010). We focus on repeated interactions and transactions over time, investigating factors influencing such long-term (durable) relationships, namely uncertainty, trust and asset specificity. While much research has been carried out in developed countries which are characterised by solid market institutions and regulative and legal infrastructure on determinants of long-term vertical business relationships (e.g. Batt and Wilson, 2000; Fischer, 2013), less evidence has been collected from developing or transition countries which face higher institutional voids (Bouis and Haddad, 1990). By testing our model in the Albanian dairy sector with data from a structured survey with farmers engaged in production of goat and sheep milk, we aim to bridge this gap. In addition, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study focusing on the supplier side of the Albanian dairy sector to apply a TCT perspective. We integrate social context into the TCT perspective by explaining how social mechanisms influence exchange relationships. Furthermore, the operationalisation of some constructs (e.g. asset specificity) brings new insights on the sector-specific characteristics that determine exchange business relationships with a focus on durability. Theoretical contributions and implication at a managerial and policy level are further discussed.

In the next section of this paper we provide an overview of the dairy sector, focusing on its importance, major trends, actors involved, value chain coordination dynamics and other relevant information. The subsequent literature review considers the role played by uncertainty, asset specificity and trust on sustainable relationships using the TCT perspective. The later sections cover methodology, analysis of the results, discussions of conclusions and policy and managerial implications.

Dairy sector overview

The livestock sector is the most important agri-food sector in Albania as it accounts for about half of the output value of agriculture. Within the livestock sector, dairy production is considered a priority sector for Albanian agriculture (MARDWA, 2014) as well as an important source of income and food, particularly for remote rural areas.

Milk production has been growing during the last decade: sheep milk production increased by 13 per cent and goat milk by 26 per cent during the period 2010-2015, while the increase in cow milk production for the same period was only 3 per cent. According to Albanian Institute of Statistics data, small ruminant (goat and sheep) milk production makes up around 15 per cent of the total milk production (the remaining 85 per cent comes from cows). While cow milk is produced throughout the year and is the basis for all types of local dairy products, sheep and goat milk is typically seasonal and almost exclusively used to produce cheese; the two main and traditional types of cheeses are white (feta-like) and kashkaval (hard yellow) cheese. The domestic market is dominated by locally-produced cheese, but exports are low or non-existent due to high production costs and lack of compliance with international safety standards.

The milk production, collection and distribution system is still very fragmented and characterised by small farms and dairies. Albanian Ministry of Agriculture data show that, during early 2010s, 85 per cent of farms with sheep had up to 50 heads and the situation is similar for goat farms. There are about 430 milk processing units in Albania, of which approximately 25 are large processors, processing more than 10 tonnes per day, 220 are traditional, seasonal dairy processing plants relying only on goat milk; however, the number of informal processors might be much higher.

The selected regions (targeted by our survey) account for slightly more than 50 per cent of the total small ruminant milk production. On the other hand, about half of the seasonal dairy processing units are located in these selected regions (dairy processors of various sizes). For large dairy processing units, it is not possible to delineate the region of supply, as they often buy milk from farms located in other regions too, while smaller/seasonal processors rely exclusively on local raw milk.

Exchange relationships in the Albanian agri-food sector are largely based on spot market or informal agreements; however, other forms of chain coordination are emerging in some sub-sectors. For example, agreements, both written and verbal (informal) types, are more common for greenhouse tomatoes (which have a strong export orientation) than for fruits/apples or other important sub-sectors (ISETNJ, 2017). In the dairy sector, farmers tend to sell directly to processing plants, usually small dairies (1-3 thousand litres per day), while selling to collectors or other intermediaries is a very rare practice. However, in some regions, large dairies have been building more complex cold chains that include milk collection points. Written contracts between cattle dairy farmers and processers are limited to only 4 per cent, while oral agreements are quite common (two thirds of farmers stated that they agree upon them). There are no available data regarding written contracts for goat and sheep milk.

As the domestic agri-food production is increasing, food safety is becoming a growing concern, particularly for the livestock/dairy value chain (Gjeci et al., 2016). The causes for the lack of quality and safety standards vary, but one main determinant is the weak coordination in the value chain (Dries et al., 2009). Despite the slow consolidation trend, the milk production, collection and distribution system is still fragmented and characterised by high levels of informality (from farm, processers, down to retail) and weak monitoring from state authorities, hence resulting in a lack of product traceability. Policy makers are aware of the need to improve supply chain coordination mechanisms and governance. The Albanian Intersectoral Agriculture and Rural Development Strategy 2014-2020 emphasises the importance of coordination by proposing specific support measures to strengthen vertical (and horizontal) cooperation (MARDWA, 2014).

Rationale and hypothesis development

Asset specificity and long-term business relationships

Asset specificity refers to durable and specialised investments in support of particular transactions with limited value in an alternative use (Williamson, 1985). The presence of specific assets can be thought of as creating switching costs (ibid). Asset specificity is the result of thin markets (Dorward and Kydd, 2004), leading firms to adopt governance structures that mitigate such risks. Dyer (1996) suggests that the presence of specific assets can lead to enhanced coordination and cooperation between business partners. Empirical research in the dairy sector shows that the rise in human, physical and site-specific assets increases the degree of vertical co-ordination (Banterle *et al.*, 2006). Hence, we posit that:

• Hypothesis 1: Investment in specific assets increases the likelihood of long-term business relationships.

Uncertainty and long-term business relationships

Uncertainty is a multi-faceted dimension of exchange relationships with a very diverse effect on governance choices. As Klein (1989, p.256) noted, "It appears that uncertainty is too broad a concept and that different facets of it lead to both a desire for flexibility and a motivation to reduce transaction costs". Hence, in analysing governance choice, we take into account different facets of uncertainty that might affect long-term relationships between dairy farmers and their buyers.

Milk producers face environmental and behavioural uncertainty in transactions with their buyers. Local supply and demand mismatch may contribute to price volatility and volume uncertainty (the volume requirements especially during the peak season are difficult to forecast). Farmers face behavioural uncertainty too, because of the unbalanced negotiating power compared to dairy owners, resulting in contractual (although only verbal) commitment uncertainties. However, these different facets of uncertainty are very often seen by farmers as intertwined with each other. Uncertainty about volumes and price is often linked with opportunistic behaviour of dairy owners (behaviour uncertainty), not to the external market factors, although this might be the case. Hence, in our study, a comprehensive and separate assessment of the role played by different facets of uncertainty in determining governance choice was quite challenging. However, we can hypothesise opposite outcomes depending on the role played by different facets of uncertainty.

Uncertainty can encourage the adoption of hierarchical or hybrid forms of governance as mechanisms to reduce transaction cost, since uncertainty can instigate adaptation and evaluation problems (Heide, 1994). This tendency is stronger when business partners are engaged in recurrent transactions, which is typical for the dairy sector. While noncooperative behaviour can be a proper strategy for discrete exchanges, the expectation of reciprocity encourages business partners to cooperate in on-going exchanges (Parkhe, 1993). As argued by Geyskens *et al.* (2006) we can expect parties to set up vertical coordination or relational types of governance in order to mitigate opportunism.

Volume uncertainty can also lead to hierarchical forms of governance (Walker and Weber, 1984). When suppliers perceive the market as unstable in terms of demand volumes, they might experience excess capacity. For milk producers, this situation can result in income loss. Since suppliers' volume variation can be managed more efficiently when both suppliers and buyers coordinate with each other, volume uncertainty increases the likelihood for hierarchical governance modes to arise (ibid.). From the buyer's perspective, increasing coordination is a way to reduce both food safety risks as suggested by Ménard and Valceschini (2005) and volume uncertainty (Walker and Weber, 1984). Hence, we posit:

 Hypothesis 2a: Uncertainty increases the likelihood of long-term business relationships.

On the contrary, some facets of uncertainty can encourage flexibility, leading business partners to choose spot market exchange over hierarchical or hybrid forms of governance. Behaviour uncertainty and environmental uncertainty might have this kind of impact on the exchange relationship.

In contrast to the arguments of Heide (1994) and Parkhe (1993), Suh and Kwonb (2006) argue that the presence of behaviour uncertainty lowers trust with detrimental effects on relational ties and the durability of the exchange relationship. Lack of fairness can seriously affect the relationship between business partners (Das and Teng, 2001; Ring and Van de Ven, 1992) and, finally, the outcome of such a relationship.

On the other hand, high levels of perceived environmental uncertainty may negatively affect the willingness of exchange partners to invest in durable relationships (Joshi and Campbell, 2003) motivating them to remain flexible and develop temporary relationships only (Ganesan and Hess, 1997). This reasoning is in line with the self-enforcing range of the contractual relationship, defined by Klein (1996) as the magnitude of the private sanctions that can be imposed on each transactor who attempts a hold-up. The author argues that an exchange relationship will continue as long as market prices stay within a certain range. On the contrary, if price volatility is high, beyond the self-enforcing range, the gains of breaching the contract exceed the sanctions, hence, eventually, breaking down the relationship.

Anecdotal evidence from Albania suggests that some dairy owners have (mis)used their stronger bargaining position, especially during periods characterised by supply-demand mismatch, lowering prices for raw milk. In some cases, they have also changed quality requirements and transport arrangements, leading to uncertainty among farmers. Farmers that are faced with opportunistic behaviour by a buyer might tend to search for alternative buyers. Even when prices change because of market factors and the change is not attributed to the dairy owner's opportunistic behaviour, commitment to long-term relationships is eroded. Therefore, based on this line of reasoning, our alternative hypothesis is that uncertainty, both related to market price volatility or buyer's behaviour, has negative effects on long-term relationships:

 Hypothesis 2b: Uncertainty lowers the likelihood of long-term business relationships.

Trust and long-term business relationships

In general, trust is an expectation into the future behaviour of others; it emerges after positive personal experiences (Luhmann, 2000). Governance will be enhanced with increasing levels of trust (Joshi and Stump, 1999). The expected pay-offs from cooperation deter trustworthy business partners from the pursuit of short-term gains, thereby limiting opportunistic behaviour (Poppo and Zenger, 2002). On the other hand, relational exchange is often based on informal agreements based on trust and reputation; thus trust serves as a substitute for contracts since the latter are too costly to write, monitor and enforce (Bromiley and Cummings, 1995). Thus, trust reduces both *ex ante* and *ex post* transaction costs by mitigating or eliminating opportunism (Zaheer and Venkatraman, 1995). Based on this reasoning, we expect trust to affect positively the durability of exchange relationships.

Empirical research confirms the role of trust in shaping exchange relationships. Sustainable and long-term relationships based on trust have been found to be an alternative to vertical integration and contracts for the German pork sector (Schulze *et al.*, 2006). Claro and Claro (2004) argue that mutual trust, joint actions and long-term orientation, in addition to formal contracts, are informal safeguard mechanisms adopted by partners in international coffee supply chains. Based on this evidence, our third research hypothesis is as follows:

 Hypothesis 3: The existence of trust between business partners increases the likelihood of long-term business relationships.

Methodology

Data

A structured farm survey using two-stage sampling took place during spring 2015. The first stage was purposive, consisting of a piloting process in various regions (with different characteristics), namely Shkodër, Kukës, Dibër (located in northern Albania), Berat, Korçë and Elbasan (located in central and eastern Albania). SPPS module of Complex Sample was used to select the sample. A sample of 15 villages was selected from all the villages in each region. In order to have a statistically solid subsample, 315 farmers were interviewed. The margin of error based on small ruminants' value chain subsamples is ± 5.6 per cent with a 95 per cent confidence interval (Israel, 1992). The questionnaire was designed to operationalise the constructs discussed in the following sub-section. The information was collected on: relationships between supplier and buyer, volume, price as well as level of uncertainty, trust and commitment of farmer towards his/her buyer. Information such as demographics (age, education, gender, household size and main employment), presence negotiation costs and horizontal cooperation was also gathered.

Measurements

The constructs and the operationalisation of variables are listed in Table 1 and discussed below.

Long-term business relationships. Following Fischer and Reynolds (2010), conceptualisation of sustainable relationships as a construct composed by a two dimension-quality and durability, we focus on the latter so as to capture the dynamicity of the relationship. Considering the lack of contractual governance and relational nature of the relationships, we build on operationalisation of Klein (1996) who refers to relational ties as the degree of a supplier's dedication to its buyer. Hence, we use repeated exchange with one or, very rarely, few (no more than two) selected buyers to measure a long-term relationship (in rare cases, when one dairy is seasonal, farmers that produce cow milk (in addition to goat and sheep milk) tend to sell their produce to two different dairies depending which one is operating in a particular season). Farmers were asked to state if they sell (usually) to one or very few selected buyers (in the above-mentioned circumstances), or if they are inclined to engage in spot market type of exchange relationships. The respondents were informed that the exchange needed to extend over a period of at least one year to be considered as repeated exchange with one buyer. This operationalisation is consistent with the empirical work of John and Weitz (1988) and Zaheer and Venkatraman (1995) who used similar measures. We use a binary variable to measure the level of repeated exchange to one/few partners.

Specific assets: Purchase of dairy-specific equipment and investment in a large flock of small ruminants is undertaken by farmers usually with the firm intent to specialise in milk production. These investments can be diverted to alternative uses only at a substantial cost. We argue that the more farmers specialise in milk production as their main agricultural activity and invest to increase their flock and other related investments (e.g. stables), the more their assets are specialised to the exchange relationship (e.g. quality requirements, milk source and type, storage and transport requirements). Hence, the flock size can be considered as an adequate measure of investment in specific assets for milk producers.

Empirical research confirms this important role of flock size in defining the nature of exchange relationships. Tsourgiannis *et al.* (2008) found that farm and farmers' characteristics such as the size of the flock, volume of milk production, farm income and debt affect the market channels choice of the small ruminant milk producers. Similar results were obtained by Bardhana *et al.* (2012). Following Dries and Swinnen (2010), who measured investment in specific assets in the dairy sector in Poland (including flock size) and the rationale above, we operationalise specific assets as the number of small ruminant heads and measure it as a logarithm of this number in order to linearise the relationship and avoid heteroscedasticity.

Trust: Consistent with the reasoning of Anderson and Narus (1990) and Zaheer and Venkatraman (1995), we included two items that measure the mutuality of trust and two others that measure behavioural trust. Each item is measured on a five-point Likert scale. The four-item construct yielded a Cronbach Alpha of 0.829.

Uncertainty: Zaheer and Venkatraman (1995) operationalised uncertainty through two indicators reflecting perceived

 Table 1: Constructs and measures.

Construct and concept	Operationalisation	Measurement
Dependent variable		
Long-term business relationship	Repeated exchange with selected buyer	<i>Binary</i> , 1=sell to reliable buyers, 0=spot market exchange type of relationships
Independent variable		
Specific assets	Flock size	Logarithm of flock size
Uncertainty	 The demand for our products is unstable The prices for our products are very unstable My buyer/s frequently changes/change the request for products qualities and standards 	Five-point Likert scale (1=strongly against; 5=strongly agree)
Trust	 I (as a supplier) can be trusted by my buyers I am very committed to the relationship with my main buyers The relationship with my buyers deserves maximum attention. Buyer/s is/are satisfied with my products 	Five-point Likert scale (1=strongly disagree, 5=strongly agree)
Controls		
Bargaining power of buyers	• The farmer operates in a region characterised by the presence of large buyers	<i>Binary</i> , 1=farmer conducts business in a region charac- terised by the presence of large dairy firms, 0=farmer conducts business in a region characterised by presence of small dairies
Cow milk production	• The farmer is engaged in production and selling of cow milk	<i>Binary</i> , 1=income from cow milk, 0=no income from cow milk

Source: own construction

uncertainty related to pricing and the new product introduction. However, in our case, farmers' uncertainty is also closely related to the volumes of milk bought by the processor. Based on this reasoning, we operationalise the construct using three items: uncertainty regarding volume, price and product specifications. Each item is measured on a five-point Likert scale. The Cronbach Alpha for this construct (0.793) is acceptable.

Controls

Bargaining power of buyers: Fischer (2013) argues that equal power distribution leads to sustainable relationships. Hence, strong bargaining power from buyers might negatively affect the long-term relationship. However, the presence of large dairies and their strong purchasing power might mitigate the farmers' perception of volume uncertainty, incentivising farmers to engage in long-term relationships. Consequently, we do not hypothesise a direction for this variable in our model, but rather include it as a control variable.

Cow milk production: Our research is focused on farmers engaged in small ruminant (goat and sheep) milk production. However, many farmers produce cow milk too. Using the same rationale for asset specificity, we might expect that production of cow milk might motivate farmers to build long-term relationships.

Empirical model

A binary logistic regression model is used to assess the determinants of farmers' likelihood to engage in long-term relationships. This model was selected considering the dichotomous nature of the dependent variable. This model has the following form:

$$\ln\left(\frac{P_i}{1-P_i}\right) = a + b_i x_i + \dots + c_i z_i + e \tag{1}$$

where P_i , the probability that the supplier *i* is engaged in long-term relationships; $1-P_i$, the probability that the supplier *i* engages in spot market exchange; *a*, a constant; x_i , z_i , the variables standing for dependent variables, specific assets, trust and uncertainty; and b_i , c_i , vectors of parameters to be estimated.

$$\frac{P}{1-P} = e^{a+b_{1X_{1}+C_{1Z_{1}}}}$$
(2)

The odds ratio for the case at hand should be interpreted as follows: one unit increase - says - in the level of uncertainty increases by e^{b_i} the ratio of probability that supplier engages in long-term exchange relationships to the probability that farmer does engage in spot market exchange.

Construct validity for the two perceptual independent variables

We performed a factor analysis with varimax rotation to test the validity of our perceptual independent variables (Annex). The results for trust design variable loaded reasonably high (0.893, 0.772, 0.843, 0.837). For uncertainty, all three factors also loaded high (0.796, 0.884, 0.840). Loadings were above the acceptable standard of 0.32 proposed by Tabachnick and Fidell (2007). After the validity tests, we concluded that the measures could be accepted to test the hypotheses.

Variables correlations and multicollinearity

The correlation coefficients between the independent variables are not significant (data not shown). In addition, Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) are around 1. Thus, there are no problems with multicollinearity.

Results

Descriptive statistics

The average size of the small ruminants' herd is small, around 87 animals (Table 2). There is a strong variability in flock size (SD=53.5). Both uncertainty and trust have means above average measurements used (Likert scale 1-5). This might appear counter-intuitive, but it can indicate that farmers trust their buyers at a personal level (behaviour trust) but are uncertain about price and quality requirements due to environment factors that affect both parties. Hence, we can assume that environmental uncertainty plays a significant role in the overall level of uncertainty perceived by farmers.

Of the 315 farmers, 173 (56 per cent) engage in spot market exchange and 139 (44 per cent) have long-term relationships with dairy owners and managers (Table 3). These data suggest a strong reluctance among farmers to coordinate with their buyers, showcasing the lack of coordination and resulting challenges in the dairy and livestock sector. These results appear to be consistent across the regions included in the survey. The only outlier is the region of Berat. This is one of the regions renowned for the presence of large processors in almost all agri-food sectors, including the dairy sector. Erzeni, a large milk processing company, for instance, has established long-term relationships with dairy farmers, including written contracts (ISETNJ, 2017). Anecdotal evidence suggests that large milk processors tend to invest more in supply chain coordination than smaller ones.

Table 2: Descriptive statistics (N=315).

Variables	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	
Flock size	30	200	86.7	53.5	
Uncertainty	1.00	5.00	3.59	0.84	
Trust	1.00	5.00	4.10	0.59	

Source: own data

Table 3: Numbers of farmers in long-term relationships versus spot

 market exchange by region.

Region	Sport market exchange	Long-term relationship
Shkodër	32	27
Kukës	35	13
Dibër	31	15
Elbasan	32	17
Berat	11	36
Korçë	35	31
Total	176	139

Source: own data

Regression model results: hypotheses tested

Table 4 depicts the results related to hypotheses 1, 2 and 3. There is a statistically significant, positive relationship between variables representing trust and flock size and the variable representing long-term business relationship, and a negative relationship between uncertainty and long-term business relationship.

The Hosmer and Lemeshow test, assessing the goodness of fit of a model, shows p > 0.05 (0.445), confirming the validity of our model. The classification table shows that 69.5 per cent of the outcome was predicted by our model compared to 55.9 per cent of the initial model. The Nagelkerke R Square shows that around 22 per cent of the variance can be attributed to the independent variables (only 7.4 per cent can be attributed to controls). The following interpretation is based on the final results of our analysis.

Investment in specific assets and long-term business relationship

As expected, the larger the flock size (investment in specific assets), the more likely farmers are to establish longterm business relationships with their buyers (p < 0.01 and exp(B)=1.956), as shown in Table 4 (i.e. *Hypothesis 1 is supported*). More accurately, for one unit change in flock size (or for an increase of 2.7 heads increase; we used the natural logarithm to the base of mathematical constant) the odds ratio of engaging in sustainable relationships almost doubles (exp(B)=1.956).

Flock size appears to be strongly related to long-term business relationship (Pearson's Chi square test shows a p < 0.05). Around 40 per cent of the farmers that engage in long-term relationships own more than 100 animals versus just 23 per cent of farmers engaged in spot market exchange (Table 5). These results suggest that farmers who have invested relatively large financial resources, owning sizable flocks, tend to mitigate uncertainty and the risk by building long-term business relationship with their buyers. Specialisation in milk production appears to make farmers more inclined to deal regularly with one buyer, since their investment has limited value in an alternative use compared to smaller farmers who can switch to other activities (e.g. homemade cheese).

Uncertainty and long-term business relationship

As hypothesised, the presence of uncertainty is negatively and significantly associated with long-term relationships (i.e. *Hypothesis 2b is also supported*). The parameter $\exp(B)$ is 0.886, statistically significant at p<0.5 (Table 4), showing that farmers are more likely to change buyers and engage in spot market type of exchange if uncertainty increases.

Descriptive statistics show that farmers who perceive higher levels of uncertainty tend to engage in spot market exchange. Chi square analysis shows a significant association between uncertainty and long-term business relationship (p < 0.05). Of the 176 farmers who engage in spot market exchange, 133 (i.e. around 76.0 per cent) perceive levels of uncertainty above the average, versus only 80 (57.5 per cent) out of the 139 farmers that engage in long-term relationships with their buyers. However, despite the expected differences, the level of uncertainty, as explained earlier, is quite high due to market factors.

Trust and sustainable relationships

Trust is positively and significantly associated with sustainable relationships (i.e. *Hypothesis 3 is supported as well*). The parameter $\exp(B)$ for *Trust* is 1.284 and it is statistically significant at p < 0.01 (Table 4), showing that farmers that trust their buyers are more inclined to engage in long-term business relationships. Descriptive analysis shows clearly that farmers engaged in long-term relationships have higher levels of trust in their buyers compared to those that engage in spot market exchange. Around 47 per cent of farmers engaged in long-term relationships claim to perceive high levels of trust compared to just 29 per cent of farmers that engage in spot market relationships (Table 6). Chi square analysis provides further confirmation of the significant association between trust and long-term relationships – the p-value is smaller than 0.05.

Finally, our results for the control variables (Table 4) show that our proxy for bargaining power of buyers is positively and significantly related to long-term business relationships ($\exp(B)=2.521$ and (p<0.001), while the variable standing for a mixed farm (versus a small ruminants farm) producing both sheep and goat milk and cow milk does not affect long-term relationships between farmers and their buyers (p>0.1).

Table 4: Results of the logistic regression.

Variable	В	S.E.	Wald	Sig.	$\exp(B)$
Bargaining power of buyers	0.925	0.262	12.436	0.000**	2.521
Cow milk production	0.197	0.261	0.571	0.450	1.218
Flock size	0.671	0.204	10.840	0.001**	1.956
Uncertainty	-0.121	0.051	5.591	0.018*	0.886
Trust	0.250	0.058	18.878	0.000**	1.284
Constant	-6.547	1.476	19.676	0.000**	0.001

Dependent variable: long-term business relationship; ** p<0.01, * p<0.1 Source: own data

 Table 5: Numbers of farmers in long-term relationships versus

 spot market exchange by flock size.

Flock size	Sport market exchange	Long-term relationship
30-50	83	42
51-100	52	41
101-150	27	31
151-200	14	25
Total	176	139

Source: own data

Table 6: Numbers of farmers in long-term relationships versus spot

 market exchange by level of trust.

Level of trust	Sport market exchange	Long-term relationship
Low	2	1
Average	123	73
High	41	65
Total	176	139

Source: own data

Discussion

Our study analysed the factors that influence the propensity of goat and sheep dairy farmers in Albania to build long-term relationships with their buyers using the TCT perspective. This is the first in-depth study focusing on the dairy sector exchange relationships in Albania, a research setting characterised by significant institutional voids and lack of contracts.

The research found that farmers' propensity to build longterm and sustainable relationships with their buyers is determined by mutual trust, uncertainty and investment in specific assets. The positive role of trust in shaping the exchange relationship gives credit to sociologists and network theorists arguing that relational ties based on trust will yield long-term relationships (e.g. Zaheer and Venkatraman, 1995; Dyer and Sing, 1998; Claro and Claro, 2004; Schulze *et al.*, 2006). However, long-term relationships and the recurrence of transactions can be viewed as the right conditions for trust between business partners to grow. Repeated exchange can allow for informal control through embeddedness (Granovetter, 1992) leading to higher levels of trust as suggested by Heide and John (1990). Hence, to understand better the causality of this relationship longitudinal, studies are needed.

Our research found that uncertainty is a strong predictor of exchange relationships and it has a significant negative effect on farmers' propensity to engage in long-term relationships. We argue that perceived behaviour uncertainty may have a detrimental effect on exchange relationships (see Ring and Van de Ven, 1992; Suh and Kwonb, 2006), leading farmers to opt for a spot market exchange. Furthermore, in particular periods of time and some local contexts, uncertainty might not be related to buyers' behaviour but rather to market dynamics. Price volatility can affect the exchange relationship as suggested by some scholars (e.g. Klein, 1996; Joshi and Campbell, 2003) leading farmers to break down the relationship. Unfortunately, in our study we are not able to separate the different effects of environment from behavioural uncertainty. Further research might address this shortfall.

Investment in specific assets is found to affect positively long-term relationships in line with TCE arguments (Williamson, 1983) and empirical research (e.g. Anderson and Weitz, 1992; Dyer, 1996; Banterle *et al.*, 2006). Flock size appears to be an adequate measure for specific assets (see Dries and Swinnen, 2010), constituting also an important factor that determines farmers' willingness to engage in long-term relationships. Long-term relationships appear to represent an 'insurance policy' that provide protection from the risk of not being able to sell high volumes of milk to dairies. On the contrary, smaller farmers whose small quantity can be processed on the farm and used for self-consumption have the 'luxury' to engage in spot market exchange.

Finally, our study appears to corroborate the role of buyer's bargaining power on exchange relationship. The result shows that farmers operating in areas characterised by the presence of large buyers tend to engage in long-term relationships. We can take some licence to speculate on the reasons behind such controversial findings, based on anecdotal evidence. Large buyers tend to pay on time and in full. Furthermore, they appear to apply fixed prices (at least, less volatile than smaller ones). Finally, having a strong purchasing power and large market share appears to serve as a guarantee for farmers. However, buyers' characteristics, behaviour and their role in exchange relationships should be further investigated.

Our results can help dairy owners/managers to build durable, long-term relationships with farmers and ultimately improve the outcome of their exchange relationships. They should consider improving communication and increasing information exchange with farmers in order to reduce uncertainty and build trust for both partners. On the buyers' side, especially large dairies, improved coordination and durability of the exchange relationship can mitigate volume uncertainty during the low season. Milk can be found relatively easily during the peak of production but it is rather difficult to 'scout' for new suppliers, hence increasing volumes, during the low season. Anecdotal evidence from the region of Berat and the results of our research indicate that large dairies in these areas tend to build long-term relationships with their supply base. As a result, they can manage volume uncertainties better. On the farmers' side, the role of the buyer in mitigating uncertainties, related to both behaviour and environment, can have beneficial effects on the durability of the relationship. Our results show that when farmers perceive low levels of uncertainty and high levels of trust, they tend to engage with one buyer only in durable relationships. Hence, price and quality specifications should not be very susceptible to eventual temporary supply and demand changes, such as seasonal production surpluses. Anecdotal evidence suggests that changes in the quality standards and price are not a rare phenomenon. Such practices adopted by dairy owners may lead to a farmer's lack of commitment to sustain a long-term exchange relationship. Buyers should make clear their terms and communicate with farmers on eventual changes in the market prices.

At the policy level, the impact of flock size on farmers' inclination to engage in long-term relationships may help the government to improve its policy instruments aiming to support farmers owning large flocks. The current policy of paying a price premium per litre delivered to dairies and milk collection points based on recorded transactions¹ may also be used for incentivising commercial (larger) farmers to establish closer relationships with buyers. A support scheme based on payments per head of small ruminants (minimum 100 to maximum 300 heads per farm) has been one of the main components in the government budgetary support (Volk, 2017). Conditioning this direct producer support scheme to the application of formal transactions between farmers and dairy owners might result in better chain coordination, formalisation of the sector and improved food safety.

This study has some limitations that caution against generalising the findings. Firstly, it focuses only on the small ruminant dairy value chain and the findings may not be entirely relevant to the rest of the dairy sector (relying on the cow milk). Secondly, our model explains a relatively small part of the variability of exchange relationships, focusing on only three, albeit important, variables. Future research should consider other explanatory variables related to exchange relationships in the dairy sector such as physical proximity (i.e. site specificity) (Joskow, 1985) of alternative

¹ Decision of the Council of Minister's No 91 dated 10 February 2016: "On determining basic criteria, sectors to be supported and measures of support, for year 2016".

clients (dairy processors) for dairy farmers, specialisation of both farm and dairy on some specific products that require a certain degree of coordination (i.e. inter-firm co-specialisation) (Dyer, 1996), power distribution (Fischer, 2013) as well as other regional and farm characteristics. Thirdly, the study investigated only the (farmer) supplier's side at a given moment - future research using longitudinal data collected by both sides of the dyad might help to better understand the dynamics of long-term business relationships including feeding back of long-term relationships on investment in specific assets and trust. And, lastly, while in our sample spot market exchange overweighs long-term relationships, there are areas where a sustainable relationship is clearly more widespread than in the rest of the sample. Understanding the determinants of such phenomena calls for further research, including the use of qualitative methods.

Acknowledgments

This study is based on a survey funded by the project Support to Agriculture and Rural Economic Development in Disadvantaged Mountainous Areas (SARED) under the Joint German-Danish support to agriculture and rural economic development in disadvantaged mountainous areas and commissioned by German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ).

References

- Anderson, E. and Weitz, B. (1992): The use of pledges to build and sustain commitment in distribution channels. Journal of Marketing Research 29 (1), 18-34. https://doi.org/10.2307/3172490
- Anderson, J.C. and Narus, J.A. (1990): A model of distributor firm and manufacturer firm working partnerships. Journal of Marketing 54 (1), 42-58. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252172
- Banterle, A., Stranieri, S. and Baldi, L. (2006): Voluntary traceability and transaction costs: an empirical analysis in the Italian meat processing supply chain. Paper presented at the 99th EAAE Seminar 'Trust and Risk in Business Networks', Bonn, Germany, 8-10 February 2006. Available online at https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/7722/1/sp06ba01.pdf (accessed 21 December 2017).
- Bardhana, D., Sharma, M.L. and Saxena, R. (2012): Market Participation Behaviour of Smallholder Dairy Farmers in Uttarakhand: A Disaggregated Analysis. Agricultural Economics Research Review 25 (2), 243-254.
- Batt, P. and Wilson, H. (2000): Exploring the nature of buyerseller relationships in the Western Australia wine industry, in A. O'Cass (ed.), Proceedings of the ANZMAC 2000 conference: Visionary Marketing for the 21st Century: Facing the Challenge, Gold Coast, Australia, 28 November – 1 December 2000, 61-66.
- Bouis, H. and Haddad, L. (1990): Agricultural commercialization, nutrition and rural poor: A study of Philippine farm households. Boulder CO: Lynne Rienner Press.
- Bromiley, P. and Cummings, L.L. (1995): Transaction costs in organizations with trust. Research on Negotiation in Organizations 5, 219-247.
- Claro, D.P. and Claro, P.B.O. (2004): Coordinating B2B crossborder supply chains: The case of the organic coffee industry. Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing **19** (6), 405-414.

https://doi.org/10.1108/08858620410556345

- Das, T.K. and Teng, B.S. (2001): Trust, control and risk in strategic alliances: An integrated framework. Organization Studies 22 (2), 251-283. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840601222004
- Dorward, A. and Kydd, J. (2004): The Malawi 2002 food crisis: the rural development challenge. The Journal of Modern African Studies 42 (3), 343-361. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0022278X04000229
- Dow, G.K. (1987): The function of authority in transaction cost economics. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 8 (1), 13-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2681(87)90019-9
- Dries, L. and Swinnen, J.F. (2010): The impact of interfirm relationships on investment: evidence from the Polish dairy sector. Food Policy 35 (2), 121-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2009.11.005
- Dries, L., Germenji, E., Noev, N. and Swinnen, J.F. (2009): Farmers, vertical coordination and the restructuring of dairy supply chains in Central and Eastern Europe. World Development **37** (11), 1742-1758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.08.029
- Dyer, J.H. (1996): Does governance matter? Keiretsu alliances and asset specificity as sources of Japanese competitive advantage. Organization Science 7 (6), 649-666. https://doi.org/10.1287/ orsc.7.6.649
- Dyer, J.H. and Singh, H. (1998): The relational view: Cooperative strategy and sources of interorganizational competitive advantage. Academy of Management Review **23** (4), 660-679.
- Fischer, C. (2013): Trust and communication in European agri-food chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal 18 (2), 208-218. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541311318836
- Fischer, C. and Reynolds, N. (2010): Collaborative advantage, relational risks and sustainable relationships: a literature review and definition, in C. Fischer and M. Hartmann (eds), Agri-food Chain Relationships. Abingdon: CAB International, 74-89. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845936426.0074
- Ganesan, S. and Hess, R. (1997): Dimensions and levels of trust: implications for commitment to a relationship. Marketing Letters 8 (4), 439-448. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007955514781
- Geyskens, I., Steenkamp, J.B.E. and Kumar, N. (2006): Make, buy, or ally: A transaction cost theory meta-analysis. Academy of Management Journal 49 (3), 519-543. https://doi.org/10.5465/ AMJ.2006.21794670
- Gjeci, G., Bicoku, Y. and Imami, D. (2016): Awareness about food safety and animal health standards – the case of dairy cattle in Albania. Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science **22** (2), 339-345.
- Granovetter, M. (1992): Problems of explanation in economic sociology, in N. Nohria and R.G. Eccles (eds), Networks and Organizations: Structure, Form and Action. Boston MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Heide, J.B. and John, G. (1990): Alliances in industrial purchasing: The determinants of joint action in buyer-supplier relationships. Journal of Marketing Research 27 (1), 24-36. https://doi. org/10.2307/3172548
- Heide, J.B. (1994): Interorganizational Governance in Marketing Channels. The Journal of Marketing 58, 71-85. https://doi. org/10.2307/1252252
- Hendrikse, G.W. (2007): On the co-existence of spot and contract markets: the delivery requirements as contract externality. European Review of Agricultural Economics 34 (2), 257-282. https://doi.org/10.1093/erae/jbm019
- ISETNJ (2017): National Economic Potentials of Contract Farming and Agriculture Cooperation in Albania 2016 – Steps on the Way Forward. ISETN (AUT). ProINVEST, Albania, PN 14.2273.2-001.00.
- Israel, G.D. (1992): Sampling the Evidence of Extension Program

Impact. PEOD5. Gainesville FL: University of Florida. Available online at http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PD/PD00500.pdf (accessed 21 December 2017).

- Jang, J. and Olson, F. (2010): The role of product differentiation for contract choice in the agro-food sector. European Review of Agricultural Economics **37** (2), 251-273. https://doi. org/10.1093/erae/jbq013
- John, G. and Weitz, B.A. (1988): Forward integration into distribution: an empirical test of transaction cost analysis. Journal of Law, Economics and Organization 4 (2), 337-355.
- Joshi, A.W. and Stump, RL. (1999): The contingent effect of specific asset investments on joint action in manufacturer-supplier relationships: An empirical test of the moderating role of reciprocal asset investments, uncertainty and trust. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 27 (3), 291-305. https://doi. org/10.1177/0092070399273001
- Joshi, A.W. and Campbell, A.J. (2003): Effect of environmental dynamism on relational governance in manufacturer-supplier relationships: a contingency framework and an empirical test. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science **31** (2), 176-188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070302250901
- Joskow, P.L. (1985): Vertical integration and long-term contracts: The case of coal-burning electric generating plants. Journal of Law, Economics and Organization 1 (1), 33-80.
- Klein, S. (1989): A transaction cost explanation of vertical control in international markets. Journal of Academy of Marketing Science 17, 253-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02729817
- Klein, B. (1996): Why hold-ups occur: the self-enforcing range of contractual relationships. Economic Inquiry **34** (3), 444-463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.1996.tb01388.x
- Luhmann, N. (2000): Familiarity, Confidence, Trust: Problems and Alternatives, in D. Gambetta (ed.), Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations. Oxford: University of Oxford, 94-107.
- Macneil, I.R. (1980): The New Social Contract: An Inquiry into Modern Contractual Relations. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- MARDWA (2014): Intersectoral Agriculture and Rural Development Strategy for the period 2015-2020. Tiranë: MARDWA.
- Ménard, C. and Valceschini, E. (2005): New institutions for governing the agri-food industry. European Review of Agricultural Economics 32 (3), 421-440. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurrag/jbi013
- Parkhe, A. (1993): Partner nationality and the structure-performance relationship in strategic alliances. Organization Science 4 (2), 301-324. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.4.2.301
- Perez, C., de Castro, R., Simons, D. and Gimenez, G. (2010): Development of lean supply chains: a case study of the Catalan pork sector. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal 15 (1), 55-68. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541011018120
- Poppo, L. and Zenger, T.R. (2002): Do formal contracts and relational governance function as substitutes or complements?

Strategic Management Journal 23 (8), 707-725. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.249

- Powell, W.W. and Smith-Doerr, L. (1994): Networks and economic life, in N.J. Smelser and R. Swedberg (eds), The Handbook of Economic Sociology (2nd edition). Princeton: Princeton University Press, 379-402.
- Reynolds, N., Fischer, C. and Hartmann, M. (2009): Determinants of sustainable business-to-business relationships in selected German agri-food chains. British Food Journal **111** (8), 776-793. https://doi.org/10.1108/00070700910980919
- Ring, P.S. and Van De Ven, A. (1992): Structuring Cooperative Relationships between Organizations. Strategic Management Journal 13 (7), 483-498. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250130702
- Schulze, B., Spiller, A. and Theuvsen, L. (2006): Is more vertical integration the future of food supply chains? Empirical evidence and theoretical considerations from German pork production, in J. Bijman, O. Omta, J. Trienekens, J. Wijnands and E. Wubben (eds), International agri-food chains and networks: Management and organisation, Wageningen: Wageningen Academic Publishers, 49-63.
- Suh, T. and Kwon, I.W.G. (2006): Matter over mind: When specific asset investment affects calculative trust in supply chain partnership. Industrial Marketing Management 35 (2), 191-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.02.001
- Tabachnick, B.G. and Fidell, L.S. (2007): Using multivariate statistics. Boston MA: Pearson Education.
- Tsourgiannis, L., Eddison, J. and Warren, M. (2008): Factors affecting the marketing channel choice of sheep and goat farmers in the region of east Macedonia in Greece regarding the distribution of their milk production. Small Ruminant Research **79** (1), 87-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2008.07.005
- Volk, T., Rednak, M., Erjavec, E. and others (2017): Monitoring of agricultural policy developments in the Western Balkans, JRC Technical Report. Brussel: European Commission.
- Walker, G., and Weber, D. 1984. A transaction cost approach to make or buy decisions. Administrative Science Quarterly 29, 373-391. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393030
- Williamson, O.E. (1979): Transaction-cost economics: the governance of contractual relations. The Journal of Law and Economics **22** (2), 233-261. https://doi.org/10.1086/466942
- Williamson, O.E. (1983): Credible Commitments: Using Hostages to Support Exchange. American Economic Review 73 (4), 519-540.
- Williamson, O.E. (1985): The Economic Institutions of Capitalism: Firms, Markets, Relational Contracting. New York NY: The Free Press.
- Zaheer, A. and Venkatraman, N. (1995): Relational governance as in inter-organizational strategy: An empirical test of the role of trust in economic exchange. Strategic Management Journal 16 (5), 373-392. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250160504

Annex: Factor analysis for perceptual measures with varimax rotation.

Items of three constructs	Factor*	
items of three constructs	F1	F2
I (as a supplier) can be trusted by my buyers	0.893	-0.089
I am very committed to the relationship with my main buyers	0.772	-0.068
The relationship with my buyers deserves maximum attention	0.843	0.019
Buyer/s is/are satisfied with my products	0.837	0.063
The demand for our products is unstable	0.050	0.796
The prices for our products are very unstable	-0.003	0.884
My buyer/s frequently changes/change the request for products qualities and standards	-0.112	0.840
Percentage variance explained	39.5	30.2

*Underlying dimensions as two factors: F1=trust, F2=uncertainty Source: own data

Sergei KHARIN*, Zuzana LAJDOVA** and Peter BIELIK**

Price transmission on the Slovak dairy market

There are problems in the functioning of the food supply chain related to price transmission and value-added distribution. Vertical price transmission analysis is an important research area in the aspect of the assessment of impact on the welfare at the producer, processor and retailer levels. The paper investigates vertical price transmission along the whole milk supply chain after the end of European Union milk quotas in the Slovak market using a vector error correction model. Monthly farm-gate, processor and retail prices in the Slovak Republic covering the period from 2010 to 2016 were used in the analysis. Using the Johansen co-integration technique, empirical evidence has been found for two co-integration equations between farmgate, processor and retail prices. We show that short-term and long-term bilateral causal relationships exist between prices at different market stages. The estimation of the price transmission elasticity supports the assumption that price changes are not transmitted efficiently from one level to another. However, symmetric price transmission exists between farm-gate and processor prices for whole milk in the long term. The perfect price transmission may also be due to recently emerging and strengthening the producer organisations that enable producers support their bargaining position in the supply chain.

Keywords: dairy sector, elasticity, price, vector error correction model

* Voronezh State University of Forestry and Technologies, ulica Timiryazeva 8, 394087 Voronezh, Russia. Corresponding author: kharins03@gmail.com; http:// orcid.org/0000-0003-0563-1269

Introduction

Prices drive resource allocation and output mix decisions by economic actors, and price transmission integrates markets vertically and horizontally (Meyer and von Cramon-Traubadel, 2004). As noted by Fousekis *et al.* (2016), vertical price transmission has attracted considerable attention in agricultural economics research for almost 50 years due to the fact that the magnitude and/or the speed at which shocks are transmitted from one market level to another has important welfare and policy implications. Likewise, Goodwin (2006) points out that the degree to which market shocks are transmitted along the marketing chain has long been considered to be an important indicator of the performance of the market.

Bakucs *et al.* (2014) studied explanations for the existence of price (a)symmetries and showed that asymmetric price transmission exists in farm-retail relationships with more fragmented farm structure, higher governmental support and more restrictive regulations on price controls in the retail sector. By contrast, more restrictive regulations on entry barriers in the retail sector and the relative importance of the sector can be favour symmetric farm-retail price transmission. Similarly, Santeramo and von Cramon–Taubadel (2016) mentioned that asymmetric vertical price transmission has been stimulated in several ways such as market power, adjustment costs, inventory management, government interventions, asymmetric information and perishability.

Early analyses typically used simple correlation statistics or ordinary least square regressions to evaluate the links between prices at different markets or processing stages, but these methods have been criticised for not recognising the non-stationary nature of data. Therefore, techniques such as co-integration and error correction models (Akdi and Berument, 2006; Lambert and Miljkovic, 2010; Baek and Koo, 2014; Castillo-Valero and García-Cortijo, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2017), dealing with non-stationary properties of time series, have been applied since 1987. Recently, nonlinear behaviour in price transmission has been tested using nonlinear threshold techniques (Goodwin and Harper, 2000; Ning and Sun, 2014; Hassouneh *et al.*, 2015). The relationship between variables might be locally linear, however globally it exhibits nonlinear behaviour due to the existence of structural changes in the relationship (Ihle and von Cramon-Taubadel, 2008).

Awokuse and Wang (2009) studied the effect of nonlinear threshold dynamics on asymmetric price transmission for U.S. dairy products (butter, cheese and fluid milk) and confirmed the presence of asymmetric price adjustments for butter and fluid milk, but not for cheese prices. Fałkowski (2010) investigated price transmission between farm and retail levels in Poland by using a vector error correction model (VECM) framework and found that price transmission is influenced by both short- and long-term asymmetries; moreover, the behaviour of prices in the fluid milk sector acts in accordance with the use of market power by the downstream sector. Further evidence of short-term and long-term asymmetries between milk prices of the marketing channel for Poland is provided by Bakucs et al. (2012), who concluded that the causality runs from the retail industry to the farm gate and considered, among others, dairy farm structure (individual farms and excessive herd fragmentation in Poland), market structure at the processing level (dairy cooperatives in Poland) and concave spatial demand as causes of (im)perfect pass-through of prices. Similarly, Reziti (2014) used an error correction model to test for asymmetric adjustments in the Greek milk sector and found that retail prices adjust if the producer price increases, not decreases, in the short term. Furthermore, the results confirm asymmetry in the long term, suggesting that retailers exercise market power over producers. Weber et al. (2013) show that the time lags in which changes are passed on between the different levels vary and conclude that price asymmetries occur within the supply chain of the German cheese market. In addition, asymmetric threshold VECMs, applied by Serra and Goodwin (2003), reveal asymmetries among farm and retail markets for a variety of dairy products in Spain. The reasons behind the weak response of farm prices to retail price shocks

^{**} Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Nitra, Slovakia.
may be partly explained by the lack of an organised contracting system and a scarcity of dairy farmer cooperatives that may limit the market power of farmers relative to the dairy industry, as well as their capacity to negotiate prices.

On the other hand, Weaver and Rosa (2016) provided strong evidence of symmetry in co-movement for the vertical dairy chain in Italy by using a parametric test of asymmetry in a multivariate VECM. Likewise, the price transmission was strong and symmetric for Danish milk from wholesale to retail in the long term (80-85 per cent), surveyed by Jensen and Møller (2007). Additionally, symmetric price transmission was found both in both the long and short terms in Hungary, due to the dominant position of large-scale agricultural enterprises, and FDI in the Hungarian dairy industry and emerged producer organisations; moreover the causality between Hungarian milk prices runs from the farm to the retail sector (Bakucs *et al.*, 2012).

Weldesenbet (2013) demonstrated asymmetric price transmission in the Slovak milk market from 1993 to 2010 in both short and long terms, meaning that retailers and wholesalers react more quickly to producer price increases than to declines. Similar results were obtained by Pokrivcak and Rajcaniova (2014), who stated that the retail sector has strong market power to influence upstream prices. Lajdová and Bielik (2015) used the VECM method to examine price asymmetries for liquid milk (semi-fat and durable semi-fat milk) in the Slovak dairy sector. Their research confirms asymmetric price adjustments and the imperfect market structure with the prevailing power on the demand side.

Milk production in Slovakia decreased significantly during the period 2007-2013 as a consequence of an increase in competitive pressure in the European Union (EU) market, growing imports of milk and milk products to Slovakia, unprofitable production of milk as well as under-capitalised Slovak agriculture (Matošková and Gálik, 2016). Under these circumstances, Slovak raw cow milk producers have suffered significant financial losses. This trend may continue, due to the Russian import ban on EU dairy products and the abolition of the EU milk quota in 2015. The EU market has been flooded by surplus milk and this was followed by a sharp fall in prices. In addition, processors may cancel or not renew existing supply contracts with raw cow milk producers. The past ten years of milk crises caused huge damage to the milk producers: the number of dairy cows fell by almost 31 per cent; milk deliveries declined by almost 15 per cent; the losses of milk producers reached almost EUR 450 million, and almost 35 per cent of enterprises exited milk production (Štefániková, 2017). Even if Slovak agriculture is dominated by large farms, the disproportionate power between small and large farmers who, in the partnership relationship, the mutual distrust between small and large-scale farmers leads

to a lack of cooperation or poor cooperation and their weak bargaining power. Moreover, differences in purchase prices (average milk prices in Slovakia do not reach the EU average level, according to Štefăniková, 2017) and unequal support mechanisms (the contribution from the national budget the lowest among all surrounding Member States) worsen the competitiveness of the Slovak dairy sector. Retailers can sell imported dairy products at competitive prices, thus the pricing decisions of producers are also driven by contractual relationships between the processors and retailers.

The main aim of this paper is to investigate vertical price transmission along the dairy supply chain in Slovakia in the light of price developments after the abolition of milk quotas in the EU. By focusing on the latest price developments after milk quota abolition, this study seeks to fill a gap in the literature. It also explores how market changes have altered vertical price transmission, and whether asymmetric price transmission still prevails in the supply chain.

Methodology

Econometric time series techniques were adopted for vertical price transmission analysis. The influence of price at one market stage on price at another is investigated using multiple linear regressions. Vertical price transmission analysis follows the algorithm outlined in Table 1. For the whole milk prices (farm-gate, processor and retail), the following steps have been implemented to identify the appropriate econometric model.

To avoid model misspecification, as a preliminary step of our price series analysis, we tested all the variables for the presence of unit root. For this purpose, several methodological options are available including the Augmented Dickey-Fuller [ADF] test (Dickey and Fuller, 1979) and the Phillips-Perron [PP] test (Phillips and Perron, 1988).

As a standard procedure to test the non-stationarity of price series the ADF test uses following regression:

$$P_{t} = c + \beta_{t} + \alpha P_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \psi_{i} \Delta P_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{t}$$
(1)

where P_t is the natural logarithm of the price, *c* is the intercept and *t* is the linear time trend.

In order to select the highest number of lags for our test, we applied the common rule suggested by Schwert (1989). The number of the optimum lags in the models is chosen based on the Akaike (1973) information criterion (AIC).

The PP test builds on ADF test. While the ADF test uses a parametric autoregression, a great advantage of the PP test is that it is non-parametric. The main disadvantage of the PP test is that it works well only in large samples. And it also

 Table 1: Algorithm for conducting the vertical price transmission analysis.

Step	Test	Result	Action
1	<i>Stationarity</i> test of time series for unit root	Stationarity	Perform test for Granger Causality and estimate vector autoregressive[VAR]model with stationary data.
		Non-stationarity	Move to step 2.
2	Cointegration test	Exists	Estimate the long- and short-term relationships within the framework of a VECM.
		No	Perform the Granger Causality test and estimate VAR model using logarithmic prices in first differ-
			ences

Source: based on Kharin (2015)

shares disadvantages of ADF tests: sensitivity to structural breaks, poor small sample power resulting.

There might be a linear combination of same integrated time series that is stationary. Co-integration analysis is used to estimate long-term price relationships between nonstationary and same integrated variables. Given that some price series might be non-stationary, we applied the Johansen approach to determine whether the three series are co-integrated and to identify the number of co-integrating equations by providing likelihood ratio tests based on the trace statistic and maximum eigen value (Johansen, 1988; Johansen and Joselius, 1990). We relied on trace statistic because it tends to have superior power in empirical papers (Lutkepohl *et al.*, 2001). Although co-integration implies that causality exists between price series, it does not indicate the direction of the causal relationship.

If the presence of the long-term relationships between variables is detected, then the vector error correction (VEC) model is estimated.

VECM is a restricted vector autoregressive (VAR) model. The VEC modelling can be written by specifying an unrestricted VAR of order k as follows:

$$P_{t} = c + A_{1}P_{t-1} + \dots + A_{k}P_{t-k} + \gamma_{0}Y_{t} + \gamma_{1}Y_{t-1} + \dots + \gamma_{m}Y_{t-m} + \upsilon_{t}$$
(2)

where *c* is the intercept, P_i is a (3x1) vector of all endogenous variables defined in the model (natural logarithms of the farm-gate, processor and retail prices); Y_i is a vector, including all exogenous variables; $A_1 \dots A_k$ and $\gamma_0 \dots \gamma_m$ - matrices, including the coefficients to be estimated; v_i - (3x1) vector of i.i.d normal disturbances with zero mean and covariance matrix Σ .

The lag length is determined based on the AIC, the Schwartz-Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC; Schwarz, 1978) and Hannan-Quinn Information Criterion (HQIC; Hannan and Quinn, 1979). When all three agree, the selection is clear, but there may be conflicting results. Ivanov and Kilian (2001) suggest that, in the context of VAR models, AIC tends to be more accurate with monthly data, HQIC works better for quarterly data on samples over 120 observations and BIC works fine with any sample size for quarterly data. Having monthly data, we rely on AIC.

Equation 2 can be adjusted in the form of vector autoregressive in differences and error correction components:

$$\Delta P_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \Gamma_{i} \Delta P_{t-i} + \prod P_{t-1} + \sum_{j=0}^{m} \gamma_{j} Y_{t-j} + \upsilon_{t}$$
(3)

Equation 3 is obtained from the level VAR (equation 2) by subtracting $P_{i,1}$ from the both sides. Γ_i is the (3x3) matrix of parameters for an *i* order lag process that capture short-term relationships. Π is the (3x3) matrix that represents long-term dynamics, where $\Pi = \alpha \beta'$, α includes the speed of adjustment coefficients to equilibrium (or error correction term, ECT) and β' is the co-integrating vector in the long term. Since the prices are expressed in logarithms for our analysis, the coefficient β is the long-term elasticity of price transmission.

The VECM indicates the direction of causality among prices and allows us to distinguish between 'short-term' and 'long-term' Granger causality. When the variables are co-integrated, then in the short term, deviations from this long-term equilibrium will feed back on the changes in the dependent variable so as to force the movement towards the long-term equilibrium.

The Wald χ^2 -tests (or F-tests) of the differenced explanatory variables give us an indication of the short-term causal effects, whereas the long-term causal relationship is implied through the significance or t-test(s) of the lagged ECT, which contains long-term information since it is derived from the long-term co-integrating relationships. The long-term causality can be tested by looking at the significance of the speed of adjustment (α), which is the coefficient of the ECT.

Results

The price transmission analysis was carried out using monthly observations from January 2010 to November 2016 at the farmer, processor and retailer levels in the Slovak Republic. Observations relate to nominal prices for cow whole milk. The data sources are the 'Price indices and average prices in agriculture and forestry' data of the Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic (available online at http://www. statistics.sk/pls/elisw/MetaInfo.explorer?cmd=go&s=100 3&sso=3&so=16) and the online database of the Research Institute of Agricultural and Food Economics in Bratislava (www.vuepp.sk). We use the logarithmic transformation of monthly prices measured in EUR per litre (excluding VAT). From an economic point of view, the transformation allows us to interpret the results in percentage change terms and calculate the price elasticity. Analyses between prices commonly use logarithms because, with trending data, the relative error declines through time (Banerjee et al., 1993).

The development of whole milk prices at various levels during the period 2010-2016 is shown in Figures 1 and 2. The mean value of farm-gate price of raw cow milk (class I in quality) equals EUR 0.27 per litre, whereas the average value of processor and consumer prices is EUR 0.52 and 0.72 per litre respectively (Table 2). The coefficient of variation is higher for farm-gate price series in comparison with another price series. Processor and retail prices are less dispersed around the mean value. The standard deviation is rather low (Table 2), so prices are close to the mean of our samples.

Using the methodology described above, we started the price series analysis with the unit root tests. Visual examination of the price series graphs suggests that the model for unit root test should contain a constant and a time trend. Price series stationarity was checked with the ADF and PP tests.

Table 2: Descriptive statistics of whole milk prices (EUR per litre), January 2010 – November 2016.

Farm-gate	Processor	Retail
0.26759	0.51566	0.72301
0.28	0.52	0.73
0.20	0.40	0.63
0.30	0.62	0.82
0.028737	0.048795	0.055188
-0.68724	-0.28163	-0.11008
0.10739	0.094626	0.07633
-0.87501	-0.17711	-1.2161
	0.26759 0.28 0.20 0.30 0.028737 -0.68724 0.10739	0.26759 0.51566 0.28 0.52 0.20 0.40 0.30 0.62 0.028737 0.048795 -0.68724 -0.28163 0.10739 0.094626

Data source: Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic

Logged price veriable	Model		Augmented Dickey-Fuller test				Phillips-Perron test			
Logged price variable	Model	Lag	Levels	Lag	First difference	Lag	Levels	Lag	First difference	
Forme goto	Trend & Intercept	3	-2.276	9	-4.689***	3	-2.280	9	-8.633***	
Farm-gate	Intercept only	3	-1.984	9	-2.096	3	-1.897	9	-8.293***	
D	Trend & Intercept	2	-2.439	1	-5.081***	2	-2.452	1	-10.297***	
Processor	Intercept only	2	-1.919	1	-5.118***	2	-1.903	1	-10.326***	
D (1	Trend & Intercept	4	-0.418	3	-4.475***	4	-0.479	3	-8.640***	
Retail	Intercept only	4	-1.777	3	-2.751*	4	-1.453	3	-8.098***	

Table 3: Unit root test results.

Note: */**/*** null hypothesis of non-stationarity rejected at the 10%, 5% and 1% levels of significance

Source: own calculations

The optimal lag order was determined based on AIC. The null hypothesis is rejected if the critical value is greater than the test statistic (p-value is less than level of significance). The results are summarised in Table 3. The null hypothesis of stationary price series in levels was rejected for all variables. Tests based on first differences show that all the test statistics are significant. Hence, we can conclude that all price variables are integrated of the order one, I (1).

After establishing the order of integration for each variable, we checked whether they are co-integrated. Given non-stationary price variables of the same order, we ran a Johansen co-integration test in order to reveal if the price series are co-integrated and to determine the number of cointegrating equations. The lag length was identified based on the AIC as a result of VAR modelling with constant and a linear trend. The Johansen co-integration technique discovered two co-integrating equations, according to the trace and L_{max} test, as the null hypotheses of r=0 and $r\leq 1$ (against the alternatives r > 0 and r > 1 respectively) are rejected at the 5 per cent significance level, whereas the null of r=2cannot be rejected (Table 4). Hence, the price series are cointegrated and demonstrate long-term relationships within the analysed period. Therefore, we estimated a VECM with two co-integrating relationships.

The co-integration analysis does not identify any information about the causality direction; however, causality is investigated by means of VECM. Co-integration implies causality in at least one direction. This is indicated by the significant α -parameter. Given co-integration between variables, the VECM is estimated (Table 5). The VECM form with unrestricted constant consists of 12 lags order, which was set by AIC in the VAR model, and three endogenous variables. Ljung-Box (1978) and ARCH tests indicate that the VECM is well specified, residuals do not suffer from serial autocorrelation and there is no heteroscedasticity at the 1 per cent or 5 per cent levels of significance. The Doornik-Hansen (2008) test on the residuals was performed to check whether the residuals are normally distributed. The null hypothesis of multivariate normality cannot be rejected at only the 1 per cent of significance level according to the p-value (0.0141)and the residuals are normally distributed, that is desirable.

Theoretically, the VEC model reveals expected signs for explanatory variables in the long-term period. The coefficients in the long-term relationship are long-term elasticities. Each coefficient measures the corresponding magnitude of change in the dependent variable following a percentage change in a particular explanatory variable. Thus, a 1 per cent increase in retail prices leads to a 0.39 per cent and 0.4 per cent increase in farm-gate and processor prices respectively.



Figure 1: Price series for whole milk in the Slovak Republic, January 2010 – November 2016.

Data source: Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic



Figure 2: Price series in logarithms for whole milk in the Slovak Republic, January 2010 – November 2016 Data source: Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic

Table 4: Johansen co-integration test.

Hypothesised number of co-inte- grating equation(s)	Eigen value	Trace test	p-value	Lmax test	p-value
None (r=0)**	0.27284	42.716	0.0008	22.621	0.0284
At most 1 (r≤1)**	0.22887	20.095	0.0083	18.452	0.0087
At most 2 ($r \le 2$)	0.02287	1.6424	0.2000	1.6424	0.2000

Note: ** denotes rejection of the null (0 or 1 co-integration vectors) at the 5% significance level

Source: own calculations

Table 5: Results of VECM estimates.

Co-integrating equation		del 1		del 2
	CointEq1	CointEq2	CointEq1	CointEq2
L_FP _{t-1}	1.0000	0.0000	-2.5013	-1.0006
/t_t-1	(0.0000)	(0.0000)	(0.55765)	(0.18824)
WP _{t-1}	0.0000	1.0000	0.0000	1.0000
t-1	(0.0000)	(0.0000)	(0.0000)	(0.0000)
$-RP_{t-1}$	-0.39979	-0.40003	1.0000	0.0000
	(0.21176)	(0.16784)	(0.0000)	(0.0000)
Error Correction Term (α)	DL_FP	DL_WP	DL_RP	DL_WP
CointEq1	-0.36287***	0.20625	-0.08511**	0.12774
CointEq2	0.10224	-0.52546**	0.27129**	-0.52546**
ntercept	-0.36987***	-0.03761	0.07415	-0.03761
L_FP _{t-1}	-0.17688	0.30883	0.13875	0.30883
L_FP _{t-2}	-0.06701	-0.10640	-0.05759	-0.10640
L_FP _{t-3}	0.31348**	-0.05179	-0.07421	-0.05179
L_FP _{t-4}	0.18059	-0.39200*	0.05744	-0.39200*
L_FP _{t-5}	0.10377	0.02094	-0.08029	0.02094
L_FP _{t-6}	0.02265	0.43063*	0.01208	0.43063*
L_FP _{t-7}	0.15574	0.48106*	0.11198	0.48106*
L_FP _{t-8}	-0.32855*	-0.74252***	0.18651	-0.74252***
L_FP _{t-9}	-0.02483	-0.06440	0.02716	-0.06440
L_FP _{t-10}	-0.08709	0.00015	-0.04159	0.00015
L_FP _{t-11}	0.10142	0.14376	0.07482	0.14376
L_WP _{t-1}	0.00661	0.44795*	-0.23661*	0.44795*
L_WP _{t-2}	0.07403	0.74568***	-0.19613*	0.74568***
L_WP_{t-3}	0.04870	0.05501	-0.09010	0.05501
L_WP _{t4}	-0.22968*	0.35608*	-0.15389	0.35608*
L_WP_{t-5}	-0.08944	0.36324*	-0.16923*	0.36324*
$L_WP_{t-6}^{-1.5}$	-0.09985	0.08928	0.03784	0.08928
L_{WP}^{-1}	-0.33538**	0.10483	-0.13890	0.10483
L_WP_{t-8}	0.05485	0.41680*	-0.07207	0.41680*
$L_{\rm WP}^{\rm W2}$	-0.00878	0.05248	-0.01379	0.05248
L_WP_{t-10}	-0.10496	-0.08057	-0.12147	-0.08057
$L_{t_{t_{10}}}$	0.15161	0.60315***	0.00036	0.60315***
$L_{RP_{t-1}}$	0.39840	0.91610***	0.06806	0.91610***
L_RP _{t-2}	0.47626**	0.14982	-0.30448*	0.14982
	0.19113	-0.17617	-0.00286	-0.17617
L_RP _{t-3}	0.42682*	1.05387***	0.04856	1.05387***
L_RP _{t4}				
L_RP _{t-5}	0.03961	-0.24015	-0.05203	-0.24015
L_RP _{t-6}	0.29301	-0.29509	0.02264	-0.29509
L_RP _{t-7}	0.11392	0.36956	-0.27381	0.36956
L_RP _{t-8}	-0.03783	-0.64339*	-0.20325	-0.64339*
L_RP _{t-9}	0.10722	0.22455	-0.34467**	0.22455
L_RP _{t-10}	-0.10541	0.29304	-0.43781**	0.29304
L_RP _{t-11}	0.50256	0.43628	0.10969	0.43628
2	0.75784	0.73669	0.67987	0.73669
dj R ²	0.51567	0.47338	0.35975	0.47338
-statistic, <i>p-value</i>	3.53e-19	7.97e-24	2.03e-18	7.97e-24
W-statistic	2.01719	2.10986	2.02855	2.10986
um squared residuals	0.01411	0.02701	0.00638	0.02701
.E. of regression	0.02008	0.02778	0.01351	0.02778
utocorrelation (Ljung-Box test), p-value	0.98	0.351	0.929	0.351
RCH test, <i>p-value</i>	0.8742	0.86146	0.78916	0.86146
Normality of residuals (Doornik-Hansen test), <i>p-value</i>	0.0141	0.0141	0.0141	0.0141

Note: */**/*** – statistically significant at the 10%, 5% and 1% levels of significance; standard errors in parentheses; L_FP – farm-gate price in logarithms, L_WP – processor price in logarithms, L_RP – retail price in logarithms

Source: own calculations

In return, a 1 per cent rise of farm-gate price results in an increase in the retail price of 2.5 per cent; therefore, an imperfect market structure is demonstrated, where retailers have a stronger market power than other agents. Interestingly, perfect price transmission exists between farm-gate and procession exists between farm-gate and procession.

sor prices for whole milk. A 1 per cent rise of processor prices leads to an approximately 1 per cent increase in farm-gate prices. The findings also indicate that the ECT coefficients are statistically significant at the 5 per cent level. All the coefficients carry the negative sign, indicating the stability of the

system and the convergence towards equilibrium if any disturbance appears in the system. Thus, we can see long-term causality from variable L RP to L FP and vice versa, from L RP to L WP and from L FP to L WP, because the speed of adjustment towards long-term equilibrium is significant and the sign is negative. The ECTs show how fast each variable reaches equilibrium. The higher the value, the faster the reaction. The ECT of ΔL WP is statistically significant at the 5 per cent level and carries the negative sign. This implies that the restoration to the equilibrium path will not take a long time due to the fact that the α -value (0.52546) is high enough. The ECT of ΔL FP is statistically significant at the 1 per cent level and carries the negative sign; however, the restoration to the equilibrium path will take longer than the processor price restoration due to the fact that the α -value (0.36287) is smaller. In the case of the retail price movement to equilibrium, it will take rather long time because the α -value (0.08511) is quite small. Thus, the co-integrating vector, in combination with significant and negative error correction terms, indicates long-term causality. The remaining lags in first differences in the VECM are used to test for short-term Granger causality by means of the Wald test. The null of no causality for all the price pairs can be rejected at the 5 per cent level of significance (Table 6). In summary, we found reasonable evidence of short-term causality from the farm-gate to retail prices and vice versa; from processor to farm-gate prices and vice versa; from retail to processor prices and vice versa.

Discussion

In this paper, we investigated price transmission along the whole milk supply chain in the Slovak Republic by taking into account the price development after the abolition of milk quotas in the EU. Monthly farm-gate, processor and retail prices in natural logarithms during the period from January 2010 to November 2016 were used in our analysis. Vertical price transmission was evaluated in the co-integration framework, using the Johansen approach, which confirmed the cointegration between price variables and determined two cointegrating vectors. Based on the VECM, we found evidence that market power is on the demand side and retailers have a dominant position, therefore, imperfect price transmission is confirmed. In the long term, a 1 per cent increase in retail prices leads to a 0.39 per cent and 0.4 per cent increase in farm-gate and processor prices respectively. Similarly, the existing studies on the period before the end of milk quota suggest that retail prices respond asymmetrically to increases and decreases in producer prices (Weldesenbet, 2013; Lajdová et al., 2015). Interestingly, the findings of Bakucs et al. (2013) that (a) the less balanced the bargaining power of farmers and retailers, the more likely one should observe asymmetric price transmission, and (b) farm-retail price transmission asymmetry is likely to occur when retailers' turnover relative to food manufacturing turnover (per enterprise) is higher, might also explain the asymmetry in the Slovak dairy sector. However, perfect price transmission exists between farm-gate and processor prices for whole milk in the long term. Given this, the findings reveal that the recent emergence and strengthening of the producer organisations enable producers to support their

Table 6: Short-term	Causality Wald	Test results ($df=11$).
---------------------	----------------	---------------------------

Dependent variable	Excluded variables	χ^2	p-value
ΔL FP	ΔL_WP	26.8334	0.00487
ΔL_ΓP	ΔL_{RP}	34.6938	0.00028
	ΔL_FP	53.2896	0.00000
ΔL_WP	ΔL_RP	54.7952	0.00000
	ΔL_FP	32.7590	0.00058
ΔL_{RP}	ΔL_WP	22.1784	0.02303

Source: own calculations

bargaining position in the supply chain. The unfavourable situation after the end of milk quota, resulting in a fall in the number of milk producers, might also have contributed to the increased willingness for cooperation. There is evidence, provided by Lajdova et al. (2015), that opposite results held for semi-fat milk prices during the period 2003-2011, where the price adjustment from processor to producer was symmetric, but asymmetric vice versa. This may indicate that the lack of an organised contracting system before the abolition of the EU milk quota may have limited the market power of farmers relative to the dairy industry and their capacity to negotiate prices (Serra and Goodwin, 2003). The retail price movement to equilibrium is slow due to the small α -value (0.08511); meanwhile, the processor and farm-gate price restoration to the equilibrium path will take a comparatively short time. There is a two-way short-term Granger causality between processor and retail prices, farm-gate and retail prices, processor and farm-gate prices. These results are consistent with the findings of Weldesenbet (2013) and Pokrivčák and Rajčániová (2014), who conclude that the changes in producer prices cause changes in the retail prices as well as there is a causality feedback from the retail to producer prices.

We suggest the following measures in order to stabilise the dairy sector and mitigate the price asymmetry. Firstly, it is important to balance the subsidy and regulatory environment and avoid cutting off state support: the support system for the milk producers must be effective and sustainable. It is also necessary to prevent the import of milk and dairy products at dumping prices. Besides, there is also scope for improving the transparency in price formation along the supply chain; furthermore; distribution margin and the abuse of the dominant market position of retailers must be solved at the EU level.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the AgroBioTech Research Centre that was built in accordance with the project *Building an 'AgroBioTech' Research Centre*, ITMS 26220220180.

References

- Akaike, H. (1973): Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle, in B.N. Petrov and F. Csaki (eds), Proceedings of the 2nd International Symposium on Information Theory. Budapest: Akademiai Kiado, 267-281.
- Akdi, Y. and Berument, H. (2006): The relationship between different price indices: Evidence from Turkey. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 360, 483-492. https://doi.

org/10.1016/j.physa.2005.05.037

- Awokuse, T.O. and Wang, X. (2009): Threshold Effects and Asymmetric Price Adjustments in U.S. Dairy Markets. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics 57, 269-286. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7976.2009.01151.x
- Baek, J. and Koo, W.W. (2014): On the upsurge of U.S. food prices revisited. Economic Modelling 42, 272-276. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.econmod.2014.06.018
- Bakucs, Z., Falkowski, J. and Fertő, I. (2012): Price transmission in the milk sectors of Poland and Hungary. Post-Communist Economies 24, 419-432. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631377.20 12.705474
- Bakucs, Z., Falkowski, J. and Fertő, I. (2013): What causes asymmetric price transmission in agri-food sector? Meta-analysis perspective. Discussion paper MT-DP 2013/3. Institute of Economics, Research Centre for Economic and Regional Studies, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary. Available online at: http://econ.core.hu/file/download/mtdp/MTDP1303.pdf (accessed 15 October 2017).
- Bakucs, Z., Falkowski, J. and Fertő, I. (2014): Does Market Structure Influence Price Transmission in the Agro-food Sector? A Meta-analysis Perspective. Journal of Agricultural Economics 65, 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-9552.12042
- Banerjee, A., Dolado, J., Galbraith, J.W. and Hendry, D.F. (1993): Co-Integration, Error-Correction, and the Econometric Analysis of Non-Stationary Data. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Available online at: http://www.oxfordscholarship.com/view/10 .1093/0198288107.001.0001/acprof-9780198288107 (accessed 15 April 2017). https://doi.org/10.1093/0198288107.001.0001
- Castillo-Valero, J.S. and García-Cortijo, M.C. (2015): Price adjustment in world wine markets: A cointegration analysis. Wine Economics and Policy 4, 128-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wep.2015.05.004
- Dickey, D.A. and Fuller, W.A. (1979): Distribution of the estimators for autoregressive time series with a Unit Root. Journal of the American Statistical Association **74**, 427-431.
- Doornik, J.A. and Hansen, H. (2008): An omnibus test for univariate and multivariate normality. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics **70**, 927-939. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.2008.00537.x
- Fałkowski, J. (2010): Price transmission and market power in a transition context: evidence from the Polish fluid milk sector. Post-Communist Economies 22, 513-529. https://doi.org/10.10 80/14631377.2010.518477
- Fousekis, P., Katrakilidis, C. and Trachanas, E. (2016): Vertical price transmission in the US beef sector: Evidence from the nonlinear ARDL model. Economic Modelling 52, 499-506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2015.09.030
- Goodwin, B.K. (2006): Spatial and Vertical Price Transmission in Meat Markets. Paper prepared for the workshop on Market Integration and Vertical and Spatial Price Transmission in Agricultural Markets, University of Kentucky, Lexington, USA, 21 April 2006. Available online at https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/267839609_Spatial_and_Vertical_Price_Transmission_in_Meat_Markets (accessed 9 May 2017).
- Goodwin, B.K. and Harper D.C. (2000): Price Transmission, Threshold Behavior, and Asymmetric Adjustment in the U.S. Pork Sector. Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics 32, 543-553. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1074070800020630
- Hannan, E.J. and Quinn, B.G. (1979): The determination of the order of an autoregression. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society 4, 190-195.
- Hassouneh, I., Serra, T. and Bojnec, S. (2015): Nonlinearities in the Slovenian Apple price transmission. British Food Journal 117, 461-478. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-03-2014-0109
- Ihle, R. and von Cramon-Taubadel, S. (2008): A Comparison of

Threshold Cointegration and Markov-Switching Vector Error Correction Models in Price Transmission Analysis. Proceedings of the NCCC-134 Conference on Applied Commodity Price Analysis, Forecasting, and Market Risk Management. St. Louis, USA, 21-22 April 2008. Available online at http://www. farmdoc.illinois.edu/nccc134/conf_2008/pdf/confp07-08.pdf (accessed 2 May 2017).

- Ivanov, V. and Kilian, L. (2001): A Practitioner's Guide to Lag-Order Selection for Vector Autoregressions. CEPR Discussion Paper 2685. London: Centre for Economic Policy Research. Available online at: http://www.cepr.org/pwbs/dps/DP2685.asp (accessed 5 May 2017).
- Jensen, D.J. and Møller, A.S. (2007): Vertical price transmission in the Danish food marketing chain. Frederiksberg: University of Copenhagen. Available online at: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/ viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.485.7809&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed 5 October 2017).
- Johansen, S. (1988): Statistical analysis of co-integration vectors. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 12, 231-254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1889(88)90041-3
- Johansen, S. and Juselius, K. (1990): Maximum Likelihood Estimation and Inference on Cointegration – with Applications to the Demand for Money. Oxford: Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 52, 169-210. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1468-0084.1990.mp52002003.x
- Kharin, S. (2015): Vertical price transmission along the dairy supply chain in Russia. Studies in Agricultural Economics 117 (2), 80-85. https://doi.org/10.7896/j.1517
- Lajdová, Z. and Bielik, P. (2015): The evidence of asymmetric price adjustments. Agricultural Economics – Czech 61, 105-115. https://doi.org/10.17221/220/2014-AGRICECON
- Lambert, D.K. and Miljkovic, D. (2010): The sources of variability in U.S. food prices. Journal of Policy Modeling **32**, 210-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2010.01.001
- Ljung, G.M. and Box, G.E.P. (1978): On a measure of a lack of fit in time series models. Biometrica 65, 297-303. https://doi. org/10.1093/biomet/65.2.297
- Lütkepohl, H., Saikkonen, P. and Trenkler, C. (2001): Maximum eigenvalue versus trace tests for the cointegrating rank of a VAR process. The Econometrics Journal 4, 287-310. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1368-423X.00068
- Matošková, D. and Gálik, J. (2016): Milk and milk products and prognosis to the year 2020. Ekonomika poľnohospodárstva **16**, 44-62.
- Meyer, J. and von Cramon-Traubadel, S. (2004): Asymmetric price transmission: A survey. Journal of Agricultural Economics 55, 581-611. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2004.tb00116.x
- Ning, Z. and Sun, Ch. (2014): Vertical price transmission in timber and lumber markets. Journal of Forest Economics 20, 17-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2013.07.002
- Reziti, I. (2014): Price transmission analysis in the Greek milk market. SPOUDAI Journal of Economics and Business 64, 75-86.
- Phillips, P.C.B. and Perron, P. (1988): Testing for a Unit Root in Time Series Regression. Biometrica 75, 335-346. https://doi. org/10.1093/biomet/75.2.335
- Pokrivcak, J. and Rajcaniova, M. (2014): Price transmission along the food supply chain in Slovakia. Post-Communist Economies 26, 555-568. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631377.2014.937111
- Santeramo, F.G. and von Cramon-Taubadel, S. (2016): On Perishability and Vertical Price Transmission: empirical evidences from Italy. Bio-based and Applied Economics **5** (2), 199-214. https://doi.org/10.13128/BAE-18043
- Serra, T. and Goodwin, B.K. (2003): Price transmission and asymmetric adjustment in the Spanish dairy sector. Applied Economics 35, 1889-1899. https://doi.org/10.1080/0003684031000162 8774

- Schwarz, G. (1978): Estimating the dimension of a model. The Annals of Statistics 6, 461-464. https://doi.org/10.1214/ aos/1176344136
- Schwert, G.W. (1989): Tests for Unit Roots: A Monte Carlo Investigation. Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 7, 147-160.
- Štefániková, M. (2017): Začarovaný mliečny kruh [Cream milk circle] [www document]. Available online at: http://www. agromonitor.sk/index.php?start&pl=19&article=175 (accessed 20 November 2017).
- Weldesenbet, T. (2013): Asymmetric price transmission in the Slovak liquid milk market. Agricultural Economics Czech 59, 512-524.
- Weaver, R.D. and Rosa, F. (2016): Structural change and dairy chain efficiency in Italy. Paper presented at the 149th EAAE Seminar

'Structural change in agri-food chains: new relations between farm sector, food industry and retail sector', Rennes, France, 27-28 October 2016. Available online at https://ageconsearch.umn. edu/bitstream/245113/2/Weaver_Rosa_149EAAE_Rennes.pdf (accessed 15 September 2017).

- Weber, S.A., Salamon, P. and Hansen, H. (2013): Volatile world market prices for dairy products and their influence on domestic price formation: The German cheese market. Landbau forschung **63**, 103-113.
- Zhang, J. Brown, C, Dong, X. and Waldron, S. (2017): Price transmission in whole milk powder markets: implications for the Oceania dairy sector of changing market developments. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research 60 (2), 140-153. https://doi.org/10.1080/00288233.2017.1284133

Godfrey EJIMAKOR*, Obed QUAICOE* and Fafanyo ASISEH*

Agricultural factor use and substitution in the south-eastern United States

A study of the agricultural factor markets that support the farm economy of the southeastern United States aids the understanding of how farmers change the mix of factors as product and factor prices change. Factor demand elasticities were estimated for capital, land, labour, chemicals, energy and other intermediate inputs. On average, labour accounted for USD 0.410 of every USD 1 spent on agricultural inputs followed by other intermediate inputs, which accounted for USD 0.255. The demands for farm labour and other intermediate inputs were inelastic. The demand for farm chemicals was elastic, which indicates a lack of pricing power by companies that sell them. A substantial reduction in the use of farm chemicals could be achievable by increasing their price. Most of the factors are substitutes with the exceptions of capital and energy, and land and chemicals, which were found to be complements.

Keywords: agricultural factor/input, factor share, elasticity, substitution

* North Carolina A&T State University. Greensboro, NC 27411, USA. Corresponding author: ejimakor@ncat.edu

Introduction

The volatility in agricultural product markets has been accompanied by volatility in the factor markets. Changes in the prices of crops and livestock products have resulted in changes in the demand for agricultural inputs. These changes have been confounded by those in the market for fossil fuels. Higher prices for fossil fuels result in increased demand for maize and other agricultural products used for biofuels, thereby affecting agricultural factor markets. In addition, fossil fuels are farm inputs so changes in their prices also affect agricultural input markets. As demand and prices for farm inputs change, sellers of agricultural inputs such as equipment and chemicals must find ways to adjust due to the substitution of some inputs for others and complementarity between some inputs. In addition, changing prices affect the revenues of such companies. Farm-level responses to changes in factor prices have implications for public policy.

The application of inputs such as chemicals and fertilisers has been associated with the impairment of streams and aquifers (Parris, 2011). Despite the concerns over runoff and leaching that have encouraged the promotion of best agricultural management practices, anecdotal evidence indicates that the use of conventional practices, especially in crop production, has changed little since the early 1990s. An opportunity to substitute for some of these harmful inputs could improve environmental quality by reducing water pollution and the carbon footprint associated with their use. Information on input use and substitution could be used to determine the appropriate levels of taxes or subsidies on given inputs that will achieve reductions in the use of potentially harmful agricultural chemicals that can compromise environmental quality, and the health of consumers and farm workers. This study explored the types and magnitudes of the relations between agricultural inputs in the agricultural sector of south-eastern U.S. Specifically, the study estimated the input demand elasticities for south-eastern U.S. agriculture.

The work of Allen (1938), supplemented by Varian (1994) and Takayama (1993), established the fundamental concepts on the economics of input substitution. Ferguson and Pfouts (1962) and Berndt and Christensen (1973) developed the

theoretical background of applied substitution in production while Sato and Koizumi (1973) developed the link between Allen relative elasticities and cross price elasticities. Several studies (Hudson and Jorgenson, 1974; Berndt and Wood, 1975; Fuss, 1977; Magnus, 1979) on factor substitution have examined the substitution between energy and non-energy inputs, with emphasis on the role of energy in production.

Most of the preceding studies on factor demand and substitution may be dated and, as a result, findings from such studies may no longer be relevant. In addition, the changes in demand for agricultural commodities and corresponding changes in the demand for agricultural inputs in recent years are unprecedented relative to the period during which most of these studies were done. Also, most of these studies focused on U.S. agriculture as a whole, but there could be regional differences in factor demand, possibly due to differences in regional agricultural production practices and weather. Therefore, conclusions drawn for U.S. agriculture may not necessarily be applicable to south-eastern U.S. agriculture. This study revisits factor demand and input substitution in agriculture from a south-eastern U.S. perspective, and investigates the relationships between agricultural factors. We hypothesise that capital are complements to land, energy and chemicals, and a substitute to labour.

Methodology

Theoretical model

Translog cost functions developed by Christensen *et al.* (1973) are very useful in studies of factor demand. In general, the translog cost function may be represented as:

$$\ln C = \beta_0 + \beta_q \ln Q + \frac{1}{2} \beta_{qq} (\ln Q)^2 + \sum_i \beta_{qi} \ln Q \ln w_i + \sum_i \beta_i \ln w_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_i \sum_j \beta_{ij} \ln w_i \ln w_j$$
(1)

where C is cost, Q is output, w_i is the price of input i, w_j is the price of input j; and i, j=1,2,...,n.

The first derivative of the translog function with respect to input prices (w_i) is:

$$\delta \ln C / \delta \ln w_i = (\delta C / \delta w_i) * (w_i / C)$$
⁽²⁾

By use of Shephard's lemma, equation 2 could be expressed as a system of factor share equations (S_i) that are functions of factor prices (w_i) and output (Q) where S_i is the proportional share of the *i*th input relative to total cost.

$$\frac{\partial \ln C}{\partial \ln w_i} = S_i = \beta_i + \beta_{q_i} \ln Q + \sum_j \beta_{ij} \ln w_j$$
(3)

Homogeneity restrictions require that the sum of the price effects as well as the product effects be each equal to zero. Symmetry also requires the respective cross price effects to be equal.

The translog cost function can be applied to multiproduct, multifactor production processes. However, estimating the cost function as a single-equation model even with restrictions imposed for linear homogeneity in the input prices may be either impossible or inappropriate. Therefore, estimating the system of equations leads to much higher efficiency (Subhash, 1982).

The Allen elasticity of substitution between any two inputs in a multiple input production system is defined as the effect of a change in relative factor prices on the relative factor quantities, holding output and other input prices constant (Sato and Koizumi, 1973). The parameters from a system of factor share equations could be used to compute the own price and Allen elasticities of substitution. The own price elasticity (ε_{ii}) is given by:

$$\varepsilon_{ii} = (\beta_{ii} - S_i + S_i^2) / S_i^2 \tag{4}$$

where β_{ii} is the own price coefficient of input *i*; and S_i is the share of input *i*. The Allen elasticity of substitution (ε_{ij}) between input *i* and input *j* is given by:

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = (\beta_{ij} + S_i * S_j) / S_i * S_j \tag{5}$$

where β_{ij} is the cross price coefficient of input *i* with respect to the price of input *j* and S_i is the share of input *j*.

Empirical model

Data on input prices and output levels used in this study were obtained from USDA (2009) and USDA (2010). Data on the prices of capital, labour, land, energy, chemicals and other intermediate inputs for each year from 1960 to 2004 were collected for each of the eleven states (Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia) in the south-east U.S. In addition, data on the output of crops and livestock were collected for the region for each of the years. This yielded a total of 495 observations. The price variables used in this study were measured as indices from 1960 to 2004 with 1996 as the base year. The output variables (crop and livestock) were also measured as indices for the 45-year period (1960-2004) with 1996 as the base year. All the relevant data for more recent years are not available.

Factor shares used in south-eastern US agriculture were computed for capital, labour, land, energy, chemicals and other intermediate inputs. The factor share for each input is the ratio of the expenditure on the input to the expenditure on all inputs for a given year:

$$S_{it} = e_{it} / E_t \tag{6}$$

where S_{it} represents factor share of agricultural input *i* in year *t*; e_{it} represents expenditure on agricultural input *i* in year *t* and *E*, is the overall or total input expenditure in year *t*.

The effects of output and input price changes were obtained from the estimation of a system of factor share equations (equation 3). To estimate the system of factor share equations as related to agriculture in south-eastern U.S., agricultural output (Q) is specified to be a function of six inputs such that:

Q = f(Capital, Labour, Land, Energy, Chemicals,Other intermediate inputs) (7)

It was assumed that the individual inputs in the production function (equation 7) are weakly separable from other input materials. Profit maximisation by farms and competitive agricultural product and input markets were assumed.

The impact of changes in input prices and output quantities on the factor share of each input (equation 3) were estimated as a system of the following six equations:

$$S_{capital} = f(w_{capital}, w_{land}, w_{labour}, w_{energy}, w_{chemicals}, w_{other intermediate inputs}, crop, livestock, trend)$$
(8)

$$S_{land} = f(w_{land}, w_{capital}, w_{labour}, w_{energy}, w_{chemicals}, w_{other intermediate inputs}, crop, livestock, trend)$$
(9)

$$S_{labour} = f(w_{labour}, w_{capital}, w_{land}, w_{energy}, w_{chemicals}, w_{other intermediate inputs}, crop, livestock, trend)$$
(10)

$$S_{energy} = f(w_{energy}, w_{capital}, w_{land}, w_{labour}, w_{chemicals}, w_{other intermediate inputs}, crop, livestock, trend)$$
(11)

$$S_{chemical} = f(w_{chemicals}, w_{capital}, w_{land}, w_{labour}, w_{energy}, w_{other intermediate impute}, crop, livestock, trend)$$
(12)

$$S_{other} = f(w_{other intermediate inputs}, w_{capital}, w_{land}, w_{labour}, (13)$$

$$w_{energy}, w_{chemicals}, crop, livestock, trend)$$

where $S_{capital}$ = factor share of capital: capital is defined to include depreciable assets and beginning inventories of livestock and crops; S_{labour} =factor share of labour: labour includes self-employed and unpaid family labour as well as hired workers; S_{land} = factor share of land: land constitutes land area and values; S_{energy} = factor share of energy: energy includes petroleum fuels, natural gas, renewable energy and electricity; $S_{chemical}$ = factor share of all chemicals; S_{other} = factor share of other intermediate inputs: other intermediate inputs include feed, seed, fertiliser, livestock purchases, maintenance and repairs as well as irrigation water. $w_{capital} = \log of$ the index of annual capital price; $w_{land} = \log of$ the index of annual land price; $w_{labour} = \log$ of the index of annual wage rate for farm labour; $w_{energy} = \log$ of the index of annual energy price; $w_{chemicals} = \log$ of the index of annual agricultural chemical price; $w_{other intermediate inputs} = \log of the index of annual other intermediate inputs price. <math>crop = \log of$ the index of annual crop production: crops include an aggregate measure of all

Table 1: Estimated coefficients of factor share equations for agricultural inputs in the south-eastern United States.

Equation	Dependen	t variable		Independent variables							
no.	Variable	Mean	Constant	$w_{capital}$	W _{land}	W _{labour}	W energy	w _{chemicals}	crop	livestock	trend
8	c	0.123	-2.561***	-0.036***	0.035***	-0.017***	0.007***	0.025***	-0.029***	-0.013***	0.001***
0	$S_{_{Capital}}$	0.123	(-8.630)	(-5.640)	(16.31)	(-4.160)	(-4.550)	(6.460)	(-9.910)	(-4.680)	(9.120)
9	S	0.106	-0.288	0.035***	-0.015***	-0.014***	0.003***	-0.009***	0.009***	-0.010***	0.0002*
2	S _{Land} 0.106	0.100	(-1.360)	(16.31)	(-9.540)	(-5.460)	(6.630)	(-5.550)	(4.300)	(-5.270)	(1.770)
10	S	0.411	4.763***	-0.017***	-0.014***	0.025***	-0.000008	0.005	0.020***	-0.099***	-0.002***
10	$S_{\scriptscriptstyle Labour}$	0.411	(11.970)	(-4.160)	(-5.460)	(4.040)	(-0.010)	(1.540)	(2.630)	(-13.650)	(-11.120)
11	S	0.032	-0.242***	-0.007***	0.003***	-0.000008	-0.012***	0.016***	0.001**	0.003***	0.0001***
11	$S_{_{Energy}}$	0.032	(-3.140)	(-4.550)	(6.630)	(-0.010)	(-10.820)	(16.770)	(2.280)	(5.650)	(3.600)
12	S	0.073	-0.671***	-0.025***	-0.009***	0.005	0.016**	-0.037***	0.028**	-0.016***	0.0004***
12	$S_{_{Chemicals}}$	0.075	(-2.450)	(6.460)	(-5.55)	(1.540)	(16.77)	(-10.150)	(11.570)	(-6.870)	(2.670)
13	S_{other}	0.255	-0.00001	-0.000002	-0.000003	-0.000003	0.000003	-0.000001	-0.029	0.135	0.0003

***, **, * statistically significant at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels, respectively; T-values are in parenthesis; N=4 Source: own calculations

crop production; *livestock*=log of the index of annual livestock production: livestock includes an aggregate measure of all livestock production; *trend*=trend (technology) and is measured as the years of data collection (1960 to 2004).

Trend (in years) was included to measure changes in knowledge during the period of study (1960 to 2004). Since factor shares must add up to one, five (n-1) of the six factor share equations containing five input prices (excluding the price of other intermediate inputs) in each equation were estimated. This helps to avoid the problem of singularity. The equation for other intermediate inputs (equation 13) and the coefficients of the price of other intermediate inputs in each of the five factor share equations were estimated based on the parameters of the first five equations. The five factor share equations were estimated with Statistical Analysis System software using a nonlinear Seemingly Unrelated Regression technique, which ensures efficiency in estimation by combining information on different equations (Moon and Perron, 2004). Estimates of parameters in the system of factor share equations were used to derive the own price and Allen elasticities of substitution matrix using equations (4) and (5).

Results and discussion

Our results and discussion are presented in three subsections. In the first subsection, we discuss the estimated regression coefficients for each of equations 8 to 13. The second subsection contains the discussion of the estimated Allen own-price elasticities. Finally, we discuss the estimated Allen elasticities of substitution in the third subsection.

Estimated factor share coefficients

Table 1 contains the results of the six estimated factor share equations. Labour (S_{labour}) and other intermediate inputs (S_{other}) accounted for the largest factor shares at 41.1 and 25.5 per cent respectively. The regression results indicate that an increase in the price of capital $(w_{capital})$ will result in decreases in the factor shares of capital $(S_{capital})$, labour (S_{labour}) , energy (S_{energy}) , chemicals $(S_{chemicals})$ and other intermediate inputs (S_{other}) , and result in a 0.035 point increase in the factor share of land (S_{land}) . Increases

Table 2: Estimated own and cross price elasticities of substitution

 for factors of production in south-eastern United States agriculture.

	1					0
Factor	W _{capital}	W _{labour}	w_{land}	W _{energy}	W _{chemicals}	$W_{other inputs}$
Capital	-1.17	0.27	0.39	-0.02	0.28	0.25
Labour	0.08	-0.53	0.07	0.03	0.09	0.25
Land	0.45	0.28	-1.04	0.06	-0.01	0.25
Energy	-0.10	0.41	0.20	-1.34	0.57	0.26
Chemicals	0.47	0.48	-0.02	0.25	-1.43	0.25
Other inputs	0.12	0.41	0.11	0.03	0.07	-0.74

Note: row 1 indicates source of price change

Source: own calculations

in the price of land (w_{land}) will result in reductions in the factor shares of land, labour, chemicals and other intermediate inputs and increases in those of capital and energy. Increases in the farm wage rate (w_{labour}) will increase the factor shares of labour and chemicals and reduce the factor shares of each of the other four inputs. Increases in the factor shares of land, chemicals and other intermediate inputs will result from increases in the price of energy (w_{energy}) while reducing those of capital, labour and energy. An increase in the price of chemicals $(w_{chemicals})$ will result in reductions in the factor shares of land, chemicals and other intermediate inputs and increases in each of the shares of capital, labour and energy. Increases in crop production (crop) will result in decreases in the shares of capital and other intermediate inputs while reducing the factor shares of each of the other inputs. Increased livestock production will result in reductions in the factor shares of all inputs except those of energy and other intermediate inputs. The factor shares of all inputs except for those of labour increase with the passage of time.

Estimated Allen own-price elasticities

Table 2 contains the estimated Allen own-price elasticities (diagonal elements) and substitution elasticities (off-diagonal elements) for the various inputs. The estimates indicate that the demand for capital, land and energy in southeastern U.S. agriculture are elastic. The own-price elasticity coefficients range from -1.43 for chemicals to -1.01 for land. The own-price elasticity coefficient of -1.43 for chemicals suggests that agricultural chemical companies have limited pricing power, as a 10 per cent increase in price will result in a 4.3 per cent reduction in revenue. Likewise, the estimated own-price elasticity of -1.17 for capital implies that a 10 per cent increase in the price of capital equipment will result in a 1.7 per cent reduction in the revenue of companies that sell them to the farm sector. The own-price elasticity coefficient for energy is -1.34, suggesting that a 10 per cent increase in the price of energy will reduce energy use on farms by 13.4 per cent. This finding differs from that of Miranowski (2005), which indicates that energy demand in U.S. agriculture is inelastic. The demand for agricultural labour and other inputs were found to be inelastic with coefficients of -0.53 and -0.74 respectively.

Estimated Allen elasticities of substitution

The estimated Allen elasticities of substitution suggest that most of the inputs are weak substitutes. The Allen elasticity of substitution of chemicals with respect to energy prices is 0.25 per cent, suggesting that a 10 per cent increase in the price of energy will result in a 2.5 per cent increase in the use of agricultural chemicals in south-eastern U.S. agriculture. Likewise, a 10 per cent increase in the price of chemicals will increase energy use by 5.7 per cent. The results also suggest that energy and labour are substitutes which is consistent with the findings of Hudson and Jorgenson (1974), Berndt and Wood (1975), Fuss (1977), Magnus (1979) and Gopalakrishnan et al. (1989). However, they contradict the findings of Carlson et al. (1993). Capital and energy were found to be complements, suggesting that their substitution for each other is technically infeasible in southeastern U.S. agriculture. The estimated elasticity of substitution of -0.02 implies that a 10 per cent increase in the price of energy will result in a 0.2 per cent decrease in the use of capital, which is consistent with our hypothesis. An elasticity of -0.10 implies that a 10 per cent increase in the price of capital will be accompanied by a 1.0 per cent decrease in the use of energy. In addition to being consistent with our hypothesis, this finding is also in agreement with those of Hudson and Jorgenson (1974), Berndt and Wood (1975), Fuss (1977) and Magnus (1979), who also found energy as a complement for capital in U.S. agriculture. However, the finding is inconsistent with those of Griffin and Gregory (1976) who found energy and capital to be substitutes in U.S. agriculture.

Conclusions

Sellers of most agricultural inputs used in south-eastern U.S agriculture have limited pricing power and could increase their total revenues by charging lower prices. Efforts to reduce environmental damage from the use of agricultural chemicals through the use of a tax will be effective as every 10 per cent increase in the price of chemicals will reduce the use of agricultural chemicals by 14.3 per cent and increase the use of capital, labour, land and energy. However, such a tax will adversely affect the revenues of firms that sell farm chemicals. Additionally, the inelastic nature of farm labour suggests that actions or events that increase farm wage rates in the region will be mostly at the expense of farm sector profits.

References

- Allen, R.G.D. (1938): Mathematical Analysis for Economists. New York NY, St. Martin's Press.
- Berndt, E.R. and Wood, D. (1975): Technology, Prices, and the Derived Demand for Energy. Review of Economics and Statistics 57, 259-268. https://doi.org/10.2307/1923910
- Berndt, E.R. and Christensen, L.R. (1973): The Internal Structure of Functional Relationships: Separability, Substitution and Aggregation. Review of Economic Studies 55, 403-410. https:// doi.org/10.2307/2296459
- Carlson, G.A., Zilberman, D. and Miranwoski, J.A. (1993): Agricultural and Environmental Resource Economics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Christensen, L.R., Jorgenson, D.W. and Lau, L.J. (1973): Transcendental Logarithmic Production Frontiers. The Review of Economics and Statistics LV, 28-45. https://doi. org/10.2307/1927992
- Ferguson, C.E. and Pfouts, R. (1962): Aggregate Production Functions and Relative Factor Shares. International Economic Review 3, 328-337. https://doi.org/10.2307/2525398
- Fuss, M.A. (1977): The Demand for Energy in Canadian Manufacturing. Journal of Econometrics 5 (1), 89-116. https://doi. org/10.1016/0304-4076(77)90036-7
- Gopalakrishnan, C., Khalegi, G.H. and Shrestha, R.B. (1989): Energy-nonenergy Input Substitution in U.S. Agriculture: Some Findings. Applied Economics 21, 673-679. https://doi. org/10.1080/758524898
- Griffin, J.M. and Gregory, P.R. (1976): An Intercountry Translog Model of Energy Substitution Responses. American Economic Review 66, 845-857.
- Hudson, E.A. and Jorgenson, D.W. (1974): U.S. Energy Policy and Economic Growth, 1975-2000. The Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science 5 (2), 461-514. https://doi. org/10.2307/3003118
- Magnus, J.R. (1979): Substitution between Energy and Non- Energy Inputs in the Netherlands: 1950-1976. International Economic Review 20 (2), 465-484. https://doi.org/10.2307/2526494
- Miranowski, J. (2005): Energy Consumption in U.S. Agriculture, in: J.L. Outlaw, K.J. Collins and J.A. Duffield (eds), Agriculture as a Producer and Consumer of Energy. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851990187.0068
- Moon, H.R. and Perron, P. (2004): Efficient Estimation of SUR Cointegration Regression Model and Testing for Purchasing Power Parity. Econometric Reviews 23, 293-323. https://doi. org/10.1081/ETC-200040777
- Parris, K. (2011): Impact of agriculture on water pollution in OECD countries: recent trends and future prospects. International Journal of Water Resources Development 27 (1), 33-52. https:// doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2010.531898
- Sato, R. and Koizumi, T. (1973): On the Elasticities of Substitution and Complementarity. Oxford Economic Papers **25**, 44-56. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.oep.a041244
- Subhash, C.R. (1982): A Translog Cost Function Analysis of U.S. Agriculture, 1939-77. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 64, 490-498. https://doi.org/10.2307/1240641
- Takayama, A. (1993): Analytical Methods in Economics. Ann Arbor MI: University of Michigan Press.
- USDA (2009): State Agriculture Overview [www document]. Available online at http://www.agcensus.usda.gov/ (accessed 27 October 2010).
- USDA (2010): Agricultural Productivity [www document]. Available online at http://www.ers.usda.gov/Data/AgProductivity/ (accessed 27 October 2010).
- Varian, H.R. (1994): Microeconomic Analysis. New York NY: W.W. Norton and Company.

Kidanemariam G. GEBREHIWOT*, Daniel MAKINA** and Thomas WOLDU***

The impact of micro-irrigation on households' welfare in the northern part of Ethiopia: an endogenous switching regression approach

The paper uses an endogenous switching regression model to measure the impact of participation in micro-irrigation development on households' welfare. The model takes into account selection bias associated with programme participation and endogeneity problems often encountered in most programme evaluations. A total of 482 households (195 irrigation users and 287 non-users) were used to generate all the necessary variables. To capture the impact of the irrigation on household welfare, two indicators were considered, namely household farm income (Y) and household fixed asset formation (F) (evaluated at market price during the survey period). The results show a positive and significant impact of irrigation use on the two outcome variables: income by 8.8 per cent and asset formation by 186 per cent as compared to non-users. This shows how important the micro-irrigation schemes are in improving the welfare of poor farmers in the research areas. Furthermore, the empirical results show that the probability of using one of the water sources (irrigation scheme) is associated with farm experience (age as proxy), farmer-to-farmer contact (the existence of an irrigation user neighbour), family size, the state of credit constraint, the number of visits by extension agents and the cost of irrigation development. As a robustness check, different models were applied and results were found consistent, both qualitatively and quantitatively.

Keywords: micro-irrigation, household farm income, household fixed asset formation

* Mekelle University, P.O. Box 451, Tigrai, Ethiopia. Corresponding author: kidane.gebregziabher@mu.edu.et
** University of South Africa. Pretoria. South Africa.

*** International Food Policy Research Institute, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Introduction

Ethiopia, despite achieving economic growth continuously in excess of 10 per cent per annum in the last decade, is one of the poorest countries in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). Poverty is widespread and deep-rooted and constitutes the development priority of the country. About 30 per cent of the population lives below the poverty line (set at USD 1.25 per person per day) (WB, 2013). The challenges that Ethiopia face, in terms of poverty and food insecurity, are associated with both inadequate food production and natural crop failure due to erratic rainfall (Awulachew *et al.*, 2007).

In a study conducted to assess the impact of climate change on production at sub-national level for SSA, Liu et al. (2008) identified countries such as Ethiopia, Uganda and Rwanda as future drought hotspots. However, less than 4 per cent of renewable water resources in Africa are withdrawn for agriculture. To reverse the current underdeveloped nature of irrigated agriculture in SSA, there is a strong theoretical argument for expanding small-scale irrigation schemes to increase agricultural production in support of economic development and the attainment of food security in the region (de Fraiture and Giordano, 2014). In Ethiopia, special focus has been given since 2003 to household-level water harvesting schemes such as ponds, deep and shallow wells, and river diversions, as an integral part of programmes aimed at breaking the cycle of food insecurity. The aim is to make water available to supplement rainfed agriculture through small-scale irrigation during the critical stage of plant growth when rainfall is inadequate (Hagos et al., 2006).

The economic literature on adoption of agricultural technologies (including irrigation) uses various household, farm, social and economic variables to explain the level as well as the intensity of adoption and the impact of these technologies on adopters' welfare. In general it has been found that (a) an increase in the price or cost of technology reduces a farmer's likelihood to adopt (Caswell and Zilberman, 1985; Feder *et al.*, 1985); (b) households with larger farms are more likely to adopt (Feder, 1980; Rahm and Huffman, 1984; Putler and Zilberman, 1988); (c) an adopter's human capital endowment variables such as age, gender, education and experience affects the likelihood to adopt (Huffman, 1977; Rahm and Huffman, 1984; Putler and Zilberman, 1988); (d) social capital (membership of social networks) and institutional capital (access to institutional services such as credit and extension service) are also likely to induce farmers to take some risks and adopt technologies.

Several studies have been conducted to assess the impact on household welfare after the adoption of new technologies, including irrigation. In India, access to irrigation has had a positive impact on poverty reduction (Fan et al., 1999; Narayanamoorthy, 2001; Shah and Singh, 2002). Gebregziabher et al. (2012) found that, in terms of their technical efficiency, irrigator farmers in northern Ethiopia operated on a higher production frontier with significant inefficiencies, while rainfed farms were on a lower production frontier with high efficiency levels. Hussain and Hanjra (2003) showed that irrigation enabled households to improve crop productivity so that they can grow high-value crops that generate higher incomes and employment as well as a higher implicit wage rate for family labour. A comparison between irrigators and non-irrigators in China showed that irrigation contributed to increased yields for almost all crops and higher income for farmers in all areas (Huang et al., 2006).

Dillon (2011), using a panel from northern Mali household data, found a positive and significant effect of access to irrigation on household consumption, assets and informal insurance as outcome indicators. Access to irrigation increased household consumption by 27-30 per cent relative to water-recession and rainfed cultivators. Hagos *et al.* (2012), using 1,517 sample households drawn from four regional states of Ethiopia, reported that access to selected agricultural water management technologies had a significant effect on poverty reduction. However, despite the data richness in terms of sample size and geographical representation, the model specification and estimation process did not address the selection bias that could arise between the adoption decision and the outcome equation. Using a household data set from the Tigray region in northern Ethiopia, similar results were reported by Gebregziabher *et al.* (2009). Lipton *et al.* (2003) documented the various ways in which the benefits of irrigation can improve the livelihoods of both irrigators and non-irrigators. These included increased production and income, reduced risk and application of agricultural inputs and additional job creation for rural landless people.

Bhattarai et al. (2002) could not establish a straightforward relationship between irrigation and poverty alleviation in selected Asian countries. Similar results were echoed by Berhanu and Pender (2002) who showed the limited impact of irrigation development on input use and farm productivity. Using time series data, Jin et al. (2002) could not find a link between irrigation and total factor productivity growth in the major grain producers in China. In a study conducted in Ghana, Burkina Faso and Niger on whether government support for different water management systems has any impact on rice productivity, Katic et al. (2013) showed that policy interventions did not significantly enhance the profitability of rice-producing beneficiary farmers. Depending on the nature of the selection problem, if the technology adopters are from the already better off community, the impact will be upward bias, and vice versa.

Most of these studies have relied on income and/or consumption to measure poverty (flow variable) and did not address the selection bias problem between the adoption process and the second stage outcome equation. In this paper, we assess the impact of the micro-irrigation¹ project on household welfare in the Tigray region of northern Ethiopia. We endeavour to address the self-selection bias by using a relatively more robust model and, to address the measurement error, we tried to use alternative welfare indicators, income (flow) and fixed asset holding (stock), to measure the welfare implication of irrigation adoption.

Methodology

Study area

The study was conducted in three districts of the Tigray region. The climate of Tigray is broadly arid and semi-arid, with around nine or ten dry months and rainfall concentrated during July and August. Most parts of the region experience very erratic and inadequate rainfall (even during the two rainy months) that is precarious for crop production (Hagos *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, the region encounters severe drought almost every five years. Despite all these challenges, during 'normal' rainy seasons (i.e. when drought does not occur) the region has an annual runoff of around 9 billion

m³ and can irrigate its potential irrigable area of 300,000 ha (Awulachew *et al.*, 2007). However, the developed irrigable land of the region currently does not exceed 75,000 ha. The three districts used in this study were selected because they are known to have both rainfed farming and micro-irrigation schemes such as ponds, wells and river diversions. Moreover, these districts have irrigation users and non-users sharing the same natural and agro-climatic conditions. Except for some small areas which practice dry season cultivation using micro-irrigation, rainfed agriculture predominates which involves the cultivation of wheat, teff (*Eragrostis tef*), maize, oilseeds and pulses. Both exotic and indigenous vegetables and crops are irrigated and these include onions, tomatoes, pepper, garlic and maize.

Study design and data

A survey of 482 farmers comprising 287 non-users and 195 users of the different irrigation schemes was conducted in March 2012. In obtaining the sample for the survey, a multistage sampling technique was used. Firstly, three districts with good distribution of different irrigation schemes were sampled purposefully. In the second stage, five sub-districts were randomly selected. Thirdly, using extension workers' lists, farmers in each sub-district were stratified into two groups, namely irrigators (river diversion, wells and ponds) and non-irrigators (rainfed farmers). A questionnaire was used to gather data on households' income and asset holdings, household characteristics, and farm characteristics from both users and non-users, and sub-district level information.

Model specification

Microeconomic evaluations of the impact of an intervention (for instance, irrigation use) on the final outcome (household welfare) were based on the model developed by Becker (1964) and Mincer (1974). However, the decision to adopt new technology, in our case, irrigation scheme, is voluntary; the familiar problem of sample selection bias may result: farmers who use irrigation are also likely to be the ones who find it most profitable (Fuglie and Bosch, 1995). For example, farmers who are more wealthy and productive are more likely to be those who use irrigation. Hence, the self-selection into irrigation scheme utilisation would be the source of endogeneity, and failure to account for this will overstate the true impact of irrigation (Alene and Manyong, 2007).

Lee (1978) developed an approach for estimating models of this type which he called endogenous switching regression (ESR). In this approach, the decision is modelled by standard limited dependent variable models, and the second stage outcome variables are then estimated separately for each group (irrigation users and non-users), conditional on having made the decision. Let the decision to use one of the micro-irrigation schemes be a dichotomous choice, where a farmer decides to have irrigation when there is a positive perceived difference between using the scheme and not having the scheme.

Let this difference be denoted as I^* so that $I^*>0$ corresponds to the net benefit of having the scheme exceeding that

¹ Micro-irrigation is the slow application of water on, above, or below the soil by surface drip, subsurface drip, bubbler and micro-sprinkler systems. Water is applied as discrete or continuous drips, tiny streams or miniature spray through emitters or applicators placed along a water delivery line adjacent to the plant row (Lamm *et al.*, 2007).

of not using the scheme, and it is under this condition that the farmer decides to use the scheme. However, I^* is not observable; what is observed is I, which represents the observed farmer's decision choice. The expected utility of having an irrigation scheme, I_1^* (adopters or regime 1) compared to the utility of not having, I_0^* (non-adopters or regime 2), and the decision to own irrigation occurs if $I_1^* > I_0^*$. Based on Lokshin and Sajaia (2004), the relationship can be expressed as:

$$I = 1 \text{ if } \alpha Z'_i + U_i, \text{ if } I^* > 0$$

$$I = 0 \text{ if } \alpha Z'_i + U_i, \text{ if } I^* < 0$$
(1)

$$\ln K$$

Regime 1:
$$\ln W_{1i} = \frac{\ln T_{1i}}{\ln F_{1i}} = X\beta_1 + \varepsilon_1$$
; if $I = 1$ (2)

Regime 2:
$$\ln W_{2i} = \frac{\ln Y_{2i}}{\ln F_{2i}} = X\beta_2 + \varepsilon_2$$
; if $I = 0$ (3)

where Z is a vector of explanatory variables (which includes household and farm characteristics; social and institutional variables); α is a vector of unknown parameters to be estimated; and U_i is a random error term and factors not observed by the researcher but known to the household, with mean zero and variance σ_{U}^{2} (Alene and Manyong, 2007). ln W_{1i} and ln W_{2i} are the natural logs of welfare indicators (outcome variables) for regime 1 and regime 2 respectively. Welfare is captured by household income (Y) and fixed assets (F); where ln Y_{1i} and ln F_{1i} represent natural logs of income and fixed assets for adopters, ln Y_{2i} and ln F_{2i} are natural logs of income and fixed assets for non-adopters. ε_1 and ε_2 are error terms for regime 1 and 2 functions respectively.

Since the first stage decision variable I (to have an irrigation scheme) is endogenous, OLS estimates in equations (2) and (3) will suffer from sample selection bias, namely the error terms in equations (2) and (3), conditional on the sample selection criteria, have non-zero expected values (Lee, 1978; Maddala, 1983; Fuglie and Bosch, 1995). Lee (1978) treats sample selection as a missing-variable problem. For identification purposes, and to satisfy the usual order condition, Z_i contained one variable (whether household has a neighbour/s or not) not in X_i so as to impose an exclusion restriction on equations (2) and (3). Having a neighbour who adopts any modern technology may help fellow farmers to observe, learn and, if they become convinced of the benefits, eventually adopt the technology; thus technology diffusion will continue. In our situation, the presence of a neighbour who adopts one of the irrigation schemes is expected to affect the decision to adopt or not, but not the welfare status (income and asset holdings of a household). Hence, the IrrigationUserN neighbour adopter variable is used as an instrumental variable. In developing countries, social networks such as neighbours, friends and families are the main sources of information and confidence in the process of technology or new practice adoption. Hence, the existence of a neighbour adopter (farmer-to-farmer) is expected to influence peer fellow neighbours to adopt one of the irrigation schemes, but not the income and asset holdings of households. Moreover, OLS estimates do not explicitly account for potential production function differences between households with irrigation and rainfed farmers. Hence, the variable whether a household has a neighbour/s or not is used as

an instrument (identification variable). Assuming U_i , ε_2 and ε_1 to have a trivariate normal distribution with mean vector zero and covariance matrix will have the following variance-covariance structure:

$$\operatorname{cov}(\varepsilon_{1},\varepsilon_{2},U_{i}) = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{U}^{2} & \sigma_{1U} & \sigma_{2U} \\ \sigma_{1U} & \sigma_{1}^{2} & \cdot \\ \sigma_{2U} & \cdot & \sigma_{2}^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4)

where $\operatorname{var}(\varepsilon_1) = \sigma_1^2$, $\operatorname{var}(\varepsilon_2) = \sigma_2^2$ and $\operatorname{var}(U_i) = \sigma_v^2$, and $\operatorname{cov}(\varepsilon_1, U_i) = \sigma_{1v}$, $\operatorname{cov}(\varepsilon_2, U_i) = \sigma_{2v}$. The covariance between ε_2 , and U_i is not defined, as Y_2 and Y_1 are never observed simultaneously (Lokshin and Sajaia, 2004). Since probit maximum likelihood is used to estimate α , it is estimable only up to a scalar factor and hence it can be assumed that $\sigma_v^2 = 1$ (Maddala, 1983). Given the assumption with respect to the distribution of the disturbance terms, the logarithmic likelihood function for the system of (2 and 3) is:

$$\ln L = \sum_{i} (I_{i} w_{i} [\ln \{F(\eta_{1i})\} + \ln \{(\varepsilon_{1i}/\sigma_{1})/\sigma_{1}\}] + (1 - I_{i}) w_{i} [\ln \{1 - F(\eta_{2i})\} + \ln \{f(\varepsilon_{2i}/\sigma_{2})/\sigma_{2}\}])$$
(5)

where F is a cumulative normal distribution function, f is a normal density function, w_i is an optimal weight for observation *i* and

$$\eta_{ji} = \frac{(\gamma Z_i + \rho_j \varepsilon_{ji} / \sigma_j)}{\sqrt{1 - \rho_j^2}} \text{ where } j = 1, 2$$

where $\rho_1 = \frac{\sigma_{1U}^2}{\sigma_U \sigma_1}$ is the correlation coefficient between ε_{1i} and

 U_i and $\rho_2 = \frac{\sigma_{2U}^2}{\sigma_U \sigma_2}$ is the correlation coefficient between ε_{2i} and U_i .

After estimating the model's parameters, the following conditional (the focus of analysis) and unconditional expectations could be calculated:

Unconditional expectations:

$$E(\ln W_{1i} \mid x_{1i}) = x_{1i}\beta_1 \tag{6}$$

$$E(\ln W_{2i} | x_{2i}) = x_{2i}\beta_2$$
(7)

Conditional expectations:

$$E(\ln W_{1i} \mid I=1, x_{1i}) = x_{1i}\beta_1 + \sigma_1\rho_1 f(\gamma Z_i) / F(\gamma Z_i)$$
(8)

$$E(\ln W_{1i} | I = 0, x_{1i}) = x_{1i}\beta_1 - \sigma_1\rho_1 f(\gamma Z_i) / \{1 - F(\gamma Z_i)\}$$
(9)

$$E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 1, x_{2i}) = x_{2i}\beta_2 + \sigma_2\rho_2 f(\gamma Z_i) / F(\gamma Z_i)$$
(10)

$$E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 0, x_{2i}) = x_{2i}\beta_2 - \sigma_2\rho_2 f(\gamma Z_i) / \{1 - F(\gamma Z_i)\}$$
(11)

Given the above formulation, the following can be calculated and compared:

 The effect of adoption on adopters (treatment effect on the treated – TT) as the difference between equations (8) and (10), which represents the effect of having irrigation on the two welfare indicators:

$$TT = E(\ln W_{1i} \mid I = 1, x_{1i}) - E(\ln W_{2i} \mid I = 1, x_{2i})$$
(12)

• The effect of adoption on non-adopters (treatment on the untreated-*TU*) as the difference between equations (11) and (9):

$$TU = E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 0, x_{2i}) - E(\ln W_{1i} | I = 0, x_{1i})$$
(13)

• The policy-relevant treatment effects can also be differentiated from the heterogeneity effect. For example, farm households that adopted micro-irrigation may have achieved a higher level of welfare (measured by the selected two welfare indicators) than farm households that did not adopt although they decided to adopt; because of unobservable characteristics such as their risk-taking behaviour. Following Carter and Milon (2005), 'the effect of base heterogeneity' (BH_N) is defined for the group of farm households that decided to adopt as the difference between equations (8) and (9):

$$BH_N = E(\ln W_{1i} \mid I = 1, x_{1i}) - E(\ln W_{1i} \mid I = 0, x_{1i}) \quad (14)$$

• The second type of base heterogeneity (*BH*₂) can be calculated for the group of farm households that decided not to adopt as the difference between equations (10) and (11):

$$BH_2 = E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 1, x_{2i}) - E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 0, x_{2i}) \quad (15)$$

• The third type of heterogeneity is the 'transitional heterogeneity' (*TH*), that is whether the impact of having micro-irrigation is larger or smaller for the farm households that owned or for the farm household that did not own in the counterfactual case that they did own, that is the difference between equations (12) and (13), i.e. (*TT*) minus (*TU*):

$$TH = TT - TU = [E(\ln W_{ii} | I = 1, x_{1i}) - E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 1, x_{2i})] - [E(\ln W_{2i} | I = 0, x_{2i}) - (16)$$

$$E(\ln W_{ii} | I = 0, x_{ii})]$$

The switching regression model accounts for both endogeneity of technology adoption and possible sample selection, and allows the different household and farm characteristic variables to play differential roles, both in terms of qualitative and quantitative effects on the respective varietal technologies (Fuglie and Bosch 1995; Alene and Manyong, 2007). To our knowledge, no study has explicitly accounted for underlying technological differences among farmers in assessing the effects of irrigation on the impact of household welfare.

Results and discussion

Descriptive results

Seventy-nine per cent of irrigator households are headed by males, compared to 71 per cent of non-irrigators (Table 1). In terms of literacy status, 32 per cent of irrigator household heads are literate compared to 26.7 per cent of non-irrigators. On average, irrigation adopters have a 9 per cent bigger family size than non-adopters. The overall picture indicates that the irrigators have better quality and quantity of labour that might have helped them to engage in labour and capitalintensive activities.

Non-users are located far away from a development extension office. Moreover, users are more connected to various social networks where they can get information, which might have helped them to use the irrigation service. There was a significant difference between irrigators and nonirrigators in credit utilisation. Approximately 63 per cent of irrigators had applied for credit and 58 per cent of them had access to credit service, while the corresponding figures for non-irrigators were 57 per cent and 51 per cent respectively.

Irrigators Non-irrigators Variable Variable definition t-test Mean SD Mean SD Welfare indicators Ln Y Log transformed crop income (ETB) 2825.84 141.85 2534.3 101.8 -1.66** Ln F Log transformed per capita total asset value (ETB) 702.94 57.62 503.26 92.44 -1.84** Household characteristics Household head gender (1=male and 0 otherwise) 0.79 0.02 0.7118 0.03 -2.21** Headgender Log transformed age of the household head (in years) Lnheadage 52.89 0.84 52.95 0.88 0.054 Household head literacy status: dummy (1=literate and 0 HHedu 0.32 0.03 0.27 0.03 -1.51* otherwise) Familysize 5.93 0.14 5.46 0.14 -2.33*** Family size (number) Adultequivalent 0.10 0.10 -1.98** Family size (adult equivalent) 4.33 4.04 Access to credit (if the household is credit constrained=1, 0 tryloan 0.51 0.03 0.52 0.04 -0.23 otherwise) Farm and village characteristics Lnplotsize Log transformed farm size (tsemad; 1 ha=4 tsemad) 2.85 0.10 2.28 0.08 -4.43*** If the household had an adopter neighbour prior to his adop-0.02 0.03 -13 59*** IrrigationUserNgb 0.85 0.37 tion (yes=1, 0 otherwise) Tabiacode Village dummy 1=Adiqsanded; 2=Genfel; 3=Tsenkanet; 4=D.Birhan; 5=my-Kado Number_visits_EA Visits by extension agents (number) 5.83 0.57 3.25 0.282 -4.48*** Average cost per irrigation scheme (ETB) Lncost 2.46 3.4 0.07 1.29 0.05 howmnysnw In social network associations (number) 1.4 -1.365

Table 1: Household-, farm- and village-level characteristics of irrigators and non-irrigators surveyed in the research.

Source: own calculations

On average, irrigators had a 25 per cent larger plot size than non-irrigators, suggesting a clear wealth difference.

There are statistically significant differences between the two groups with respect to household income and total asset holdings. The per capita asset holding was about ETB² 621 for irrigators, whereas for non-irrigators it was approximately ETB 361. The mean per capita consumption expenditure for irrigators was ETB 1,880 per annum, while the corresponding figure for non-irrigators was ETB 1,748. Finally, the per capita income of households using irrigation was ETB 1,473, which was approximately 37 per cent higher than that of non-irrigators. On other hand, non-irrigators (95 per cent). With regard to off-farm income, irrigators derive slightly higher income (ETB 2,360) than non-irrigators (ETB 2,069)³.

Econometric results

Factors affecting adoption of irrigation

The adoption of an irrigation scheme and its outcome for household welfare in terms of household income and asset formation can be modelled as a two-stage framework. In the first stage, a selection model for irrigation adoption was estimated using probit and, in the second stage, the household welfare outcome was estimated with equations using different models. The model diagnostic statistics (Table 2) show goodness-of-fit measures that indicate that the estimated models fit the data reasonably well. Likelihood ratio tests show that the parameter estimates are statistically significantly different from zero at less than one per cent significance level. The model correctly predicts 92.5 per cent of the cases; and the pseudo R-squared measure of 0.70 is also reasonably high, given the cross-sectional nature of our data.

The analysis of the probit regression shows that seven of the 11 explanatory variables are significant and most of them have the expected sign, except adult labour force, due to its high correlation with family size, and cost of irrigation, which is only observed for irrigation users. The significant variables include: neighbour irrigation user (IrrigationUserN), credit constraint (tryloan), head age (lnHeadage), family size (lnFamily_size), cost of irrigation scheme, and number of visits by extension agent (Number_visits_EA).

The parameter estimates of the probit model provide only the direction of the effect of the independent variables on the dependent (response) variable: estimates do not represent the actual magnitude of change or probabilities. Thus, the marginal effects from the probit, which measures the probability of being an irrigation user with respect to a unit change in an independent variable, was calculated using the mfx stata command.

The relationship between technology adoption and household age (Headage) has remained mixed. This result is in line with the published literature. Lapar and Pandey (1999), for adoption decisions of soil conservation in the Philippines uplands, Baidu-Forson (1999), regarding the adoption of land-enhancing technology in the Sahel; Fufa and Hassan (2006) and Chirwa (2005), in terms of fertiliser adoption in Ethiopia and hybrid seed for Malawi respectively, found negative relationships. This implies that, as farmers grow older, they become more risk averse and less willing to adopt new farming technologies. On the other hand, Polson and Spencer (1991) and Abay and Admassie (2004) found positive relationships between age and improved cassava variety adoption in Nigeria and chemical fertiliser adoption in Ethiopia respectively. Age when taken as proxy for farm experience (human capital theory) will be positive; but older farmers with a very short planning horizon and high risk averse age can be negatively associated with technology adoption (Zepeda, 1990). Hence, the sign of the household head age is very difficult to predict a priori.

The family size variable was significant (at the 5 per cent level) and positive. This is again consistent with our expectation. Developing an irrigation scheme as well as irrigable fields requires high labour input, and, in view of imperfect labour market, farmers are dependent on their family labour.

Contact with extension services gives farmers greater access to information on technology, via communications and more opportunities to participate in demonstration tests. Accordingly, access to extension services (captured by the number of visits by an extension agent) showed a positive and significant effect. The result is consistent with our expectations and the findings of Gebrehiwot (2017) who found a positive relationship between extension service and farmers' technical efficiency in the northern part of Ethiopia.

Credit is very important in that it helps farmers to acquire all the necessary inputs in the right quantities and qualities at the right time. However, when are farmers are credit constrained, consistent with our expectation, they were among the non-adopters and this result was statistically significant. Similar results were also reported by He *et al.* (2007) and Deressa *et al.* (2009).

Finally, having access to farmer-to-farmer extension (the existence of a neighbour adopter) increased the likelihood of using one of the irrigation schemes by 41 per cent, consistent with our expectation. Similar results were reported by Deressa *et al* (2009).

Table 2: Probit model estimates of adoption of irrigation schemes

 (Irrigation_user): marginal effects.

Variable	Marginal effects (dy/dx)
Lnheadage	5.924 (3.373)*
Lnheadage ²	-10.967 (3.373)*
Headgender	0.071 (0.098)
HHedu	0.037 (0.013)***
Familysize	0.107 (0.054)**
Adultequivalent	-0.126 (0.072)*
Lnplotsize	-0.097 (0.108)
IrrigationUserN	0.430 (0.067)***
Number_visits_EA	0.185 (0.086)**
tryloan	-0.150 (0.085)*
Lncost of irrigation	0.186 (0.019)***
Wald $(\chi^2_{0.99} = 11)$ df = 186.65 Prob.>	chi ² =0.0000
Percentage of correct predictions	
Irrigation_user $(I=1)$	97.5%
Irrigation_user (I=0)	91.5%
Overall correctly classified	93.5%
Pseudo R ²	0.71

*, ** and *** represent significance at 0.1, 0.05, and 0.01 levels respectively Source: own calculations

 $^{^2}$ $\,$ Ethiopian Birr; USD 1=approximately ETB 17.12 at the time the study was conducted.

³ Data available from the corresponding author upon request.

Welfare estimation results

The ESR model was estimated by an efficient method of full information maximum likelihood (Lokshin and Sajaia, 2004), as compared to the alternative two-step procedure proposed by Madalla (1983). The estimated coefficient of correlation between the irrigation adoption decision and the household income (ρ_{1cy}) for regime 1 and household asset formation (ρ_{2cF}) for regime 2 are statistically different from zero (Table 3). The results suggest that both observed and unobserved factors influence the participation in irrigation and welfare outcomes. The significance of the coefficient of correlation between the first stage equation and the welfare equation indicates that self-selection occurred in the participation of irrigation schemes. The differences in the household income and asset formation equation coefficients between the farm households of those participating in irrigation schemes and those not participating illustrate the presence of heterogeneity in the sample.

An important question is whether farm households that adopted the different irrigation schemes gained benefits in terms of household income and fixed asset formation (estimating impact of adoption). The results, obtained using equations (12)-(16), are presented in Table 4. The observed difference in income and fixed asset formation between households who adopt and do not adopt was 0.145 ((a)-(b) in Table 4) and 0.898 ((e)-(f) in Table 4) respectively. However, this simple comparison is misleading because it does not account for other unobserved factors that may have impacted the two outcome variables (households' income and fixed asset formation).

Hence, to account for the potential unobservable effect on the outcome variable column [3] is included which adjusts the 'base heterogeneity'⁴ and gives the differences in expected household income and value fixed asset formation (Carter and Milon, 2005). With the counterfactual condition that, the adopters placed in the non-adopters status BH_{1Y} and BH_{1F} in Table 4; the households would be expected to earn 0.346 points less income and to own 0.814 points less fixed assets on average. Similarly, with the counterfactual condition that the non-adopter households adopt irrigation BH_{0F} and BH_{0F} in Table 4 and equation (15), the households would earn more income (0.061) but own less asset (-0.053). Under both counterfactual conditions, irrigation using households perform better (with the exception of BH_{2F}) than non-irriga-

 4 $\,$ For the definition of the different heterogeneity (base and transitional) see equations (14)-(16).

Table 4: Expected income and asset level and treatment effects.	Table 4: Expected	income and	asset level	and	treatment effects.	
--	-------------------	------------	-------------	-----	--------------------	--

tion using households. These differences reflect systematic sources of variation between the two groups that could not be fully captured by the observable variables in the model specifications. Information regarding adoption status alone does not explain households' performance in the two outcome indicators (Y-income and F-fixed asset formation).

Table 4 column [3] presents the treatment effects of irrigation adoption as expected change in income and fixed asset value for a randomly-selected household in each group. For the household group with access to irrigation, the first entry in column [3] measures that the mean effect of access to irrigation (TT in equation (12)) was an increase of 0.084 point in income and 1.051 point in fixed asset formation. Since our outcome variables are expressed in natural logarithm it represents 8.8 per cent for income and 186 per cent for asset formation. This implies that participation in the micro-irrigation programme has a positive effect on household welfare in the research area. Similarly, the households without access

Table 3: Full information maximum likelihood estimates of the switching regression model.

	Ln Y R 1	Ln Y R 2	Ln F R 1	Ln F R 2
4	-0.012	0.176**	-0.056	0.316*
tryloan	(0.09)	(0.07)	(0.22)	(0.19)
h	0.353**	0.406***	0.995***	0.895***
headgender	(0.14)	(0.08)	(0.32)	(0.23)
	-0.546***	-0.860***	-1.234***	-0.960***
Inheadage	(0.17)	(0.12)	(0.40)	(0.33)
	0.103***	0.055**	-0.160**	-0.153**
Adultequivalent	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.07)	(0.06)
11	0.624***	0.691***	0.565*	0.247
Inplotsize	(0.13)	(0.09)	(0.29)	(0.25)
TTTT 1	-0.005	0.016	0.085**	0.012
HHedu	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.03)
L	0.160	-0.117	0.033	0.033
howmnysnw	(0.12)	(0.09)	(0.26)	(0.24)
K 1 1 2	0.266*	-0.373***	-0.328	-0.553
_Itabiacode_2	(0.16)	(0.11)	(0.36)	(0.29)
K 1 . 1 . 2	0.148	-0.126	0.082	0.184
_Itabiacode_3	(0.17)	(0.11)	(0.39)	(0.28)
T 1 1 4	-0.140	0.031	-0.719**	-0.269
_Itabiacode_4	(0.15)	(0.11)	(0.35)	(0.28)
K 1 . 1 . C	0.019	-0.332***	-0.175	0.061
_Itabiacode_5	(0.15)	(0.12)	(0.36)	(0.30)
	-0.367**		0.096	
$ ho_{_{1cY\!/\!F}}$	(0.17)		(0.19)	
		-0.176		-0.306**
$ ho_{2cY/F}$		(0.14)		(0.13)

Dependent variables: ln Y; and ln F for regime 1 and regime 2

*, ** and *** represent significance at 0.1, 0.05, and 0.01 levels respectively Source: own survey

Sub-sample	Decisions stage		Treatment effect	PSM	OLS			
	Irrigation user [1]	Non-irrigation user [2]	[3]	ATT [4]	Irrigation user [5]	Non-irrigation user [6]	Difference [7]	
Ln Y								
Irrigation user	(a) 8.723	(c) 8.639	0.084***					
Non-irrigation user	(d) 8.375	(b) 8.578	-0.203***					
Heterogeneity effects	$BH_{1Y} = 0.348$	$BH_{2y} = 0.061$	0.287	0.23**	8.62**	8.41***	0.25	
Ln F								
Adopters	(e) 7.170	(g) 6.119	1.051***					
Non-adopters	(h) 6.356	(f) 6.172	0.184***					
Heterogeneity effects	$BH_{1F} = 0.814$	$BH_{2F} = -0.053$	0.867	0.48***	7.09***	6.45**	0.64	

Source: own calculations

to irrigation were placed into the status of with access (TU in equation (13)); the implication would be a mean decrease in income (0.203 points) and increase in fixed asset formation (0.184 points). Access to irrigation effects is larger for irrigation user households, resulting in a positive value for the transitional heterogeneity effect (equation (16), Table 4). The estimated treatment effects portray that, except in one case, access to irrigation places households in a better welfare position (income and fixed asset value level).

To check the robustness of our results, we estimate alternative models with different model specifications and distributional assumptions: propensity score matching (PSM) and OLS for each regime (Table 4). The results were very similar qualitatively but with lower coefficients. This could arise from differences in estimation efficiencies between ESR on the one hand and PSM and OLS on the other hand. The PSM, which estimates based on observables and does not provide consistent estimation of causal effects in the presence of hidden bias, might result in slightly downward estimates for PSM and OLS.

Summary and conclusions

To measure the impact of participation in micro-irrigation development on households' welfare we used an ESR model, which considers selection bias associated with endogeneity of programme participation as well as self-selection often encountered in most programme evaluations. A total of 482 households (195 participants and 287 non-participants) were used to generate the necessary variables. The first stage decision (whether to use one of the irrigation schemes) was estimated using household and farm characteristics covariates. Among the variables which were statistically significant and have some policy relevance are farmer-to-farmer extension service (neighbour irrigation user) and credit constraints. Hence, given the positive influence of farmer-to-farmer to disseminate information, government should encourage and support farmers' networks, in addition to the conventional extension worker-led extension system. Moreover, to encourage the use of irrigation facilities and thereby improve the income and asset position of rural households, the liquidity constraint should be addressed sustainably, through the provision of micro-credit services.

To capture the impact of the participation on household welfare, two indicators were considered, namely household farm income and household fixed asset formation (evaluated at market price during the survey period). The results show that estimated coefficients of correlation between the irrigation adoption equation and the outcome equations (income and asset formation) were statistically significant. This implies that bias would have resulted in the welfare function had it been estimated without correcting for selection bias associated with programme participation in the study.

Furthermore, the empirical results show that the probability of participating in the irrigation programme is associated with farm experience (age as proxy), household level of education, family size and labour force availability in the household, credit constraint and cost of irrigation development. After controlling the selection bias in the estimation process, the different model estimated results showed that participation in the irrigation programme had increased household welfare of participants: income by 8.8 per cent and fixed asset formation by 186 per cent as compared to non-participants. Given this, we suggest that the government of the Tigray region should extend its support (through extension, access to road and marketing information and credit schemes) so as to increase access to micro-irrigation schemes to other parts of the region and to areas with good ground water potential.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to express their profound gratitude to VLIR-UOS (Belgium) for the full and generous financial support for this study through the MU-IUC programme. He also sincerely appreciates and recognises the support provided by Mesfin Tilahun and Atsede Gidey during the field survey and all the research site farmers who sat patiently for hours to answer the detailed interviews and the enumerators who worked tirelessly to collect the data are also sincerely thanked.

References

- Abay, A. and Assefa, A. (2004): The role of education on the adoption of chemical fertiliser under different socioeconomic environments in Ethiopia. Agricultural Economics **30** (3), 215-228. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2004.tb00190.x
- Adeoti, A.I. (2009): Factors Influencing Irrigation Technology Adoption and Its Impact on Household Poverty in Ghana. Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development in the Tropics and Subtropics 109 (1), 51-63.
- Alene, A.D. and Manyong, V.M. (2007): The effects of education on agricultural productivity under traditional and improved technology in northern Nigeria: an endogenous switching regression analysis. Empirical Economics **32** (1), 141-159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-006-0076-3
- Awulachew, S.B., Yilma, A.D., Loulseged, M., Loiskandl, W., Ayana, M. and Alamirew, T. (2007): Water Resources and Irrigation Development in Ethiopia. Working Paper 123. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute.
- Baidu-Forson, J. (1999): Factors influencing adoption of landenhancing technology in the Sahel: lessons from a case study in Niger. Agricultural Economics 20 (3), 231-239. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0169-5150(99)00009-2
- Becker, G. (1964): Human Capital: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, with Special Reference to Education. New York NY: Columbia University Press.
- Berhanu, G. and Pender, J. (2002): Policies and institutions to enhance the impact of irrigation development in crop-livestock mixed systems. Paper presented at the International Workshop on Integrated Water and Land Management Research and Capacity Building, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 2-4 December 2002.
- Bhattarai, M., Sakthivadive, R. and Hussain, I. (2002): Irrigation Impact on Income Inequality and Poverty Alleviation: Policy Issues and Options for Improved Management of Irrigation Systems. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute.
- Carter, D.W. and Milon, J.W. (2005): Price Knowledge in Household Demand for Utility Services. Land Economics 81 (2), 265-283. https://doi.org/10.3368/le.81.2.265
- Caswell, M. and Zilberman, D. (1985): The Choices of Irrigation Technologies in California. American Journal of Agricultural

Economics 67, 224-234. https://doi.org/10.2307/1240673

- Chirwa, E.W. (2005): Adoption of fertiliser and hybrid seeds by smallholder maize farmers in Southern Malawi. Development Southern Africa 22 (1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/03768350500044065
- de Fraiturea, C. and Giordano, M. (2014): Small private irrigation: A thriving but overlooked sector. Agricultural Water Management 131, 167-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2013.07.005
- Deressa, T.T., Hassan, R.M., Ringler, C., Alemu, T. and Yesuf, M. (2009): Determinants of farmers' choice of adaptation methods to climate change in the Nile Basin of Ethiopia. Global Environmental Change 19, 248-255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2009.01.002
- Dillon, A. (2011): The Effect of Irrigation on Poverty Reduction, Asset Accumulation, and Informal Insurance: Evidence from Northern Mali. World Development **39** (12), 2165-2175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.04.006
- Fan, S., Hazel, P. and Sukhadeo, T. (1999): Linkages between Government Spending, Growth, and Poverty in Rural India. Research Report No 110. Washington DC: IFPRI.
- Feder, G. (1980): Farm Size, Risk Aversion and the Adoption of New Technology under Uncertainty. Oxford Economic Papers 32 (2), 263-283. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.oep.a041479
- Feder, G., Just, R.E. and Zilberman, D. (1985): Adoption of Agricultural Innovations in Developing Countries, A Survey. Economic Development and Cultural Change 33, 255-298. https:// doi.org/10.1086/451461
- Hagos, F., Gayathri, J., Seleshi, B.A., Mekonnen, L. and Aster, D.Y. (2012): Agricultural water management and poverty in Ethiopia. Agricultural Economics 42 (supplement), 99-111. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2012.00623.x
- Fuglie, K.O and Bosch, D.J. (1995): Economic and Environmental Implications of Soil Nitrogen Testing: A Switching-Regression Analysis. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 77 (4), 891-900. https://doi.org/10.2307/1243812
- Fufa, B. and Hassan, R.M. (2006): Determinants of fertilizer use on maize in Eastern Ethiopia: A weighted endogenous sampling analysis of the extent and intensity of adoption. Agrekon 45 (1), 38-49. https://doi.org/10.1080/03031853.2006.9523732
- Gebregziabher, G., Namara, R.E. and Holden, S. (2009): Poverty Reduction with irrigation investment: an empirical case study from Tigray, Ethiopia. Agricultural Water Management **96**, 1837-1843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2009.08.004
- Gebregziabher, G., Namara, R.E. and Holden, S. (2012): Technical Efficiency of Irrigated and Rain-Fed Smallholder Agriculture in Tigray, Ethiopia: A Comparative Stochastic Frontier Production Function Analysis. Quarterly Journal of International Agriculture 51 (3), 203-226.
- Gebrehiwot, K.G. (2017): The impact of agricultural extension on farmers' technical efficiencies in Ethiopia: A stochastic production frontier approach. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences 20 (1), a1349. https://doi.org/10.4102/ sajems.v20i1.1349
- Hagos, F., Kruseman, G., Abreha, Z., Linderhof, V., Mulugeta, A. and Gebresamuel, G. (2006): Impact of small scale water harvesting on household poverty: evidence from northern Ethiopia. PREM Working Paper 07/01. Amsterdam: Vrije Universitiet.
- He, X.-F., Cao, H. and Li, F.-M. (2007): Econometric analysis of the determinants of adoption of rainwater harvesting and supplementary irrigation technology (RHSIT) in the semiarid Loess Plateau of China. Agricultural Water Management **89**, 243-250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2007.01.006
- Huang, Q., Rozelle, S., Lohmar, B., Huang, J. and Wang, J. (2006): Irrigation, agricultural performance and poverty reduction in China. Food Policy **31**, 30-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2005.06.004

- Huffman, W.E. (1977): Allocative Efficiency: The Role of Human Capital. Quarterly Journal of Economics **91**, 59-79. https://doi. org/10.2307/1883138
- Hussain, I. and Hanjra, M. (2003): Does irrigation water matter for rural poverty alleviation? Evidence from South and South-East Asia. Water Policy 5, 429-442.
- Jin, S., Huang, J., Hu, R. and Rozelle, S. (2002): The creation and spread of technology and total factor productivity in China's agriculture. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 84 (4), 916-930. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8276.00043
- Katic, P.G., Regassa, E., Namara, R.E., Hope, L., Owusu, E. and Fujii, H. (2013): Water Resources and Economics 1, 75-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wre.2013.03.001
- Lamm, F.R., Ayars, J.E. and Nakayama, F.S. (eds) (2007): Microirrigation for crop production: design, operation and management. Developments in Agricultural Engineering 13. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Lapar, M.L.A. and Pandey, S. (1999): Adoption of soil conservation: the case of the Philippines uplands. Agricultural Economics 21 (3), 241-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5150(99)00028-6
- Lee, L.F. (1978): Unionism and Wage Rates: A Simultaneous Equations Model with Qualitative and Limited Dependent Variables. International Economic Review 19 (2), 415-433. https://doi. org/10.2307/2526310
- Lipton, M., Litchfield, J. and Figures, J.M. (2003): The effects of irrigation on poverty: a framework for analysis. Water Policy 5 (6), 413-427.
- Liu, J., Fritz, S., van Wesenbeeck, C.F.A., Fuchs, M., You, L., Obersteiner, M. and Yang, H. (2008): A spatially explicit assessment of current and future hotspots of hunger in Sub-Saharan Africa in the context of global change. Global and Planetary Change 64, 222-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2008.09.007
- Lokshin, M. and Sajaia, Z. (2004): Maximum likelihood estimation of endogenous switching regression models. The Stata Journal 4 (3), 282-289.
- Maddala, G.S. (1983): Limited-dependent and qualitative variables in econometrics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511810176
- Mincer, J. (1974): Schooling, Experience and Earnings. New York: NBER and Columbia University Press.
- Narayanamoorthy, A. (2001): Irrigation and Rural Poverty Nexus: State-wise Analysis. Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics **50**, 40-56.
- Polson, R.A. and Spencer, D.S.C. (1991): The Technology adoption process in subsistence agriculture: the case of cassava in South-western Nigeria. Agricultural Systems 36, 65-68. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0308-521X(91)90108-M
- Putler, D.S. and Zilberman, D. (1988): Computer Use in Agriculture: Evidence from Tulare County, California. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 70, 790-802. https://doi. org/10.2307/1241920
- Rahm, M.R. and Huffman, W.E. (1984): The Adoption of Reduced Tillage: The Role of Human Capital and Other Variables. American. Journal of Agricultural Economics 66, 405-413. https://doi.org/10.2307/1240918
- Shah, T. and Singh, O.P. (2004): Irrigation Development and Rural Poverty in Gujarat, India: A Disaggregate Analysis. Water International **29** (2), 167-177. https://doi. org/10.1080/02508060408691766
- WB (2013): World Development Indicators. Washington DC: World Bank.
- Zepeda, L. (1990): Predicting Bovine Somatotropine Use by California Dairy Farmers. Western Journal of Agricultural Economics 15 (1), 55-62.

Technical report

KESZTHELYI Szilárd and MOLNÁR András

An analysis using FADN methodology of Hungarian farms in the EUR 2,000-4,000 SO size class

The Hungarian Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN) consists of around 1,600 individual and almost 400 corporate sample farms. The Research Institute of Agricultural Economics (AKI) is responsible for the collection of micro-economic data on the costs and incomes of these. The results are published annually by AKI and may be downloaded from the AKI website (www. aki.gov.hu) or requested in printed form from aki@aki.gov.hu. These farms are representative of the approximately 106 thousand commercial Hungarian agricultural producers in terms of farm type, economic size and legal form, but smaller farms are not normally included in the analysis. This report presents the results of a first attempt by AKI to apply the FADN methodology to these smaller farms.

The primary task of the Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN) system is to provide information about the full-time, market- and profit-oriented agricultural holdings. In recent years the FADN system has received several critical comments for not providing information on the smaller farms that play an important role from the perspective of rural development. There are two main reasons for that. One is that FADN data collection rules have been set to target only those agricultural holdings which can be reached and influenced by traditional agricultural policy measures. The other is cost efficiency, as significant cost savings in one of the European Union (EU)'s most expensive data collection exercises can be achieved by concentrating only on those bigger, commodity producer holdings which are relevant to the most important indicators (output, profit generation, utilisation of human resources).

Taking into account these considerations, in 2012 and 2013 we attempted to gather information from below-threshold level farms of EUR 2,000-4,000 Standard Output (SO) size. For this, we used a simplified version of the regular FADN data collection methodology, gathering not all the financial data. On the other hand, our questionnaire was extended to include household statistics elements.

The sample was based on the 2010 Hungarian Agricultural Census, according to which there were 73,203 small farms (14.9 per cent of the total population) in the EUR 2,000-4,000 SO size category. However, their agricultural output was only 1.06 per cent of the sector's total agricultural output. Data collection was done on 300 sample farms using regular FADN selection and weighting methodology.

The size of the small farms corresponds to size class 2 of the EU farm typology. Farms with 3.1 ha of wheat, 2.3 ha of maize, 1.2 ha of grapes or fruits, one cow or four sows can fall into this category. This farm size, on the other hand, is not big enough to provide a decent living for a family, therefore it is probable that agricultural production plays rather a supplementary role in these households. The main goal is not commodity production but fulfilment of the family's own needs as well as supplementation of earnings.

The average utilised agricultural area (UAA) of the analysed farms was 1.86 ha/farm. Most (1.44 ha/farm) of the UAA was accounted for by arable land. In second place was meadows and pastures, with 0.33 ha/farm on average, while the area of permanent crops (grapes and fruits) was only 0.09 ha/farm. As regards the animal herd, there were 0.89 livestock units per farm. The most significant of these were pigs (0.28 livestock units/farm), sheep (0.25 livestock units/farm) and poultry (0.20 livestock units/farm).

The smallest farms above the FADN threshold (size class 3) cultivated more than 3.5 times as much land (6.79 ha/farm) as those in size class 2 (Table 1). The mid-size and big farms above the EUR 8,000 SO threshold had 66.9 ha of land on average. By contrast, farms of size class 2 used only 32 per cent fewer human resources for agricultural production than

Table 1: Important indicators of Hungarian farms in size classes 2, 3 and 4, 2012 and 2013.

Indicator	Unit of measurement	Class 2 EUR 2,000-4,000 SO	Class 3 EUR 4,000-8,000 SO	Class 4 > EUR 8,000 SO	
Utilised agricultural area	ha/farm	1.86	6.79	66.91	
Labour force	AWU/farm	0.35	0.51	2.14	
Livestock	Livestock units/100 ha UAA	48.0	18.6	28.5	
Total assets	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	1,873	1,390	1,081	
Gross investments	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	59.3	31.4	100.8	
Net sales	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	555	307	454	
Gross production value from agriculture	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	694	443	605	
Material costs	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	313.4	160.3	61.4	
Total costs of farming	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	614	349	490	
Pre-tax profit	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	80.1	94.0	112.2	
Pre-tax profit	HUF 1,000 per AWU	430	1,261	3,510	
Return on total output	Per cent	11.54	21.19	0.19	
Return on labour	HUF 1,000 per AWU	637	1,648	5,055	

Source: own data

farms of size class 3, meaning that they used almost three times as much labour per hectare. Either they were involved in more work-intensive activities or they were compensating for the lack of machinery with hand work which reduced their labour efficiency.

In terms of livestock, farms below the threshold had 2.5 times as many animals per hectare as above-threshold farms, highlighting the significantly higher animal stocking density of below-threshold farms. Compared to size class 3 farms, animal husbandry in size class 2 farms was much less profitable and sometimes not profitable at all, owing to high prices of feedstuffs. Thus, the higher stocking density of the below-threshold farms was not intended to achieve higher profits, but only to satisfy the family's own needs.

Owing to the 3.5 times smaller area as projection base and to the higher animal stocking density representing higher value, below-threshold farms achieved higher sales and gross production value per hectare compared to those above the threshold level (EUR 4,000-8,000 SO). On the other hand, the rates of the material and total costs per hectare were even higher and almost double those of the values of the above-threshold farms. The lower cost efficiency caused by the smaller farm size prevailed on the analysed small farms, too.

Overall, the profitability of the size class 2 and 3 farms differed in terms of pre-tax profit by only 17 per cent (HUF 80 cf. 94 thousand per ha respectively). Thanks to the lower labour efficiency of the below-threshold farms, pre-tax profit per agricultural work unit (AWU) was only one third of that of the above-threshold farms. Differences between the two classes regarding the return on labour and return on total output were 2 and 2.5 times respectively.

Based on these data, it is evident that, owing to the low economy of scale and to the inefficient utilisation of labour, below-threshold farms were producing at high cost, hindering the profitability of their agricultural activities. In view of the seemingly high willingness to undertake livestock production despite the weak profitability, we can conclude that for farms of size class 2, self-sufficiency rather than outstanding profitability is the main motivation for production.

In the great majority of the analysed small farms, the produced goods were meant to supplement the rural household income and the own consumption of the family. Therefore, we attempted to assess the income of these households (Table 2).

The average number of people living in one household was 2.5 and the average annual net income was HUF 1,704 thousand. In those households where crop production is dominant, the annual net income was 20 per cent higher (HUF 2,051 thousand) than the average, while in households with animal husbandry or mixed farming activities net incomes were lower (HUF 1,493 and 1,582 thousand respectively).

Half of the income came from non-agriculture-related employment, indicating that this was the most important source of household income. The second most important source was pension, making up one quarter of the annual net income. Still noticeable was the income from agriculturerelated employment (7.3 per cent) and self-employment (5.38 per cent).

Although these households produced a share of their foodstuffs, a sizeable amount of their incomes was spent on food. On average, 30 per cent of income was spent on food purchases but, because of the specific nature of the produced foodstuffs, for mixed farms this share was higher, at 37 per cent.

We also categorised the households according to other dominant sources of income. The relative asset value was the highest on the farms with the biggest income from self-employment. These farms are typically innovative and open to making risky investments. Conversely, the assets of farms with high social allowances had the lowest asset value. In general, these farms used more labour and fewer machines (Table 3). These differences were mirrored also in the index of gross output value per hectare. The output value of self-employed farms (HUF 1,204 per ha) was twice as much as that of farms (HUF 481 per ha) with high social security payments.

Table 2: T	The income	situation	of Hung	arian size	e class 2	2 rural	households,	2012 and 2013.
------------	------------	-----------	---------	------------	-----------	---------	-------------	----------------

Indicator	Unit of measurement per farm	Total	Crop producers	Animal managers	Mixed farms
Number of family (people in a household) members	Head	2.50	2.65	2.55	2.48
of which: people between 18-62 years of age	Head	1.69	1.83	1.75	1.66
Output	HUF 1,000	1,142	1,209	1,221	969
Income from self-employment	HUF 1,000	91.8	96.6	89.6	33.9
Income from interest and rental fees	HUF 1,000	15.74	71.61	4.79	1.26
Income (wages) from agriculture-related employment	HUF 1,000	126	223	130	217
Income (wages) from non-agriculture-related employment	HUF 1,000	937	932	703	971
Pension	HUF 1,000	428	564	464	239
Social allowances	HUF 1,000	58.8	105.1	65.8	104.5
Other income	HUF 1,000	47.9	58.9	35.7	15.8
Money spent on food (gross)	HUF 1,000	516	646	484	587

Source: own data

Indicator	Unit of measurement	self-employment	agriculture related employment	non-agricultural activities	Pension	Social allowances
Utilised agricultural area	Hectare per farm	1.35	2.00	1.66	2.05	2.25
Labour force	AWU per farm	0.29	0.41	0.29	0.37	0.37
Livestock	livestock unit per 100 ha UAA	36.6	72.8	50.5	42.1	64.0
Total assets	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	4,086	2,467	1,830	1,716	1,068
Net sales	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	908	462	603	504	397
Gross production value from agriculture	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	1,204	575	738	644	481
Material costs	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	51.2	77.8	82.3	71.8	53.0
Total costs of farming	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	725	699	688	530	438
Pre-tax profit	HUF 1,000 per ha UAA	479.6	-123.7	50.0	112.6	43.4
Pre-tax profit	HUF 1,000 per AWU	2,244	-609	286	626	264
Return on total output	Per cent	39.83	-21.52	6.77	17.50	9.01
Return on labour	HUF 1,000 per AWU	2,244	-258	573	791	436

 Table 3: The most important farm indicators according to other income sources, 2012 and 2013.

Source: own data

AKI-NAK-FAO REU conference report

The environmental sustainability dimension of short-term outlooks for agricultural markets

Budapest, 9 May 2017

In Hungary, there is yet little awareness among stakeholders concerning the effects of agricultural production on natural resources. Sustainability issues are gaining more importance, and regulations aimed at mitigating the negative environmental impacts of the sector, as well as voluntary standards reflecting commitments, will inevitably influence market developments even in the near future. To this end, AKI, in cooperation with the FAO Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia (REU) and supported by the Hungarian Chamber of Agriculture (NAK), brought together experts from across Europe as speakers who, from their professional experience, shed light on agricultural market trends in the context of environmental sustainability, focusing on the animal feed and livestock product chains. The conference, which had almost 300 registered participants, offered unique industry insights: it drew the attention of stakeholders to the challenges posed by environmental sustainability requirements, both governmental and in the frame of Corporate Social Responsibility, and considered innovative ways and means to cope with these challenges to enhance competitiveness.

Participants were welcomed by Feldman Zsolt, Deputy State Secretary for Agricultural Economy at the Hungarian Ministry of Agriculture, Balázs Győrffy, President of NAK, and Vladimir Rakhmanin, FAO Regional Representative for Europe and Central Asia, whose presentation entitled *Sustainability and agriculture – FAO perspective* elaborated on the issues of sustainable development, particularly in the context of the UN 2030 Agenda.

Opening the first block of four specialist speakers, Guljahan Kurbanova from FAO presented the *Outlook for cereal markets in Europe, North Africa and the Middle East with a focus on protein content and mycotoxin contamination of feed stuffs*. A number of urgent and comprehensive measures should be taken to mitigate and eliminate safety risks in the feed supply chain with priorities on research, and control measures and adequate investments.

Nicolas Martin of the European Feed Manufacturers' Federation discussed *The importance of bio-industry co-products for the sustainability of the compound feed industry*. Many co-products from other sectors are already used as feed ingredients. To describe the resource efficiency of the industry, new indicators are required which go beyond the feed conversion rate and capture the nature of the resources used.

In his presentation entitled *Environmental sustainability of US soybean production*, Brent Babb of the U.S. Soybean Export Council introduced the U.S. Soy Sustainability Assurance Protocol (SSAP), a certified aggregate approach audited by third parties. The approach is quantifiable and results-driven with mass balance international certification available. Over 9 million tonnes of SSAP certified soy were shipped in this marketing year.

Elisabeth Bömcke of Fertilizers Europe spoke on Nitro-

gen fertiliser management strategies. In order to understand more clearly the challenge posed by environmental sustainability requirements and their influence on near-future market development, her presentation provided some insight on how the European regulations designed to mitigate the negative environmental impacts of the agricultural sector have affected the use of fertilisers in the EU-15.

The first speaker in the second block was Richard A. Brown from Gira, the international food research and consultancy firm. He provided an *Outlook for European meat value chains from the aspect of environmental sustainability*, in which he commented on the size, structure and growth outlook of meat production in the European Union (EU). Environmental sustainability is well articulated in the EU but is still a major challenge.

The rise of the Spanish pig sector: how can integrations contribute to environmental sustainability? was the question posed by Pablo Bernardos Hernández from the Spanish Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, Food and Environment. He reviewed the main challenges facing the Spanish pigmeat sector in the short and medium terms, with a particular focus on the environmental challenges.

From Wageningen University & Research, Roel Jongeneel described the *Regionalisation in EU milk production and its environmental implications*. Based on a market outlook analysis at EU Member State level, he provided insight into the main drivers behind the regionalisation process and assessed the environmental implications, as well as the impact policy may have in counteracting specialisation trends since milk quota abolition.

The topic covered by Nan-Dirk Mulder of Rabobank was *Dealing with global food supply challenge: precision farming and environmental sustainability*. With rapidly rising global food demand and limited resources, governments and industries need to invest in smarter farm and value chains systems such as precision farming. There will be more direct linkages between grain surplus meat exporters and grain deficit importers.

Fernando Cisneros of DSM Nutritional Products concluded block 2 with his presentation on *Sustainability and environmental impacts of feed additives*. DSM is developing sustainable science-based nutrition solutions for producers worldwide that enable the production of dairy, meat and fish protein products for a growing population.

Juhász Anikó, General Director of AKI, offered some closing remarks on the morning session. In the afternoon two parallel group discussions were held, on Environmental sustainability of crop production, and livestock production, respectively, in Hungary.

The conference presentations can be downloaded in pdf format from https://goo.gl/o9TW3e

Abstracts of AKI publications

The results of AKI's research work are presented in detail in a series of Hungarian language publications. English language abstracts are reproduced below. The publications may be downloaded from the AKI website (www.aki.gov.hu) or requested in printed form from aki@aki.gov.hu.

STUMMER Ildikó (ed.) The market developments of the most important agricultural commodities in 2016

Agroeconomic Information, published 2017

This publication discusses the market developments of the most important agricultural commodities in 2016, mainly by presenting price trends. The material is based on the price information and data of the Market Price Information System of the Research Institute of Agricultural Economics, and of various Hungarian and international sources. The producer price of milling wheat decreased by 15 per cent to HUF 41.2 thousand/tonne in 2016, while it fell for feed wheat by 14 per cent to HUF 38.4 thousand/tonne. The producer price of feed maize remained almost unchanged at HUF 41.4 thousand/tonne in 2016. Sunflower seed was 3 per cent cheaper (HUF 104.6 thousand/tonne) in 2016 compared to 2015, while the producer price of rapeseed declined by 2.5 per cent to HUF 109.5 thousand/tonne. In Hungary, 1076 thousand tonnes sugar beet were harvested in 2016, an increase of 18 per cent over 2015. As in previous years, in 2016 Hungarian pork prices tracked the prices in the European Union. The pig producer price was HUF 453 per kilogramme warm carcass weight, 5.9 per cent higher than one year earlier. The producer prices of slaughter chickens increased by 3 per cent compared to the previous year, to HUF 254 per kilogramme in 2016. In Hungary, the cattle and lamb producer prices fell by 8 and 4.4 per cent respectively in 2016, while the raw milk price decreased by 8 per cent. The production of fruit and vegetables increased in 2016 compared to 2015, and the producer prices decreased by 15–17 per cent. The processors' sale prices of wines without geographical indication and wines with protected geographical indication (PGI) increased by 4 per cent in 2016 compared to the previous year.

KESZTHELYI Szilárd Results of Hungarian FADN farms 2014

Agroeconomic Information, published 2016

The brochure presents the results generated from the data of 1,608 individual and 374 corporate sample farms. The selected sample farms are representative of the 110 thousand commodity producer agricultural holdings in Hungary according to farm type, economic size and legal form. At national level, the individual farms contributed 51.4 per cent of the overall net value added of the sector, while corporate farms accounted for 47.4 per cent. The shares in the previous year were very similar. The profitability of the agricultural sector increased significantly in 2014; the net value added at country level was 8 per cent higher than the previous year. The profit before taxes of individual farms grew by 3 percentage points (HUF 141.8 thousand per hectare), while for corporate farms the rate of growth reached 20 percentage points (HUF 93.24 thousand per hectare). The biggest increase in income was achieved by pig farming (90 percentage points), followed by poultry (25 percentage points), dairy (24 percentage points) and mixed farms (28 percentage points), but the profitability of arable crops and cattle and sheep rearing farms also witnessed strong growth (8 and 12 percentage points respectively). The vine growers suffered the biggest decrease in income (53 percentage points) followed by fruit producers (35 percentage points) and field vegetables growers (12 percentage points). Indoor vegetable farms experienced a much moderate decline in income (6 percentage points) compared to 2013.

KEMÉNY Gábor, LÁMFALUSI Ibolya and MOLNÁR András (eds) Comparative study of precision arable crop production

Agroeconomic Book, published 2017

The use of precision technology among arable farms is still less widespread in Hungary but the increase in the number of producers using the technology has accelerated in the last two-three years. In this study, the incidence of precision and no tillage farming in Hungary and the level of used technology was examined among arable farms of the Hungarian Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN) system by means of a questionnaire survey and in-depth interviews. From the results of the survey and the data available in the FADN system, comparative assessment was completed to explore the benefits / disadvantages of precision farming regarding attainable yield, input use, output, unit cost and income for the five most dominant arable crops in Hungary. The results confirmed that application of precision technology leads to increasing yields, output, per hectare profit and unit costs. In contrast to expectations, our investigations also showed an increase in input costs, which can be explained by the low initial level of input use, quite common among arable farms in Hungary. The change towards modern technology means that the intensity of input use needs to increase in order to achieve optimal economic performance, that is attainable with higher yields. With the available data, we carried out sector-level estimates of the macroeconomic effects, assuming farms with similar structural characteristics introduce precision farming. Finally, the cost-benefit of investment needed for the introduction of precision technology was assessed.

BÉLÁDI Katalin (ed.) The cost and income situation of the major Hungarian agricultural products in 2013-2015

Agroeconomic Information, published 2017

This publication examines the cost and income situation of the major agricultural products in the period 2013-2015 on the basis of data from the farms of the Hungarian FADN system. The processed data concerns the so-called 'determinant producer farms' that provide the dominant part of domestic production. In addition to the mean data, the results of different farming groups are presented. The changes in the cost and income situation of arable crops, horticultural products (fruit and vegetables) and livestock products are analysed in separate chapters. The period under review was characterised by favourable weather conditions. In many cases, there were record yields in either 2014 or 2015. The changes in the amount of expenses were different, therefore the unit costs were also very different, especially in horticulture. Owing to subsidies, enterprises made a per-hectare profit in the case of all crops. This indicator presented different results for the livestock sectors. It is important to note that the profit of pig fattening constantly declined, counter to the situation with chicken fattening.

JANKUNÉ KÜRTHY Gyöngyi, SZÉKELYHIDI Katalin and Dudás GYULA (eds) Examination of the factors influencing the agri- and food exports of Hungary

Agroeconomic Book, published 2017

Recent decades have been characterised by deepening trade connections and the elimination of trade barriers. There are more and more trade agreements among countries, and their integration is becoming deeper and deeper. Nowadays not only tariffs, but non-tariff barriers are essential parts of trade negotiations. This process is continuous as ongoing negotiations between countries and regional blocs proceed, for example between the European Union (EU) and third countries. Hungary's most important market is the EU, the destination for 85 per cent of its exports. These processes make it necessary to identify and examine those factors that influence foreign trade flows, especially for Hungary. In this study, we analysed almost 200 countries and organised them into separate regions based on their geographical location and political affiliation. Among others, we examined their macroeconomic environment, the importance of their food economies, foreign trade relations, trade agreements, tariff rates, SPS measures, and other non-tariff barriers of each region. We also used a gravity model to explain the foreign trade of Hungary's food economy. Our results suggest that distance, tariffs and non-tariff barriers are serious obstacles to trade. They seem to confirm many countries' efforts to establish deeper cooperation, not just to reduce tariffs but also nontariff barriers, which often remain after tariffs are eliminated. The country analysis confirmed the results of the model. We also identified possible target markets and the barriers than could impede entry to them. In addition, we determined development areas for Hungary to improve its food exports.

BÉLÁDI Katalin Cost and income data of the major products of Hungarian food industry 2014-2015

Agroeconomic Information, published 2017

This publication presents data about the production costs and sales income of the food industry's most important products in 2014 and 2015 compared to 2013. Firstly, the price changes of the major food product groups are briefly summarised and, secondly, tabulated data of individual food products are presented. These data show a general decrease in the production costs of meat products in 2015. It is the usual tendency that market prices followed trends in production costs in the case of almost all products. In the case of many meat industry products, the costs decreased more than the prices, so the profits were lower. In the poultry, dairy, milling and baking industries, as well as in the production of pasta products, there are decreasing raw material costs in different levels compared to the previous period, and the total production costs are also lower. In the milling industry, each observed product was profitable in 2015. The mildest degree of price and cost changes was in the baking industry, and the data of the products are still quite diverse.

KEMÉNY, Gábor and LÁMFALUSI, Ibolya (eds)

Evaluation of the operation of the agricultural risk management system, 2016

Agroeconomic Book, published 2017

This publication presents the achievements and the operation of the risk management system in 2016. In the first pillar, the number of farmers and the compensation contribution increased due to some recent, favourable changes in the risk management system's regulations. In the weather conditions of this year, drought was of no significance compared to 2015, but hail and spring freezing caused serious damage. In total, the area of damage and the amount of contribution benefit substantially increased in 2016 compared to the previous year. Small and medium-sized fruit farmers mostly received the benefit. The number of farmers with subsidised insurance in the second pillar, together with the

fee-stock and the compensation, increased considerably. All three categories increased the fees by over 30.0 per cent. The penetration in land area improved for all crops. The insurance compensation and the loss rate significantly increased, mainly for arable crops and plantations where hail, spring freezing and storms caused the most damage. The insurance premium subsidy increased from HUF 3 billion to HUF 4 billion in 2016 and was temporarily financed by the budget of the Rural Development Programme 2014-2020. The claims for subsidies again exceeded HUF 4 billion, so in 2016 it was necessary to redistribute the compensation, just as in the previous two years

ILLÉS Ivett and KEMÉNYNÉ HORVÁTH Zsuzsanna

The financial situation of agriculture and the food industry, 2016

Agroeconomic Information, published 2017

In this study, we examined the financial situation of corporations in agriculture and the food industry with doubleentry bookkeeping in 2016 compared to the previous year. The 9,712 agricultural corporations accounted for 4.2 per cent of the total economy and 4.5 per cent of the profitable companies in 2016. Food industry corporations had a 2.3 per cent share of the total number organisations and a 2.1 per cent share of the profitable companies. The profit before tax of agricultural corporations did not change significantly: it increased from HUF 103.4 billion to HUF 105.4 billion. The profit before tax of the food industry organisations increased from HUF 129.8 billion to HUF 149.4 billion. In the food industry sectors, the financial operations increased significantly, and thus changed from being negative to positive. The income situation of agricultural corporations was as favourable as in the previous year, as the returns on sales and equity remained around 5 per cent in 2016. The income situation and liquidity of the food industry continued to improve: the sectors' returns on sales rose by 0.5 percentage points. Owing to the structural changes in equity, as rising shareholders' equity and declining liabilities, the level of indebtedness of the sector decreased.

Studies in Agricultural Economics

Information for authors

Studies in Agricultural Economics publishes original research papers, review papers, policy analyses and book reviews on agricultural economics, rural development and related topics including: agricultural production and competitiveness, environmental resource management, agri-food supply chain management, markets and marketing, international trade, econometrics, rural economic geography, rural economy and sociology, and development of information and knowledge based society in rural areas. Studies in Agricultural Economics is included in the Thomson Reuters™ Web of Science™ Core Collection.

Audience

Researchers, academics, policy makers and practitioners in agricultural economics and rural development, especially in eastern central and south-eastern Europe.

Submission of manuscripts

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published in English in any other peer-reviewed journal, is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, and that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out. The author will retain the copyright of the article but agrees to identify AKI as the original publisher. Papers will not normally exceed 6000 words including the reference list and figure and table captions. Authors intending to prepare a book review should first consult the Editorin-Chief and such a review should not exceed 2000 words.

Shorter papers and comments, of up to 1500 words, will also be considered for publication. Such notes might deal with the economic aspects of policy, with the results of small research projects that do not justify a full-length article, or comment on articles previously published.

Manuscripts should be submitted in .doc or compatible format. They should be prepared using A4 format, TNR 12 pt text and 1.5 line spacing and be in single-column format with wide margins. Do not hyphenate words and use **bold** face and *italics* only sparingly, but use subscripts and superscripts where appropriate. Avoid the use of single-sentence paragraphs. Tables should be placed at the end of the manuscript and figures should be submitted as separate files, numbered accordingly. Page and line numbering (restart each page) must be used but no reference should be made to page numbers in the text. You should use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your wordprocessor, which should be set to *English* English, to avoid unnecessary errors.

Manuscripts will be double-blind reviewed by at least two reviewers and may be returned to the author(s) for revision before acceptance for publication. The Editor-in-Chief will normally consider only one re-submission.

Article structure

Divide your article into clearly defined sections but do not use section or subsection numbers. Each heading should appear on its own separate line. For research papers you are urged to consider using the following structure:

• **Introduction.** State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background with reference to the

international literature, but avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

- **Methodology.** Provide sufficient detail to allow the work to be reproduced. Methods already published should be indicated by a reference: only relevant modifications should be described.
- **Results.** Results should be clear and concise.
- **Discussion.** This should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them. A combined Results and Discussion section should normally be avoided. You should show how your results add to existing knowledge but avoid extensive citations and discussion of published literature.

Where it is not appropriate to use the above framework, you should finish the paper with conclusions.

Essential title page information

- **Title.** Concise and informative. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.
- **Running title.** Please provide an abbreviated title of no more than 60 characters (including spaces) that can be used as a running title on the page header.
- Author names and affiliations. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below their names.
- **Corresponding author.** Clearly indicate the corresponding author who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also post-publication. Please provide a telephone and fax number in addition to the e-mail address and the complete postal address.
- **Present/permanent address.** If an author has moved since the work described in the article was done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated. The address at which the author actually did the work must be retained as the main, affiliation address.

Additional information

- **Abstract.** A single paragraph of 100-250 words should state the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions.
- **Keywords.** Please provide a maximum of six keywords.
- **Abbreviations.** If necessary, define abbreviations that are not standard in this field on the first page of the article.

- Acknowledgements. If applicable, collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references. List here those individuals and/or organisations that provided help, including financial support, during the research.
- **Nomenclature and units.** Follow internationally accepted rules and conventions: use the international system of units (SI) i.e. metre, second, kilogramme etc. or accepted alternatives e.g. day, litre, tonne.
- Math formulae. Present simple formulae in the line of normal text where possible. Number consecutively any equations that have to be displayed separately from the text (if referred to explicitly in the text). For simple fractions use the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line. Powers of e are often more conveniently denoted by exp. Give the meaning of all symbols immediately after the equation in which they are first used. Levels of statistical significance which can be mentioned without further explanation are: *P <0.05, **P <0.01 and ***P <0.001.
- **Footnotes.** Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article, using superscript Arabic numbers. Indicate each footnote in a table with a superscript lowercase letter.

Tables and figures

- **Tables.** Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text. Each table should be accompanied by a title and fully descriptive caption. Column headings should be brief but sufficiently explanatory and standard abbreviations of units of measurement should be included between parentheses. Do not use vertical rules to separate columns. Large tables should be avoided. If many data are to be presented, you should consider dividing them over two or more tables. Reversing columns and rows will often reduce the dimensions of a table.
- Figures. Graphs, drawings or photographs should be supplied in digital format in monochrome and be of sufficient contrast. Figures prepared with Excel[®] software (or compatible format) are preferred. Captions should be included in the main manuscript, not attached to the figure, and should explain all symbols and abbreviations used. The text should include references to all figures. The use of figures from other publications is discouraged but, if used, permission of the author(s) or the copyright owner is necessary.

References

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Citations may be made directly (or parenthetically). Groups of references should be listed first alphabetically, then chronologically. For example: 'as demonstrated (Allan, 1996a, 1996b, 1999; Allan and Jones, 1995). Kramer *et al.* (2000) have recently shown ...' Citation of a reference as 'in press' implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

In the reference list, references should be arranged first

alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically if necessary. They should not be numbered. More than one reference from the same author(s) in the same year must be identified by the letters 'a', 'b', etc. placed after the year of publication. The title of a non-English publication should be followed by the English translation in square brackets. Journal titles should not be abbreviated. Examples:

- **Reference to a journal publication.** Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J.A.J. and Lupton, R.A. (2000): The art of writing a scientific article. Journal of Science Communication **163**, 51-59.
- **Reference to a book.** Strunk Jr., W. and White, E.B. (1979): The Elements of Style (3rd edition). New York: Macmillan.
- **Reference to a chapter in an edited book.** Mettam, G.R. and Adams, L.B. (1999): How to prepare an electronic version of your article, in Jones, B.S and Smith, R.Z. (eds), Introduction to the Electronic Age. New York: E-Publishing, 281–304.

For Web references, as a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates etc.), should also be given. Web sources should be included in the reference list alphabetically according to the author's surname or organisation's name.

Publication ethics

Studies in Agricultural Economics aims to comply with the standards outlined in the COPE Codes of Conduct for Journal Editors and Publishers. These can be accessed at www.publicationethics.org/resources/code-conduct.

After acceptance

The corresponding author will be provided, at no cost, with a PDF file of the article via e-mail. The PDF file includes a cover sheet with the journal cover image and a disclaimer outlining the terms and conditions of use. *Studies in Agricultural Economics* has no page charges or submission fees.

Complete full-text articles may be published on the AKI website in advance of their publication in a printed issue. These do not yet have volume, issue or page numbers, so cannot be cited in the traditional way. They are therefore given a Digital Object Identifier (DOI), which allows the article to be cited before it appears in printed form.

Studies in Agricultural Economics is accessible online at https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/search?ln=en&cc=1316 and at www.aki.gov.hu/studies. It is listed in EconLit, the Index Copernicus Journals Master List and the Directory of Open Access Journals (www.doaj.org), as a Commendable Journal in the Cabell's Directory of Publishing Opportunities in Economics and Finance, and is included in the Citations in Economics database (http://ideas.repec.org/s/ags/stagec.html). Papers are abstracted in the CABI Agricultural Economics Database (www.cabi.org) and indexed by Google Scholar.

The printed version of *Studies in Agricultural Economics* is designated by the publisher as the original version of the journal.